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Financial Highlights

In nillions, except per common share and selected data. At or for the year ended November 30.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

Net revenues

$ 17,583 $ 14,630

$ 11,576

$ 8047 $ 6,155

Net income

§ 4007 $ 3260

$ 2369

$ 1,699 $ 95

Total assets

$503,545 $410,063

$357,168

$312,061 $260,336

Long-term borrowings (1)

$ 81,178 $ 53,899

$ 49,365

$ 35,885 $ 30,707

Total stockholders’ equity

$ 19,191 $ 16,794

$ 14,920

$ 13,174 $ 8942

Total long-term capital (2)

$100,369 § 70,693

$ 64,285

$ 50,369 $ 40,359

PER COMMON SHARE DATA (3)

Earnings (diluted) $ 681 $ 543 £ 395 $ 317 $ 173

Dividends declared $ 048 $ 040 § 032 $ 024 $ 018

Book vatue (4) $ 3387 § 2875 $ 2466 $ 2209 § 17.07
%

Closing stock price

$ 7367 $ 63.00

$ 41.89

$ o 30.70

SELECTED DATA

Return on average common
stockholders’ equity (%)

23.4% 21.6%

17.9%

18.2% 11.2%

Return on average tangible
common stockholders equity (6)

29.1% 27.8%

24.7%

19.2% 11.5%

Pre-tax margin 33.6% 33.0% 30.4% 29.3% 22.7%
Leverage ratio (7) 26.2x 24.4x 23.9x 23.7x 29.1x
Net leverage ratio (8) 14.5x 13.6x 13.9x 15.3x 14.9x
Weighted average common

shares (diluted) (in millions) (3) 578.4 587.2 581.5 519.7 522.3
Employees | 25,936 22919 19,579 16,188 12,343

Assets under management (in billions)

$ 235 $ 175 3

137

$ 120 $ 9

{1} Long-term borrowings exclude borrowings with remaining ¢on-
tractual maturities within ore year of the fmancial staterrem date.

{2) Tatat long-term capital includas long-term borrowings {exclud.
ing any berrowings with remaining maturities within one year of
the Enantial statement date) and tetal stockholders’ equity and,
at November 30, 2003 and prior year ends, preferred securiues
subject to mandatory redemption. We believe total long-term

czpital is usefuf ta investors as @ measure of cur finencial strength,

{3) Common shara and per shara amounts have been retrospec-
tivedy adjusted ta give etfect for the 2-far-1 comman stock spiit,
effectad in the form of 2 100% stock dividend, which became
etiective April 28, 2006.

] The book value per commen share calculation includas amor-
tized restrictad stock units granted under employee stock award
programs, which have beer in¢luded in 1otal stackholders’ equity.

15) Return on average tommeon stockholders’ equity is computed
bry dividing nei incame applicable to comman stock for the period
by average common stockhalders’ equity. Net income applicable
to common stock for the years endad November 2006, 2005, 2004,
2063 and 2002 was $3 9 billion, $3.2 biltion, $2.3 biltion, $1 6 biflion,
and $306 milhon, respectively. Average common stockholders’
equity for the years ended Novemdrer 30, 2006, 2005, 2004, 2001 and

2002 was $16.9 bitlion, $14.7 bilfion, $12.8 bilfion, $9.t billion, and
$8.1 billian, respectively.

{6) Return on average tangible comman stockholders’ eguity is
computed by dividing net intome applicable to common stock tor

the period by avesage tangible commoan stockholders equity. Aver-

age tangible common stockhalders” equity equals average total
commen stockholders’ equity less average idenufiabls intangible
assets and goodwill. Averags identifiabla imtangible assets and
goodwill for the years ended November 30, 2006, 2005, 2004, 2003,
and 2002 was $3.3 billion, $3.3 bilfion, $2.5 billion, $471 miilion and
§191 million, respectivaly. Management believes tangible common
stockhofdess” equity is a ingful measure b itreflects
the tholders’ equity deployed in our bus

{7) Leverage rano is defimed as total assets divided by total
stockholders’ equity.

(8) Netleverage satic is defined as net assets {iotal assets
excluding: 1) cash and securities segregated and on deposit

for requlatary and othes purposes, 2} securities received as
collateral, 3} securiies purchased under agreements ta resel],
L] ies b d and 5} identifiable intangible assets and
goodwill) divided by tangible equity capital. We believe net
assets are  measure more useful to investors than total assels
when comparing companies in the securities industry because i

exthydes centain lowe-risk non-inventory assets and identifiable
intangible assats and goodwill. We belisve tangthle equity capital
1o he a more representative measura of our equity for purposes

of calculating net teverage because such measure inglydes

1otal stockholders” equity plus junior subordinated notes (ard

for years prior to 2004, preferred securities subject ta mandatary
redemptions), less identfiable intangible assets and goodwill. We
believe total stockholders’ equity plus junior subardinated notas
1o be a more meaningful measure of aur equity because the junier
subordinated rotes are eguity-like dua to their subordinated, fong-
term rature and interest deferral teatures. in addition, a eading
rating agency views these securities as equity capital for purposes
of calculating net leverage. Further, we do not view the amount of
equity used to suppart identifiabla intangible assets and goodwilt
as available to support our remaining net assets. Accordingly,

we believe net leverage, based on net assets divided by tangible
equity capital, both as defined abave, 1o be a mare meaningful
measure of leverape 1o evaluate companies in the socurities
industry. These definttions of net assets, tangible equity capital
and net feverage are used by many of our creditors and a teading
rating agency. These measures are not necessarily comparable
10 similarly-tiled measures provided by other companies in the
securities industry because of different methods of calculation.
Seu “Sefected Financiat Data” for edditional nformation about net
assets and tangible equity capital.
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businesses; expand the number of
clients we cover; be more effective
in delivering the entire Firm to
our clients; effectively manage risk,
capital and expenses; and further
strengthen our culture.
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS ANI) CLIENTS

Dear Shareholders and Clients,

ehman Brothers had another sorong year in 20006. Investing in the franchise
and extending our geographic footprint, we moved forward in
partnership with our clients and, once again, delivered our best
performance to date, setting net revenue records in each business
segment and region.

With the globalization of trade and investment flows, we continued to provide
capabilitics, intellectual capital and solutions to our clients around the world. The
results we posted in 2006 for each of our business segments—Capital Markets,
Investment Banking and Invesament Management—demonstrate the benefits
of all of the investments we have made—and continue to make—in positioning
the Firm for the future. Our performance is a reflection of how we are executing
our long-term strategy and how our people are working together across the Firm
to deliver value to our clients and shareholders.

Because client needs are central to everything that we do, and because
meeting those needs is a proven way for us to maximize shareholder value, we
are constantly working to improve our global businesses. As you will see in this
annual report, we are continuing to make the necessary investments for a future
where markets around the world are increasingly connected. Today, the financial
world is in a pertod of transformation—capital can move instantaneously to
where it is most effectively deployed and to the lughest returning asset. We
believe that these trends will enable the global capital markets to continue to
grow significantly faster than the general economy, and that new opportunities
will emerge in markets not previously open to our businesses. As we capitalize on
these changes and the huge number of new global opportunities, our operating

principles will continue to guide and define us.

Our 2006 Results

The market environment during the year remained generally favorable, as
accelerating growth in Europe and Asia and strong corporate profitability in
North America offset challenges including five U.S. Federal Reeserve interest rate

increases and fluctuating energy prices. Against this backdrop, we delivered record

net revenue, net income and earnings per share for each of the last three years.
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For more than 12 years as a public company, our strategy has
been consistent. We have remained fully committed both to

driving diversified growth and to partnering with our clients.

Rithard S. Fuld, Jr Joseph M. Gregory
Chairman and President and

Chief Exeattive Officer Chicf Operating Officer

%]
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS AND CLIENTS
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Qur financial performance in fiscal 2006 included the following
highlights:

= Net revenues reached a record $17.6 billion, a 20% increase
over the previous year and the third consecutive year we have grown
net revenues by $3 billion;

* We delivered record net income of $4 billion, a 23% increase
over the prior year’s record figure;

» We increased our pre-tax margin to a record 33.6%, our return
on average common stockholders” equity to 23.4% and our return on
tangible equity to 29.1%;

* We reported earnings per share of $6.81, a 25% increase over
the prior year, and a record for the third consecutive year; and

* Qur stock price rose 17% to $73.67, delivering a 1,694%
sharcholder return including dividends—an equivalent of 26% a
year—since we became a public company in 1994.

It is clear from these results and from our growing momentum

that we are building on the confidence and trust cur chients place in us.

Our Businesses

For more than 12 years as a public company, our strategy has
been consistent. We have remained fully committed both to driving
diversified growth and to partnering with our clients. During this
time, we have built our businesses systematically. We have focused on
hiring and developing the best talent and broadened our product
offerings. It is clear from our Capital Markets, Investment Banking
and Investment Management results in 2006 that we are delivering
value for our clients on a global basis. Our efforts will not stop there.
We will continue to work across our businesses—bridging regions,
capabilities and Firmwide expertise—to solve our clients’ most
complex problems.

In Capital Markets—Fixed Income and Equities—we posted
record revenues for the fourth year in a row Fixed Income revenues
rose 15% to $8.4 billionr—our eighth consecutive record year.

We continue to be recognized for excellence, and ranked #1 in

U.S. fixed income market share, penetration, sales, research, trading
and overall quality. We have been ranked #1 in fixed income indices
by lustitutional Investor every year since that survey began a decade ago.
The Firm also achieved 3 #1 ranking for the seventh consecutive year
in the Institutional Investor All-America Fixed Income Research poll.
The Firm’s mortgage origination businesses worked in parinership
with our global securitization business to develop products that met
our clients’ needs, including our first securitizatdon of residential

mortgages in Japan and our diversification into student loans.

Qur Equities business also continued to show strong growth.
In 2006, revenues rose 44% to a record $3.6 billion. We were the
first firm in history to conduct over 2 million electronic trades in a
single month on the London Stock Exchange (LSE) and'also ranked
as the #1 dealer on the LSE by trading volume. The Firm ranked
#1 in Institutional Investor’s All-America Sales poll and int the same
magazine’s All-America Research Team survey. The Firm has now
achieved the #1 ranking in both Equity and Fixed Income research
for four consecutive years. We have continued to build cur capabilines
in both derivatives and financing, investing in both electronic
connectivity and automated trading technologies as part of our
drive to provide the very best service to our clients. We acquired
Townsend Analytics, 2 leading-edge provider of execution
management software and services to institutions, and purchased
a minority stake in BATS Trading, operator of the BATS ECN
(Electronic Communication Network).

Investment Banking posted its third consecutive record year.
Revenues rose 9% to a record $3.2 billion as we continued our focus
on our clients’ most important transactions. During the year, we
advised AT&T on its $89 billion acquisition of BellSouth, the
year’s largest M&A transaction, and we advised on the year’s three
largest announced global M&A transactions, We also acted as joint
bookrunner for Amgen’s $5 billion multi-tranche convertible senior
note offering, one of the largest global convertible offerings ever
completed. These and other landmark assignments demonstrate the
value of deepening our partnerships with our clients. In M&A,
our volume of announced transactions increased 57%. In fixed income
crigination, we lead-managed $407 billion of debrt offerings, up 2%
from the previous year. In equity origination, we raised $28 billion in
transactions in which we were lead manager, up 16% versus last year.
In initial public offerings, our lead-managed volume for the year rose
29%: in convertibles, we were book manager on three of the five
largest deals in the word.

Our Investment Management business is now strongly established.
Revenues rose 25% to a record $2.4 billion in 2006, with strong
contributions from both Asset Management and Private [nvestment
Management. We enhanced our investment offerings for institutional
and high net worth clients, helping to increase assets under
management to a record 3225 billion, up 29% from 2005. We
developed the first product that enables domestic retail investors
in China to access investments outside their country. During 2006,
we continued to expand our alternative invesument offerings for

individuals and institutions—a key focus for the future, We raised a

~



We will continue to work across our businesses—

bridging regions, capabilities and Firmwide expertise—

to solve our clients’ most complex problems.

$1.6 billion private equity co-investment fund that takes minority
positions in selected transactions led by premier private equity firms,
and partnered with IBM to launch a $180 million private equity fund
to invest in companies in China. We made notable progress both in
European Asset Management and Private Equity and are also building

our overall Asian Investment Management presence.

Our Continuing Global Focus on Our People

We are now in a period of strong global market liquidity with
interest rates that are low by historical standards, We see expanding
opportunities in many emerging markets around the world. At the
same time, capital mobility has increased, and markets continue to
evolve. To ensure that we are in the best position to meet our clients’
global needs, we continue to develop and hire individuals from the
widest available pools of talent around the world. A diverse, inclusive

and passtonate workforce is critical for any organization that seeks

remember how important our culture and principles have been

in getting us to where we are today.

The Firm rerans fully committed to its operating principles:
* Delivering the entire Firni to our clients;

* Doing the right thing;

* Demonstrating a commitment to excellence;

* Promoting and demonstrating teamwork;

* Ensuring our organization is a true meritocracy;
= Respecting each other;

* Demonstrating smart risk management;

* Preserving and strengthening the culture;

* Giving back to the communiry;

* Acung always with an ownership menuality;

* Building and protecting our brand; and

* Maximizing shareholder value.

We continue to hold ourselves to the highest standards by always

to be truly global and compete effectively. staying mindful of these principles and meeting the goals we set for

How we deploy talent is also critical. People throughout the ourselves. When we do all of this, the results follow.
Firm are helping us build our regional capabilities by shifing to The opportunities for our clients are linidess. We greadly value
different locattons and roles. Our most senior and experienced our 26,000 employees’ dedication to the Firm and are deeply grateful
executives are no exception. In 2006, we asked several of them to to our clients and sharcholders for their continued trust,
assurme new roles. Dave Goldfarb, our Global Chief Administrative

Ofhicer since 2004, has been named Global Head of Strategic Sincerely,

Partnerships, Principal [nvesting and Risk. Scott Freidheim and lan

Lowitt have been appointed Co-Chicf Admunistrative Officers, wlule @ %

Ted Janulis, Global Head of Investment Management since 2002, has ~ M "%’

been named Global Head of Mortgage Capital. We also added Richard S. Fuld, Jr.

significant depth and experience to the Firm’s senior ranks by hiring Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

George Walker, our new Global Head of Investment Management, and
Felix Rohatyn, Senior Advisor to the Chairman. 5&1

Who We Are joseph M. Gregory
This annual report focuses on our global opportunites. In President and Chief Operating Officer

secking to take advantage of those opportunities, we must continue

to leverage our operatng principles and culture. We must always

February 16, 2007
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under Standln <
our clients’elob
opportunities:

As economies around the world become increasingly
linked, Lehman Brothers is enhancing its capabilities
to meet clients’ changing needs and positioning itself
for gIObal grOWth' lobal GDP has grown for more than 40 consecutive
years, enhancing corporate profitability and producing a
favorable investment environment. Developing markets
have also opented up. Combined, these trends have

produced a secular trend of accelerating growth in the
capital markets and worldwide liquidity. Since 1994, werldwide GDP

has increased by 5.0% per year, while the capital markets have grown

at an annual rate of 10.5%.

Today’s capital markets feature larger asset classes with increased
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trading turnover. Fixed income securities have approximately

doubled since 2000, as the marketplace for derivatives, structured
products and securitizations continues to expand. Tradittonal products
are also being extended into new markets, enabling investors to move
capital instantaneously to where it is most effectively deployed and

to the highest returning asset. In this environment, practicing smart
risk managment remains critical.

We continue to expand our global presence, bringing premier

capabilities to bear where our clients need them. We have added to our

THE GLOBAL PERSPECTIVE

LNV

capabilitics in Europe and Asia and continue to broaden our presence
in markets such as India and the Middle East. Reflecting the breadth
and depth of our global franchise, in 2006, we posted record non-U.S.
revenues of $6.5 billion—37% of Firmwide net revenues.

There have never been more opportunities to serve our clients
around the world. Positioning ourselves to meet their needs and

deliver value is at the heart of our strategy.
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ontinuing to
pursue a targeted
growth strategy

s trusted advisors, we have strategically positioned
ourselves to help our clients take advantage of the
forces of global change. We continue to identify
opportunities to provide our best-in-class

capabilities around the world to create value
for our clients where and when they need us.

In 2006, Lehman Brothers identified numerous such
opportunities across the globe,

* We continued to make senior hires worldwide, leveraging
local knowledge as we expanded our global footprint. The Firm
strengthened its presence in markets such as the Middle East—
opening an office in Dubai—and India.

* We continued to develop our platform in Europe and
Asia, strengthening our Asset Management and Private Equity
capabilities in Europe and establishing our Investment Manage-

ment presence in Asia.

* We expanded our energy trading platform and increased our
asset origination capabilities by adding new asset elasses, including
student loans.

* And we continued to expand our global client base, building
new trusted advisor relationships.

As we extend our global reach, we remain committed to
investing in a diversified mix of businesses in Capital Markets,
Investment Banking and Investment Maragement. We also continue
to expand the number of clients we cover, always working hard to
build upon our effectiveness in delivering the entire Firm to our
clients. Cur carefully targeted global strategy remains rooted in our
core competencies—including the effective management of risk,
capital and expenses. Finally, as we move into new geographies, we
are mindful of the need to continually strengthen the Firm’s culture.

With these goals in mind, in 2006, we were better positioned

than ever to help our clients identify and seize opportunities.
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cographically. As a mortgage lender in Japan,
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in 2006 we completed the first Japanese securitization of
-conforming mortgage loans
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GROWING OUR PLATFORM

We are expanding

our asset origination

capabilities globally

n early entrant among our peers, Lehman Brothers invested in the loan

origination business in the late 1990s, establishing a vertically integrated
business model linking the Firm's origination capabilities and its capital
markets expertise. Today, Lehman Brothers” Mortgage Capital business

consists of more than 6,000 employees originating loans in the United

States, the United Kingdom, the Netherlands, Japan and Korea. Expanding our Mortgage

Capital business globally is 2 core component of the Firm's strategy:.

In November 2006, Mortgage Capital’s Japanesc origination business, Libertus

Jutaku Loan KK, completed the first securitization of non-conforming residential foans

in Japan. The Firm acted as sole arranger and underwriter for the ¥11.2 billion {approxi-

mately $95 million) L-STaRS One Funding Limited issuance of hon-conforming
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Our Mortgage Capital business
provided a nwew source of capital
in 2006 te help finance home-
wmonership in_Jopan.

residential mortgage-backed securities. Working in close
collaboration with Libertus, our Structured Finance group
sold the secarities to institutions including a cross-section
of Japanese banks, insurance companies and corporations,
The transaction is a critical component in the development
of our mortgage platform business model in Asia.
Mortgage Capital is also diversifying beyond mortgages
to capitalize on market opportunities and meet investor
demand for exposure to other asset classes. In August 2006,
we acquired Campus Door, Inc., a U.S. provider of private
student loans through a variety of channels, including
direct-to-consumer, school financial aid offices and referrals
from a number of financial institutions. As part of Lehman
Brothers, Campus Door is expanding and enhancing its
footprint in helping students finance their education.

Leveraging our deep knowledge and understanding

of global markets as well as our client focus, we have developed an end-to-end, vertically

integmared approach to serving both borrowers seeking to obtain funds and investors

secking to buy loans.
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GROWING OUR PLATFORM

Equities Capital Markets:
We are mvesting to capitalize on
the changing market structure

he rapid development of technology coupled with strong global capital markets conditions

provided the catalyst for significant growth and continued product innovation for the Lehnian

Brothers Equities franchise in 2006. Our traditional strengths in fundaniental, quantitative and

strategic research continued to provide the competitive advantage our clients seek. We have

invested heavily across regions, segments and products in order to deliver seamless execution
for investors and issuing clients.

As agency market executions dominate the equity transaction space and the trend toward clectronic execu-
tion continues to strengthen, the Firm expanded its platform by acquiring Townsend Analytics, a premier software
development and financial services provider. The acquisition underscores the Firm's service-oriented culture by
substantially increasing Lehman Brothers™ ability to further provide trading services, pre- and post-trading analytics,
exchange-related engines and risk analysis. Through Townsend’s marquee product, RealTick®, we provide the
electronic trading induostry’s premier direct-access research and trading software to institutional investors worldwide.

In 2006, we substanrially enhanced our clients” access
to liquidity by expanding our alternative trading systems
and investing in Electronic Communications Network
developments including BATS Trading, Inc., a next-generation
platform designed to handle anonymous, high-frequency
statistical arbitrage for broker-dealers. BATS’ daily volume
surpassed 150 million shares—more than 6% of NASDAQ

Above: Townsend Analytics Co-founders MarrGwen and  volume—after less than a year in operation. In addition, the
Stuart Townsend, Our acquisition of Townsend Analptics . . .
continues our tradition of offering the most up-to-date elec- Firm invested in platforms formed by industry consortia,
tronic trading capabilities to our clients. including Block Interest Discovery Service (BIDS), an
alternative system providing additional liquidity in block trading,

The Firm gained a series of #1 rankings for our Equities franchise in 2006 as we continued to offer
best-in-class capabilities. Lehman Brothers was the first broker to execute 2 million electronic order book trades
in one month on the London Stock Exchange (LSE) and ranked as the #1 LSE dealer by volume. Investors ranked
the Firm #1 for ovenll equity derivatives quality for Europe, up from #10 in 2005, In addition, fustitutional Investor

ranked Lehman Brothers #1 in both its All-America Sales poll and its All-America Research survey. We continue 1o

develop our capabilitics in Europe, Asia and the Americas to position our clients to capitalize on global opportunities. J
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EXECUTING ON THE GROUND

GROWING OUR TRUSTED ADVISOR
RELATIONSHIPS

We have helped AT&T
build industry leadership

i
‘ and drive innovation in the

] communications sector

ur focus on serving clients over the long term is evident in our extensive work
with AT&T Inc., and its predecessor company SBC Communications Ine,,
over the past decade. The Firm acted as financial advisor to AT&T in its industry-

transforming $89.4 billion acquisition of BellSouth Corporation, a transaction

which created the largest communications company in the world. Importantly,
the transaction puts AT&T in a strong position to drive convergence, innovation and competition
in the communications marketplace.

AT&T's acquisition of BellSouth ranks as the largest U.S. communications M&A deal ever and

the third-largest ever M&A deal across all industries. Prior to the BellSouth acquisition, Lchman

company, including Cingular’s $47 billion purchase of AT&T

" ~
y‘ Wircless and SBC Communications’ $22 billion acquisttion
P of AT&T Corp. In all siwations, Lehman Brothers worked
’ closely with the AT&T team to structure and execute
__! transactions that furthered the company’s strategy of creating
k substantial shareholder value.
v The BellSouth acquisition has transformed AT&T t
=~ ol

- into the premier global communications company, a leader

|

Brothers executed several marquee transactions for the
]

i R . offering integrated broadband, wireless, voice and data services

' At left: Edward E. Whitacre, Jr., Chairman

and Chief Executive Officer of ATET Ine. to virtnally all Fortune 1000 companies, as well as an operator
of 70 million access lines across 22 states. In addition, the

transaction enabled AT&T to gain full control of Cingular, the leading U.S. wireless voice and data

operator, which the company had previously owned jointly with BellSouth. Finally, as a result of the

transaction, AT&T became the world’s largest directory publisher with over 1,200 directones.

17
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near the Beifing World
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GROWING OUR TRUSTED ADVISOR
RELATIONSHIPS

Together with IBM,

we formed the
China Investment Fund

n 2006, Lehman Brothers and IBM formed the China Investment Fund.

The Fund, with an initial capialization of $180 million, brings together -

the strengths of both companies—Lehman Brothers’ global and Private Equity  [§¥7]

experience, and [BM’s business and operational insighes as well as ies tech-

nology leadership in China. [I3M and Lehman Brothers are focusing on

mid-stage to mature, public or private Chinese companies across a variety of

industry sectors.

ment and technology expertise to the companies in which they invest, enabling

those organizations to keep pace with the quickly evolving Chinese market.

The
only

I addition to_funding, IBM and Lelunan Brothers scek to provide
management and technology expertise to the compusies in which
they invest, enabling those organizations to keep pace with the
quickly evolving Chinese market.

behalf of its global clients. China s an important component of the Firm's strategy,
and the alliance with 1BM is another step toward delivering the full range of the

Firm’s expertise to the Chinese market.

In addition to funding, TI3M and Lehman Brothers seek to provide manage-

world’s fourth largest cconomy in 2006, China is expected to rank third behind
the U.S. and Japan by 2010, Lehman Brothers was a pioneer among interna-

tional investment banks in

entering the Chinese market
and established its Beijing
representative office in

1993, Since then, we have
completed many "first-of-

its-kind"" transactions for our

Chinese clients. The Firm is

also a Qualified Foreign

Institutional Investor that
invests directly in Chinese

domestic shares and bonds on
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We deliver innovative solutions tc
%

«*UF hedge fund clients rely on our premier execution, whether utilizing our
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X comprehensive suite of prime brokerage products and services or leveraging our
Investment Banking and Capital Markets capabilities.
CITADEL INVESTMENT GROUP, L.L.C. In a groundbreaking transaction
that served to solidify Citadel’s position as an institutionalized global leader in the
alternative asset management space, Lehman Brothers acted as sole program arranger and joint placement
agent on the hedge fund’s $500 million inaugural notes offering in December 2006. As part of a newly
established medium term notes (MTN) program allowing up to $2 billion of total issuance, this unsecured
notes offering marked the first by a hedge fund with public credic
ratings, a milestone event for the industry. Further, Citadel's public '

disclosure of financial information signaled 2 bold move toward

transparency, positioning the hedge fund as a leader of change

7
~Portfolio Total

in the space.

Since the mid-1990s, Leliman Brothers has enjoyed a strong

BSell EBuyj

Percentage nf

relationship with Citadel, spanning both Equities and Fixed Income

sales and trading. The MTN program represents the first investment

banking transaction for the client and illustrates the strength of our

< & partnership. In mid-2006, the Firm initiated formal investment
. 3 Above: h C. Griffin, President and . . o \
A 3 Ci?;gi:‘:i ; ’a"'fT "Gmf;:q.f;;:‘, banking coverage of select hedge fund clients, deploying intellectual |
aatm 3 Chief Financial Officer, Citadel Invesiment  capital to an industry which had, to date, required only capital !
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EXECUTING ON THE GROUND !

At Risk
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ADVISOR RELATIONSHIPS

hedge fund clients around the globe

!

! QCH-ZIFF CAPITAL MANAGEMENT GROUP Since it was founded in 1994, Och-ZifT
'E has experienced strong growth as a premicr global alternative asset management firm. By fostering a
{ long-term partnership with Och-Ziff, Lehman Brothers has been able to support the hedge fund
by providing the full suite of products and
expertise ntecessary to service its sophisticated
business madel. In leveraging our capabilities
across business scgments and regions, the
relationship truly spans the global markets.

An important part of this relationship
is Lehman Brothers Capital Markets Prime

! Services, which was created in 2005 as a joint

venture  between our Equities and  Fixed

Income Divisions. By integrating our Equities

Above: David Windreich, Managing Member, Dan Och, Senior
Managing Member, Michael Cohen, Member and HMHead of
Eurapean Merger Arbitrage, and Zoltan Varga, Head of Asian
Merger Arbitrage, Och- Ziff Capital Management Group,

and Fixed Income financing, clearing and

prime brokerage capabilities, we are able to

1 match up seamlessly with the Och-Ziff business

. nodel. Our Capital Markets Prime Services structure provides Och-Ziff with financing and clearing
services across asset classes that help facilitate its investment objectives.

As Och-ZiT continues to look at creative investment opportunities, the fund requires
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" We deliver European expertise anc
I2
13 g . draw on our global capabilities and local expertise in Europe, working across
14 borders and regions to deliver the Firm to our clients. We have invested in our
15 0.69 franchise and deepened our presence in the region.
16 0.69 0.79 ABBEY NATIONAL PLC The Firm acted a5 exclusive financial advisor
17 073 083 to Abbey in the $6.7 billion sale of its UK and Offshore life insurance businesses to
8 081 0.8 Reseludion ple, the largest specialist manager of closed UK life funds. Notably, the eransaction was the

) largest UK life insurance transaction since 2000, and the largest closed life assurance transaction to date.
19 0.78 0.78 .
20 o 0T f:_-’ s R o : En J? Abbey and Resoiunon‘als? agtreed to
51 0.68 0.68 : . :i S . . d | arml"J’geTnencs for the dlS[l’lII.)llth[] of
” 0.63 064 : antan e r ' Ce!‘t;\ll.l msumm‘:c and banking products

) _ g to their respective customers.

23 0.58 0.59 . - - - The transaction represents the
24| 051 oss T el o L 9 o v of ey e
25 046 0.33 for Abbey. Both Abbey and its parent
26 045 053 compary, Grupo Santander, are clients of Lehman Brothers. The Firm advised Abbey in its acquisition {
27 0.44 0.53 of Scottish Provident in 2001. We also acted as broker to the company when it was acquired by !
28 0.44 0.54 Grupo Santander in November 2004, .
29| 044 056 ;
30 044 0.56 Vo> U VR.C Ol G ) L om0 7ol ' » Bt B4+ M S I 0N I
31 0.44 056 0.67 0.76 0.86 095 105 113 1.21 131 144 1.62
32 045 057 0.69 0.79 (.89 1.00 110 118 1.27 1.37 .53 .74
33 048 0.60 0.72 0.83 0.95 1.05 1.16 125 1.34 147 1.65 1.90
34 0.5] 0.62 0.75 0.87 0.99 1.1 1.23 133 145 1.61 1.82 2.08
35 0.54 0.66 0.79 0.91 1.04 .16 129 144 1.60 1.79 2.01 2.27
36 0.57 0.69 0.82 0.95 1.08 122 138 1.58 1.77 1.98 220 245
37 0.61 0.73 087 1.00 113 130 1.50 1.73 1.96 2.17 2.39 2.64
38 0.65 0.80 0.94 .07 1.22 1.4 [.65 1.90 2.4 2.36 257 2.85
39 0.70 0.87 1.05 1.15 1.32 1.55 1.82 207 231 254 278 3.H0
40 0.75 0.93 £10 1.26 | .46 1.71 199 226 2.50 275 34 3.40
41 0.79 1.01 .21 1.40 1.62 {88 218 24 271 3.01 335 375
421 084 109 132 152 176 | 203 234 263 294 328 | 368 443«
431090 15 140 162 186 | 215 249 283 348 356 | 400 455
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KOHLBERG KRAVIS ROBERTS & CO. As one of the world’s most experienced private Bl s 035471 4101
equity firms specializing in management buyouts, Kohlberg Kravis Roberts & Co. (KKR) is synenymous 2 a3 44 710250
. 2 0 UIIsE?
with the successful execution of large, complex buyout transactions and the commitiment to building
market-leading companies. — ——a 1)
s P ‘ r 0344215004
L 2006, Lehman Brothers advised a KKR-led consortium : $ Renwextin G) &N IO
] ! 1Fo2 01 44213083
- e - ’ ' L33 Qe seNn
in its €3.3 billion acquisition of France Telecom Group’s stake . \ R ' l
3 b
- - . . . i Y - . ———
. ‘ a & ”
in Pagesjaunes Groupe SA, a leading publisher of print and online i e 05 4443 6001
directories with a 94% market share in France, and subsequently, - ———— f————
i —
: o : Throngh a strong inter-disciplinary and eross-
launched the standing offer for the remaining ownership of the $ p p-loste
& & P border cffort, Lehman Brothers Twlped KKR 03 4407 75 00
. . e 031440275 £2
company. The transaction ranks as the largest French leveraged  excaute the largese Fronch leveraged buyout in Corre 01440771 00
Lo history.
buyout i history. !
. : - rmse
Lehman Brothers M&A, financial sponsors, Jeveraged finance and capital markets groups worked r i 03424921139
together to help exccute the transaction on behalf of KKR. Over the years, we have had multiple
Graee K 03 44 51 1000

opportunitics to work with KKIX i1 Eutope, notably in France, advising the firrm and Wendel

Investissement on their €4.9 billion acquisition of Legrand 1n 2002, and acting as 2 global coordinator

of the €1 billion initial public offering of Legrand in 2006.
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GROWING OUR TRUSTED ADVISOR
RELATIONSHIPS

Our Investment Management
business exemplifies strong trusted
advisor relationships at work

rusted advisors understand the needs of their clients, help those clients navigate

a changing global landscape and, ultimately, create value for those clients. The
Lehiman Brothers Investment Management franchise is home to some of the
world’ premier investment professionals. Understanding the visions and goals of
our chents, including risk appetites, investing horizons or tmeframes and liquidity
needs, is at the center of our focus.

The breadth of our portfolio management and advisory capabilities ranges from traditional stocks
and bonds to hedge fund and private equity investments. We also offer premier advice on tax planning
and assee allocation.

Our trusted advisors include Marvin Schwartz—who oversees custom portfolios for high net
worth chients and mines investment ideas from meeting with ore than 100 company chief executives
a year-—and Tony Tutrone—who oversees client investments in a variety of private equity and hedge
fund vehicles managed by ousside firms. As ousted advisors, they are dedicated to delivering

perforniance to our clients.

¢ Petersen,

wional Sales

Middle abore: Aisha H;lqllt';
NMunaging Divector in
Capital Advisory

Inuediately aborve: Mary Mattson
Kemwerthy, Managing Dirvector in
High Net Worth

Innmediage Ieft: ALt Dorsey,
Co-head of Health and

Portfotio Strategy, with members
of the team

PRIVATE -
INVESTRMENT
MANAGEMENT




Left: Mavviu Scluvartz, Neuberger
Berman Strans Group, with members
of the team

Far lcft: Andy Johnsen, Portfolio
Manager, Fixed Income

Center: Alison Deans,

Dircctor of Investment Policy and
Dyyice Ellis-Beckham, Senior Vice
President in Institutional Sales

DImnmediate left: Wai Lee, Portfolio
Manager, Quantitative

Imwediarely below: At left, Judy Vale,
Portfolio Manager, Small Cap Valne,
and Marvin Schwartz

ASSET
MANAGEMENT -

Imnediate feft: Tony Tatrone,
Global Head of Private Fund
Investments Group (at far left)
with members of the team

Fur left: Charles Ayres, Global
Head of Merchani Banking,
with members of ihe team
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GROWING OUR TALENT BASE

We're putting the right people in the right

places to serve our clients around the world

alent is a critical point of differentiation for anyone doing business globally. Lehman Brothers is making both
near-term and long-term investments to ensure we have access to the world’s best and most diverse talent.

In the near term, we increased our workforce by 3,000 people in 2006, hiring students from over 170 schools

across Asia, Europe and the Americas. For the longer term, we have

focused on supporting the future development of financial services
professionals. For example, we established The Lehnnan Brothers Centre for Women in
Business in partnership with the London Business School. Its mission: to be the pre-

eminent European research center for knowledge and best practices on gender diversity

in business. In 2006, Lehman Brothers was recognized by the Securities Industry

Professor Lynda Gratton, Academic Lead, The
Lehman Brothers Centre for Wounen in Business, and
Laura Tyson, Dean of tie London Business School
Srom 2002 uniil 2006. The Lehman Brothers Centre
Jor Wammen in Business was established in 2006,

Financial Management Association for its innovative Encore initiative, which re-engages
alented individuals, primarily women, who have left the workforce for a period of time

and wish to recurn. And, as part of a number of initiatives to enhance financial education

and research, the Firm is sponsoring an undergraduate finance course at the University
Geeorge H. Walker joined

us as Global Head

of Investinent

of Tekyo’s Faculty of Economics.
The goal behind all these efforts: o be the workplace of choice for peaple
Management. eager to embrace our inclusive culture of working together to produce
extraordinary outcomes for our clients. We are a meritocracy, committed to
rewarding superior performers,
As Lehman Brothers extends its reach around the world, we are also
building our base of expetience and wisdom. While our Executive Comumittee
averages more than two decades at the Firm, in 2006, we added a new member,
George H. Walker, as Global Head of Investment Management. Mr. Walker came
to Lehman Brothers after a decade and a half at Goldman Sachs,
where he led Alternative Investment Strategies for Goldman
Sachs Asset Management.

Adding talent and experience is critical to our growth
strategy. Perhaps no one better exemplifies the 1ole of trusted
advisor than one of our most recent hires, Felix G. Rohatyn.
Ambassador Rohatyn joined Lehman Brothers in 2006

as Senior Advisor to Chairman Richard S, Fuld, Jr., and
as Chairman of the Firm’s International Advisory
Committees. For more than 50 years, he has provided
senior corporate and government leaders with

independent counsel and expertise.
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GROWING OUR COMMITMENT TO THE COMMUNITIES
IN WHICH WE LIVE AND WORK

Dallas We supported
daycare for more than
500 homeless children in
Dallas through a grant to
Vogel Alcove.

We seek to make a difference
where there is great need

New York We packed
more than 60,000 pounds
of food, providing some
50,000 meals for families
in New York City. We
also provided more than
1,600 heliday gifts for
underserved children
through six not-for-profit
partners in New York and
New Jersey.

London

London We launched a
mentoting program for
London’s Eastside Young
Leaders Academy, a
leadership development
organization for African-
Caribbean boys, and
supported an educational
arts program for 2,800
disadvantaged children
through The Prince of
Wales Arts & Kids
Foundation.

Milan We provided
support for a sports-
focused program

for more than 350
disadvantaged youth
in Milan through the
Laureus Sport for
Good Foundation.




: EXECUTING ON THE GROUND
ur professional involvement extends to the the experience of working at the Firm, and strengthen our
communities of which we are part. Our sensce relationships with all our constituents—our cormmunitics, our
of community-mindedness—of giving back— people, our clients and our sharcholders.
helps attract people to the Firm from around In addition to our Foundations, we leverage muany of the

Firm’ resources for our philanthropic activities. These include

the world who share this perspective.

Many of cur employees make financial commitments to corporate grants and event support, employee time and expertise,

e

The Lehman Brothers Foundations, which in turn help support in-kind donations, employee gift matching and not-for-profit

board service training and placement. Below are some highlights

from 2006.

a variety of charitable causes globally. We believe that the Firm

and employees working together toward our goals will enrich
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By India (Shown above) Lehman Brothers participated
‘ R 3 o g in the building of 100 houses in Malavli village in

¢ 4% b R ‘w;%j%: : India in paremership with

Habitat for Humanity.
Separately, we also helped
to restore sight to 38,663
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China We funded the

Tanzania, Zambia
and Zimbabwe We

Indonesia We sup-
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provided high school
education for 660 girls
in Tanzania, Zambia

and Zimbabwe, where
students must pay to
attend school, through

a grant to the Campaign
for Female Education.

Lehman Brothers employees
working with Habitat for
Humanity in India.

people in India through
a grant ta Sightsavers
International.

ported relief efforts
following the May
2006 earthquake in
Indonesia with a grant
o Doctors Without
Borders/Médecins
Sans Frontiéres.

complete rebuilding
of the Yang Di primary
school in China, which

now serves 300 students.




GROWING OUR SHAREHOLDER VALUE

Our ultimate goal
remains the maximization e

offering in 1994 and the end

Of SharehOIder Value of the 2006 fiscal year, the

Firms share price increased

nearly twentyfold. %

Y
()

1354 1995 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006
$372 $5.66 $7.28 $12.64 $12.50 $19.09 $24.78 $33.08 $30.70 $36.11 $41.89 $63.00 $73.67

he Firm renains fully committed to its operating principles—client
focus, doing the right thing, commitment to excellence and teamwork,
ensuring a meritocracy, respecting each other, smart risk management,

preserving and strengthening our “One Firm” culture and ownership

mentality, building and protecting our brand, and maxintizing
shareholder valoe, We continue to hold curselves to the highest standards by ahways
staying mindful of these principles and meeting the goals we set for ourselves.

When we do all of this, the results follow.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

INTRODUCTION

Lehman Brothers Holdings [nc. (“Holdings”} and subsidiaries

LERT LIRS

(collectively, the “Company,” “Lehman Brothers,”‘we,” “us” or “our”
is one of the leading global investment banks, serving institutional,
corporate, government and high-net-worth individual clienis. Our
worldwide headquarters in New York and regional headquarters in
London and Tokyo are complemented by offices in additional loca-
tons in North America, Europe, the Middle East, Latin America and
the Asia Pacific region. Through our subsidiaries, we are a global mar-
ket-maker in all major equity and fixed income products. To facilitate
our market-naking activities, we are a member of all principal securi-
ties and commodities exchanges in the ULS. and we hold memberships
or associate memberships on several principal international securities
and commodities exchanges, including the London, Tokyo, Hong
Kong, Frankfurt, Paris, Mifan and Australian stock exchanges.

Qur primary businesses are capital markets, investment banking,
and investment management, which, by their nature, are subject to
voladlity primarily due to changes in interest and foreign exchange
rates, valuation of financial instruments and real estate, global economic
and political trends and industry competition. Through our investment
banking, trading, research, structuring and distribution capabilities in
equity and fixed income products, we continue to build on our client-
flow business medel. The clicnt-flow business model is based on our
principal focus of facilitaing client transactions in all major global
capital markets products and services. We generate client-fiow revenues
from institutional, corporate, government and high-net-worth clients
by (i) advising on and structuring transactions specifically suited o
meet client needs; (i) serving as a market-maker and/or intersediary
in the global marketplace, including having securities and other finan-
cial instrument products available to allow clients to adjust their port-
folios and risks across different market cycles; {iii} originating loans for
distribution to clients in the securitization or principals market; {iv)
providing investment management and advisory services; and {v} acting
as an underwriter to clients. As part of our client-flow activities, we
maintain inventory positions of varying amounts across a broad range
of financial instruments that arc nrarked to market daily and give rise
to principal transactions and net interest revenue. In addition, we also
maintain inventory positions {long and short} as part of our proprietary
trading activities in our Capital Markets businesses, and make principal

investments including real estate and private equity investments. The

financial services industry is significantly influenced by worldwide
economic conditions as well as other factors inherent in the global
financial markets. As a result, revenues and earnings may vary from
quarter to quarter and from year 1o year.

All references to the years 2006, 2005 and 2004 in this
Mamagement’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Cendition and
Results of Operations {"MD&A") refer to our fiscal years ended
November 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004, or the last day of such fiscal years,
as the context requires, unless specifically stated otherwise. All share
and per share amounts have been retrospectively adjusted for the two-
for-one common stock split, effected in the form of a 100% stock
dividend, which became effective April 28, 2006. See Note 12 1o the
Consolidated Financial Statements and “2-for-1 Stock Split” in this

MD&A for more information.

FORWARD-LCOKING STATEMENTS

Some of the statements contained in this MD&A, including those
relating to our strategy and other staternents that are predictive in nature,
that depend on or refer to future events or conditions or that include
words such as “expects,” “anticipates,” “intends,” “plans,” “believes,” “esti-
mates” and similar expressions, are forward-looking statentents within
the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended. These statements are not historical facts but instead represent
only management’s expectations, estimates and projections regarding
future events. Similardly, these statements are not guarantees of future
performance and involve certain risks and uncertainties that are difficult
to predict, which may include, but are not limited to, the factors dis-
cussed under "Certain Factors Affecting Results of Operations™ below
and in Part [, Item 1A, “Risk Factors,” in this Form 10-K.

As a global investment bank, our results of operations have varied
significantly in response to global economic and market trends and geo-
polidcal events. The nature of our business makes predicting the furure
trends of net revenues difficult. Caution should be used when extrapo-
lating historical results to future periods. Our actual results and financial
condition may differ, perhaps materially, from the anticipated results and
financial condition in any such forward-looking statements and, accord-
ingly, readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such state-
ments, which speak only as of the date on which they are made. We
undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statements,

whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

Lehman Brothers 2006
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CERTAIN FACTORS AFFECTING RESULTS OF QPERATIONS

The significant risks that could impact our businesses and
therefore our financial condition and results of operations are
included, but not limited, to the items below. Qur risk management
and liquidity management policies are designed to mitigate the
effects of certain of these risks. See “Liquidity, Funding and Capital
Resources—Liquidity Risk Management” and “Risk Management™
in this MD&A for more information.

MARKET RISK

As a global investment bank, market risk is an inherent part of
our business, and our businesses can be adversely impacted by changes
in market and economic conditions that cause fluctuations in interest
rates, exchange rates, equity and commodirty prices, credit spreads and
real estate valuations. We maintain inventory positions (long and
short) across a broad range of financial instruments to support our
client-flow activities and also as part of our proprietary trading and
principal investment activities. Qur businesses can incur losses as a
result of Auctuations in these market risk factors, including adverse
impacts on the valuation of our inventory positions and principal
investments. See “Risk Management—Market Risk” in this MD&A
for more information.

COMPETITIVE ENVIRONMENT

All aspects of our business are highly competitive. Qur competi-
tive ability depends on many factors, inchading our reputation, the
quality of our services and advice, intellectual capital, product innova-
tion, exccution ability, pricing, sales cfforts and the wlent of our
employees. See Part |, Item 1, “Business—Competition” in this Form
10-K for mote information about competitive matters.

BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT

Concerns about geopolitical developments, energy prices and
natural disasters, among other things, can affect the global financial
markets and investor confidence. Accounting and corporate gover-
nance scandals in recent years have had a significant effect on investor
confidence. See “Executive Overview—Business Environment” and
“—Economic Qutlook” in this MD&A for more information.

Loy

Liquidity and liquidity management are of critical importance in
our industry. Liquidity could be affected by the inability to access the
long-term or short-term debt, repurchase or securities-lending markets
or to draw under credit facilitics, whether due to factors specific to us
or to general market conditions. In addition, the amount and timing of
contingent events, such as unfunded commitments and guarantees,
could adversely affect cash requirements and liquidity. To mitigate these
risks, we have designed our liquidity and funding policies to maintain
sufficient liquid financial resources to continually fund our balance
sheet and to meet all expected cash outflows for one year in a stressed
liguidity environment. See “Liquidity, Funding and Capital R esources—
Liquidity Risk Management” in this MD&A for more information.

Lehman Brothers 2006
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CREDIT RATINGS

Our access to the unsecured funding markets and our competitive
position is dependent on our credit ratings. A reduction in our credit
ratings could adversely affect our access to liquidity alternatives and
could increase the cost of funding or trigger additional collateral
requirements. See “Liquidity, Funding and Capital Resources—Credit
Ratings” in this MD&A for more information.

CREDIT EXPGSURE

Credit exposure represents the possibility that a counterparty will
be unable to honor its contractual obligations. Although we actively
manage credit exposure daily as part of cur risk management frame-
work, counterparty default risk may arise from unforeseen events or
circumnstances. See “Risk Management—Credit Risk” in this MD&A
for more information.

OPERATIONAL RISK

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or
failed internal or outsourced processes, people, infrastructure and tech-
nology, or from external evenes. We seek to minimize these risks through
an effective internal control environment. See “Risk Management—
Operational Risk™ in this MD&A for more information.

LEGAL, REGULATORY AND REPUTATIONAL RISK

The securities and financial services industries are subject to exten-
sive regulation under both federal and state laws in the U.S. as well as
under the faws of the many other jurisdictions in which we do business.
We are subject to regulation in the U.S. by governmental agencies includ-
ing the SEC and Conunodiry Fututres Trading Commission, and outside
the ULS. by various international agencies including the Financial Services
Authority in the United Kingdom and the Financial Scrvices Agency in
Japan. We akso are regulated by a number of self-regulatory organizations
such as the Nadonal Association of Securities Dealers, the Municipal
Securities Rulemaking Board and the National Futures Association, and
by national sccurities and commodities exchanges, including the New
York Stock Exchange. As of December 1, 2005, Holdings became regu-
lated by the SEC as a consolidated supervised entity (*CSE”), and as such,
we are subject to group-wide supervision and examination by the SEC,
and accordingly, we are subject to minimum capital requirements on a
consolidated basis. Violation of applicable regulations could result in legal
and/or administrative proceedings, which may impose censures, fines,
cease-and-desist orders or suspension of a firm, its officers or emiployees.

The scrutiny of the financial services industry has increased over the
past several years, which has led to increased regulatory investigations and
litigation against fmancial services firms. Legislation and rules adopted both
in the U.S. and around the world have imposed substanttal new or more
stringent regulatons, internal practices, capital requirements, procedures and
controls and disclosure requirements in such areas as financial reporting,
corpomate governance, auditor independence, equity compensation plans,

restrictions on the interacton between equity research analysts and invest-




ment banking employees and money lundering. The trend and scope of
increased regulatory compliance requirements have increased costs.

Qur reputation is critical in maintaining our relationships with
clients, investors, regulators and the general public, and is a key focus
in our risk management efforss.

We are involved in 2 number of judicial, regulatory and arbitration
proceedings concerning matters arising in connection with the conduct of

our business, including actions brought against us and others with respect

to transactions in which we acted as an underwriter or financial advisor,
actions arising out of our activities as a broker or dealer in securities and
actions brought on behalf of various classes of claimants against many
securities firms and lending institutions, including us. See Part I, Ttem 1,
"Business—R.egulation™ and Part 1, ltem 3, “Legal Proceedings” in this
Form 10-K for more information about legal and regulatory matters.
See Part I, Item 1A “Risk Factors” in this Form 10-K for addi-

tional information about these and other risks inherent in our business.

EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW'

SUMMARY OF RESULTS

In 2006, we achieved our third consecutive year of record net
reveniies, net income and diluted earnings per share. Our 2006 results
were driven by record net revenues in each business segment and geo-
graphic region. Net income totaled $4.0 billion, $3.3 billion and $2.4
billien in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, increasing 23% in 2006 and
38% in 2005 from the correspending 2005 and 2004 periods, respec—
tively. Diluted earnings per share were $6.81,$5.43 and $3.95 in 2006,
2005 and 2004, respectively, up 25% in 2006 and 37% in 2005 from the
corresponding prior perieds, respectively, The 2006 results included an
after-tax gain of $47 million ($0.08 per diluted comumon share) from
the cumulative effect of an accounting change for equity-based com-
pensation resulting from the Company’s adoption of Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No.123 (revised} Share- Based
Payment (“SFAS 123(R)™). See Note 15 to the Consolidated Financial
Statemenss for additional information.

Net revenues were $17.6 billion, $14.6 billion and $11.6 billion in
2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Net revenues increased 20% in 2006
from 2005, Capital Markets segment net revenues increased 22% to $12.0
billion in 2006 from $9.8 billion in 2005, as both Fixed income Capital
Markets and Equities Capital Markets achieved record net revenues. Fixed
Income Capital Markets net revenues increased 15% to $8.4 billion in 2006
from $7.3 billion in 2005 due to broad based strength across products and
regions. Equities Capital Markets ret revenues rose 44% to $3.6 billion in
2006 from $2.5 billion in 2005, driven by solid client—flow activity in the
cash and prime broker businesses and favomble equity markets globally.
Investment Banking segntent reventes increased 5% to $3.2 billion in 2006
from $2.9 billion in 2005, reflecting record Global Finance-Debt and
Advisory Services revenues, partially offset by a slight decrease in Global
Finance-Equity revenues from the prior year. Investment Management
segment net revenues increased 25% to $2.4 billion in 2006 from $1.9 bil-
lion in 2005, reflecting record net revenues in both Private Investment
Management and Asset Management, including record assets under man-
agement (“AUM™} of $225 billion. Non-UI5. net revenues increased 21%
ta $6.5 billion in 2006 from $5.4 billion in 2005, representing 37% of total
net revermes for both the 2006 and 2005 periods. See “Business Segments™
and “Geographic Revenues” in this MD&A for a deiled discussion of net

revenues by business segment and geographic region.

Net revenues increased 26% to $14.6 billion in 2005 from $11.6
billion in 2004, reflecting higher net revenues in each of our three business
segments and in each geographic region. Capital Markets business segment
net revenues increased 27% to $9.8 billion in 2005 from $7.7 billion in
2004. Fixed Income Capital Markets net revenues increased 28% to a
then-record $7.3 billion 11 2005 from $5.7 billion in 2004, on improved
client-flow activities, and an increased contribution from the non—US.
regions zcross & number of products. Equities Capital Markets net revenues
rose 26% to $2.5 billion in 2005 from §$2.0 billion in 2004, benefiting from
higher global trading volumes and market indices, particularly in Europe
and Asia, as well as increased prime broker activities. Investment Banking
segment reveriues increased 32% to $2.9 billion in 2005 from $2.2 billion
in 2004, reflecting improved Globat Finance—Dcbt, Global Finance—Equity
and Advisory Services revenues. Investment Management segment net
revenues increased 14% to $1.9 billion in 2005 from $1.7 billion in 2004,
reflecting then-record net revenues in both Private Investment Management
and Asset Management, and AUM grew to $175 billion. Non—U.S. net
revenues increased to 37% of total net revenues in 2005, up from 29% in
2004, resulting from higher revenues in Investiment Banking and Capital
Markets in both the Europe and Asia Pacific and other regions.

See “Business Segments” and “Geographic Revenues” in this
MD&A for a detailed discussion of net revenues by business segment and
geographic region.

BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT

As a global investment bank, our results of operations can vary in
response to global economic and market trends and geopolitical events.
A favorable business environment is characterized by many factors,
including a stable geopolitical climate, transparent financial markets,
low inflation, low unemployment, global economic growth, and high
business and investor confidence. These factors can influence (i) levels
of debt and equity issuance and merger and acquisition (“M&A”)
activity, which can affect our Investment Banking business, {ii} trading
volumes, financial instrument and real estate valuations and client
activity in secondary financial markets, which can affect our Capital
Markets businesses and {iii) wealth creation, which can affect both our

Capital Markets and Investment Management businesses.

(1) Market share, volume and ranking statistics in this MD&A were obtained from Thomson Financial.
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The global market environment was favorable again in 2006, and
generally supportive for growth in our businesses. Positive market con-
ditions in 2006 included a combination of factors - strong corporate
profitability, deep pools of global liquidity, strong equity markets, low
inflation and tightening credit spreads. Global equity markets rose to
new highs on active wading levels, M&A and underwriting activities
were also strong, driven by improved valuations, increased financial
sponsor activity and a favorable interest rate environment.

Equity Markets  Global equity markews rose 14% in local currency
terms during 2006, as most major global indices posted double digit
increases from 2005 levels. ULS. equity markets ended the year strong as
concerns over oit prices and inflation calier in the year subsided and the
Federal Reserve Board (the “Fed”) paused its interest rate tightening. In
2006, the New York Stock Exchange, Dow Jones Industrial Average,
S&P 500 and NASDAQ indices rose 17%, 13%, 12%, and 9%, respec-
tively, from 2005. In the European equity markets, the FTSE and DAX
rose 12% and 21%, respectively, from 2005. In Asia, the Nikkei and Hang
Seng indices rose 9% and 27%, respectively, from 2005. These higher
valuations served to fuel the equity origination calendar, and industry-
wide market volumes increased 35% from 2005 levels, In the US., the
New York Stock Exchange, Dow Jones Industrial Average, S&P 500 and
NASDAQ average daily trading volumes increased 5%, 8%, 11%, and
29%, respectively, from 2005. In Europe, 2006 average daily trading vol-
umes of the FTSE and DAX increased 5% and 14%, respectively, from
2005. Average daily ading volumes on the Nikkei and Hang Seng
exchanges rose 12% and 45%, respectively, in 2006 from 2005,

Fixed Income Markets Global interest rates, while up slightly
over 2005 levels, continued to remain low in absolate terms.The
global economy grew at a strong pace in 2006, with particular
strength in the first h‘alfofthc year. With the exception of the United
Kingdom, growth rates generally slowed in the second half of 2006
due to the impacts of higher oil prices and the slowdown in the U.S.
housing market.

The US. yield curve continued to flatten, as longer term yields
were little affected by the Federal Funds Rate increases of 10( basis
points during calendar 2006. The Fed ended its interest rate tightening
cycle in the third quarter as the U.S. economy began to slow down, and
inflationary concerns lessened.

Conditions in Europe were favorable as the economy expanded
by 3.1% during 2006, on strong profitability and improved exports. In
Japan, prospects for growth improved throughout 2006 as the Bank of
Japan signaled its confidence by ending its policy of zero percent inter-
est rates in July. The yield curve ended the year inverted both in the
U.S. and UK., while flattening in Japan and contirental Europe com-
pared to 2005.

Strong global growth, deep pools of liquidity and low absolute
mnterest rates all served to increase global trading volumes in fixed
mcome in 2006 over 2005 levels. Total global debt origination
increased 16% in 2006 from 2005, on higher issuances in virtually all

Lehman Brothers 2006
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products. Strong investor demand also Jed to a further tightening of
credir spreads, most notably in high yield products.

Mergers and Acguisitions Stronger equity valuations, together
with a favorable interest rate environment during 2006, led to a record
M&A marker, Financial sponsors in particular were very active, and had
large pools of capital at their disposal. Announced M&A volumes
increased 39% in 2006 from 2005, while completed M&A volumes
increased 22% in 2006 compared to the prior year period.

ECONDMIC DUTLOOX

The financial services industry is significandy influenced by
worldwide economic conditions in both banking and capital markets.
We expect global GDPF growth of 3.1% in 2007, a slower rate than
2000, but a level that continues to be favorable for this industry. We
expect the interest rate outlock to remain positive with the Fed not
raising interest rates next year, the European Central Bank raising inter-
est rates only one more time, the Bank of England raising rates twice
during 2007 and the Bank of Japan increasing rates gradually through-
our the year, We also expect global corporate profitability will remain
restlient in spite of the slower growth, with corporate earnings growing
by 7% in 2007. Additionally, corporate balance sheets will remain
strong, as cash on hand currently comprises approximately 10% of total
balance sheets. We expect that afl of the above will lead to continued
growth of capital markets activities across all regions, with prospects for
growth in non-U.S. regions in particular being highly favorable,

Equity Markets

pools of excess liquidity will continue to have a positive effect upon the

We expect that solid corporate profiability and

equity markets in 2007. We expect global equiry indices to gain 10% in
2007, We also expect the equity offering calendar to increase by another
10% to 15% in 2007, as businesses continue to look to raise capinal.

Fixed Income Markets We expect fixed income origination to
remain strong, which in turn should have a positive impact on second-
ary market flows. We expect approximately $9.6 trillion of global fixed
income origination in calendar 2007, on par with 2006. As growth
continues in Europe and Asia, we expect these regions to account for a
more significant portion of global issuance. We also expect both fixed-
income-related products and the fixed income investor base to continue
to grow with a global trend of more companies’ debt financing require~
ments being sourced from the debt capital markets.

Fixed income activity is driven in part by the absolute level of
interest rates, but also is highly correlated with the degree of volatility,
the shape of the yield curve and credit quality, which in the aggregate
impact the overall business environment. The fixed income investor
base has changed dramatically from long-only investors of a few years
ago to a continually growing hedge fund base and an expanding inter-
national investor base. Investors now employ far more developed risk
mitigation tools to manage their portfolios. In addition, the size and
diversity of the global fixed income marketplace have become signifi-
cantly larger and broader over the last several years as capital markets

continue to represent a deeper and more viable source of liquidity.
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Mergers and Acquisitions We expect announced M&A activity
to grow by 15% in 2007. Compantes are looking to grow given the
current market environment, and strategic M&A is a viable opton,
particularly for companies with strong balance sheets and stronger
stock valuations. Furthermore, given the high levels of uninvested
capital among financial sponsors, together with 2 continued favorable
interest rate environment, we expect financial sponsor-led M&A
activity to remain strong.

Asset Management and High Net Worth We expect the rise of

global equity indices and continued growth in economies to lead to

further wealth creation. Given the growth in alternative products
being offered coupled with favorable demographics and intergenera-
tional wealth transfer, our outlook for asset management and services
to high-net-worth individuals is positive. This growth will be further
supported by high-net-worth clients continuing to seek multiple
providers and greater asser diversification along with high service. We
belicve the significant expansion of our asset management offerings
and the strong investment-return performances of our asset managers,
coupled with our cross-selling inidacives, position us well for contin-

ued growth in 2007.

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

OVERVIEW

We achieved record net revenues, net income and diluted earn-
ings per share in 2006 for the third consecutive fiscal year. Net rev-
enues were $17.6 billion, $14.6 billion and $11.6 billion in 2006,
2005 and 2004, respectively, up 20% and 26% from the corresponding
2005 and 2004 periods. Net income totaled $4.0 billion, $3.3 billion
and $2.4 billion in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, up 23% and
38% from the corresponding 2005 and 2004 periods.

Diluted carnings per share were $6.81, $5.43 and $3.95 in 2006,
2005 and 2004, respectively, up 25% in 2006 and 37% in 2005 from
the corresponding 2005 and 2004 periods, respectively. The full year

2006 results inchude an after-tax gain of $47 million, or §0.08 per

diluted common share, as a cumulative effect of accounting change
associated with our adoption of SFAS 123(R} on December 1, 2005.

Return on average common stockholders’ equity? was 23.4%,
21.6% and 17.9% for 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Return on
average tangible common stockholders’ equity was 29.1%, 27.8% and
24.7% in 2000, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Compensation and benefits expense as a percentage of net
revenues was 49.3% in both 2006 and 2005 and 49.5% in 2004,
Non-personnel expenses as a percentage of net revenues were
17.1%, 17.7% and 20.1% in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
Pre-tax margin was 33.6%, 33.0% and 30.4% in 2006, 2005 and
2004, respectively.

NET REVENUES
: IN MILLIONS PERCENT EHANGE
! YEAR EKDED NOVEMBER 30 2008 2005 2004 2006/2005 2005/2004
\ Piincipal oansactions $ 9.802 3 7811 § 5,699 25% 37%
! Investment banking 3,160 2,894 2,188 9 32
l Commissions 2,050 1,728 1,537 19 12
! Interest and dividends 30,284 19,043 11,032 59 73
I Asset management and other 1,413 944 794 50 19
! Total revenues 46,709 32,420 21,250 44 53
; [nterest expense 29,126 17,790 9.674 64 84
i Net revenues $17,583 $14,630 $11.576 20% 26%
Principal transactions, commissions and net interest revenue $13,010 $10,792 $ 35%4 21% 26%
Net interest revenue $ 1,158 $ 1,253 $ 1,358 (8)% {8)%

@ Return on average common stockholders’ equity and return on average tangible common stockholders’ equity are computed by dividing net income applicable to common stack for the period by average
common stockholders' equity and average tangible comman stockholders' equity, respectively. We believe average fangible commaon stockholders’ equity is a meaningful measure because it reflects
the cammon stockholders’ equity deployed in our businesses. Average tangible common stockholders' equity equals average common stockholders’ equity less average identifiable intangible assets
and goodwill and ts computed as follows:

In millions

Year ended November 30 2008 2005 2004
Average common stockholders’ equity $16,876 $14,741 $12,843
fwverage identifizble intangible assets end goodwilt 11312 (3,272} {3,547)
Average tangible common stockholders equity $13,564 $11,469 $ 9,296
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Principal Transactions, Commissions and Net Interest Revenue In
both the Capital Markers segment and the Private Investment
Management business within the Investment Management segment,
we evaluate net revenue performance based on the aggregare of
Principal transactions, Commissions and Net interest revenue (Interest
and dividends revenue net of Interest expense). These revenue catego-
ries include realized and unreahzed gains and losses, commissions
associated with client transactions and the interest and dividend rev-
enue and interest expense associated wich financing or hedging posi-
tions. Caution should be used when analyzing these revenue
categories individually because they may not be indicative of the
overall performance of the Capital Markets and [Investment
Management business segments. Principal transactions, Commissions
and Net interest revenue in the aggregate rose 21% in 2006 from 2005
and 26% in 2005 from 2004,

Principal transactions revenue improved 25% in 2006 from 2005,
driven by broad based strength across fived income and equity products.
In Fixed Income Capital Markets, the notable increases in 2006 were in
credit products, commerctal mortgages and real estate. The 2006 increase
in net revenues from Equities Capital Markets reflects higher client trading
volumes, increases in financing and derivative activities, and higher reve-
nues from proprietary trading strategies. Principal transactions in 2006 also
benefited from increased revenues associated with certain struceured prod-
ucts meeting the required market observability standard for revenue rec-
ognition. Principal transactions revenne improved 37% in 2005 from 2004,
driven by improvements across both fixed income and equity producs. In
Fixed Income Capital Markets, businesses with higher revenues over the
prior year included commercial mortgages and real estate, residential
mortgages and interest rate products. Equities Capital Markets in 2005
benefited from higher trading volumes and improved equity valuations, as
well as increases in financing and derivative activities from the prior year.

Commission revenues rose 19% in 2006 from 2005. The increase
in 2006 reflects growth in institutional commissions on higher global
trading volumes, partially offset by lower commissions in our
Investment Management business segment as certain clients transi-
tioned from transaction-based commissions to a traditional fee-based
schedule. Commission revenues rose 12% in 2005 from 2004 on higher
global trading volumes.

Interest and dividends revenue and Interest expense are a func-

tion of the level and mix of total assets and liabilities (primarily finan-
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cial instruments owned and sold but not yet purchased, and
collateralized borrowing and lending activities), the prevailing Jevel of
interest rates and the term structure of our financings. Interest and
dividends revenue and Interest expense are integral components of
our evaluation of our overall Capital Markets activities. Net interest
revenue declined 8% both in 2006 from 2005 and 2005 from 2004.
The decrease in both comparison periods is a result of the change in
the mix of asset composition, an increase in short-term U.S. financing
rates, and a flattened yield curve. Interest and dividends revenue and
Interest expense rose 59% and 64%, respectively, in 2006 from 2005,
and 73% and 84%, respectively in 2005 from 2004. The increase in
Interest and dividend revenues and Interest expenses in both com-
parison periods is auributable to higher short-term interest rates
coupled with higher levels of interest- and dividend-earning assets
and interest-bearing liabilities.

fnvestment Banking Investment banking revenues represent fees
and commissions received for underwriting public and private offerings
of fixed income and equity securities, fees and other revenues associated
with advising clients on M&A activities, as well as other corporate
financing activities. Investment banking revenues rose to record levels
in 2006, increasing 9% from 2005. Record Global Finance—Debt
revenues increased 9% from 2005, reflecting significant growth in
global origination market volumes. Global Finance—Equity net reve-
nues decreased 1% compared to 2005, despite increased global origina-
tion market volumes. Record Advisory Services revenues increased
20% from 2005, reflecting higher completed global M&A transaction
volumes. Investment banking revenues rose significantly in 2005,
increasing 32% from 2004. See “Business Segments—Investment
Banking” in this MD&A for a discussion and analysis of our Investment
Banking business segment.

Asset Management and Other  Asset management and other rev-
enues primarily result from asset management activities in the
Investment Management business segment. Asset management and
other revenues rose 50% in 2006 from 2005. The growth in 2006 pri-
marily reflects higher asset management fees attributable to the growth
in AUM, 2 transition to fee-based rather than commission-based pricing
for certain clients, as well as higher private equity management and
incentive fees, Asset management and other revenues rose 19% in 2005
from 2004, primarily due to higher asset management fees attributable
to growth in AUM.




NON-INTEREST EXPENSES
IN MILLIONS PERCENY CHANGE
YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30 2006 2005 2004 2006/2005 200572004
Compensation and benefits $ 8,669 $ 7,213 $ 5730 20% 26%
Non-personnel expenses:
Technelogy and communications 974 834 764 17 9
Brokerage, clearance and distribution fees 629 5'48 488 15 12
Occupancy 539 490 421 10 16
Professional fees 364 282 252 29 12
Business development 301 234 21 29 11
Other 202 200 173 1 16
Reeal estate reconfiguration charge — — 19 — {100)
Total non-personnel expenses $ 3,009 § 2,588 $ 2,328 16% 11%
Total non-interest expenses $11,678 $ 9,801 § 8,058 19% 22%
Compensation and benefits/Net revenues 49.3% 49.3% 49.5%
Non-personnel expenses/Net revenues 17.1% 17.7% 20.1%

Non-interest expenses were $11.7 billion, $9.8 billion, and
$£8.1 billion in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Significant portions
of certain expense categories are variable, including compensation and
benefits, brokerage and clearance, and business development. We expect
these variable expenses as a percentage of net revenues to remain at the
same proportions in future periods. We continue to maintain a strict
discipline it managing our expenses.

Compensation and Benefils Compensation and benefits totaled
$8.7 billion, $7.2 billion and $5.7 billion in 2006, 2005, and 2004,
respectively. Compensation and benefits expense as a percentage of net
revenues was 49,3%, in both 2006 and 2005 and 49.5% in 2004. Employees
totaled approximately 25,900, 22,900 and 19,600 ar November 30, 2006,
2005 and 2004, respectively. The increase in employees in both comparison
periods was due to higher levels of business activity across the firm as we
continue to miake investments in the growth of the franchise, particularly
in non—US. regions. Compensation and benefis expeise includes both
fixed and variable components. Fixed compensation, consisting primarily
of salaries, benefits and amortization of previous years’ deferred equiry
awards, totaled $3.9 billion, $3.2 billion and $2.6 billion in 2006, 2005 and
2004, respectively, up approxiniately 21% in each of the comparative peri-
ods primarily attributable to an increase in salaries as a result of 2 higher
number of employees. Amortization of employee stock compensation
awards was $1,007 million, $1,055 million and $800 million in 2006, 2005

and 2004, respectively. The 2006 stock compensation amortization of
$1,007 million excludes $699 million of stock awards granted to retirement
eligible employees in December 2000, which were accrued as a compo-
nent of variable compensation expense in 2006. Varable compensation,
consisting primarily of incertive compensation and conumissions, totaled
$4.8 billion, $4.0 billion and $3.1 billion in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respec-
tively, up 20% in 2006 compared to 2005 and 30% in 2005 from 2004, as
higher net revenues resulted in higher incentive compensation.

Non-Personnel Expenses Non-personnel expenses totaled $3.0
billion, $2.6 billion and $2.3 billion in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respec-
tively. Non-personnel expenses as a2 percentage of net revenues were
17.1%, 17.7%, and 20.1% in 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively. The
increase in non-personnel expenses in 2006 from 2005 is primarily
attributable to increased technology and communications and occu-
pancy costs, professional fees and costs associated with increased levels
of business activity.

Technology and communications expenses rose 17% in 2006 from
2005, reflecting increased costs from the continued expansion and
development of our Capital Markets platforms and infrastructure.
Occupancy expenses increased 10% in 2006 from 2005, primarily due
to increased space requirements from the increased number of employ-

ecs. Brokerage, clearance and distribution expenses rose 15% in 2006

from 2005, primarily due to higher transaction volumes in certain
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Capital Markets and Investment Management products. Professional
fees and business development expenses increased 29% in 2006 on
higher levels of business activity and increased costs associated with
recruiting, consulting and legal fees.

Technology and communications expenses rose 9% in 2005
from 2004, reflecting increased costs associated with the continued
expansion and development of our Capital Markets platforms and
infrastructure, and increased technology costs to create further effi-
ciencies in our mortgage origination businesses. Occupancy expenses
increased 16% in 2005 from 2004 primarily attributable to growth in
our global space requirements due to a higher number of employees.
Brokerage and clearance expenscs rose 12% in 2005 from 2004, due
primarily to higher transaction volumes in certain Capital Markets
products. Professional fees and business development expenses
increased 12% and 11%, respectively, in 2005 from 2004 due primar-
ily to the higher levels of business activity. Other expenses increased
16% in 2005 from 2004 due to a number of factors, including an
increase in charitable contributions.

Real Estate Reconfiguration Charge In March 2004, we reached
an agreement to cxit virually all of our remaining leased space at our
downtown New York City location, which clarified the loss on the
location and resulted in a $19 million charge ($11 million after tax). See
Note 18 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional infor-
mation about the real estate reconfiguration charge.

Insurance Settlement During 2004, we entered into a settlement
with our insurance carriers refating to several legal proceedings noticed
to the carriers and initially occurring prior to January 2003. Under the
terms of the insurance settlement, the insurance carriers agreed to pay
us $280 million. During 2004, we also entered into a Memorandum of
Understanding to settle the In re Enron Corporation Securities Litigation
class action lawsuir for $223 million. The sewdement with our insurance
carriers and the settlement under the Memorandum of Understanding

did not result in a net gain or loss in our Consolidated Statement of

Lehman Brothers 2006
MAHAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AKRD ANALYSIS

Income as the $280 million sewlement with our insurance carriers
represented an aggregate settlemnent associated with several matters,
including Enron and WorldCom. See Part |, Item 3,“Legal Proceedings”
in this Form 10-K for additional information about the Enron securi-
ties class action and related matters.

INCOME TAXES

The provisions for income taxes totaled $1.9 billion, $1.6 billion
and §1.1 billion in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. These provisions
resulted in effective tax rates of 32.9%, 32.5% and 32.0% for 2006,
2005 and 2004, respectively. The increases in the effective tax rates in
2006 and 2005 compared with the prior years were primarily due to
an tacrease in level of pretax earnings whicl minimizes the impact of
tax benefit items, and in 2006 2 nct reduction in certain benefits from
toreign operations, partially offset by a reduction in the state and local
tax rate due to favorable audit settlements. See Note 17 o the
Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information about
INCOME taxcs,

BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSETIONS

Capital Markets During 2006, we acquired an established pri-
vate student loan origination platform, a European mortgage origina-
tor, and an electronic trading platform, increasing our goodwill and
intangible assets by approximately $150 million, We believe these
acquisitions will add long-term value to our Capital Markets franchise
by allowing us to enter into new markets and expand the breadth of
services offered as well as providing additional loan product for our
securitization pipeline.

During 2004, we acquired three residential morrgage origination
platforms, increasing our goodwill and intangible assets by approxi-
miately $61 million. We believe these acquisitions add long-term value
to our mortgage franchise by alfowing further vertical integration of the
business platform. Mortgage loans originated by the acquired compa-
nies are intended to provide a more cost-cfficient source of loan prod-

uct for our securitization pipeline.
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BUSINESS SEGMENTS

We operate in three business segments: Capital Markets,
Invesement Banking and Investment Management. These business
segments generate revenues from institurional, corporate, government
and high-net-worth individual clients across ecach of the revenue

categories in the Consolidated Stacement of Income. Net revenues

also contain certain internal allocations, including funding costs and
inter-regional transfer pricing, all of which are centrally managed.
The following table summarizes the net revenues of our

business segments:

BUSINESS SEGMENTS

IN MILLIONS PERCENT CHANGE
YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30 2006 2005 2004 2006/2005 1005/2004
Net revenues:

Capital Markets $12,000 $ 9,807 $ 7,694 22% 27%

Investment Banking 3,160 2,894 2,188 9 32

Investment Management 2,417 1,929 1,694 25 14
Total net revenues 17,583 14,630 11,576 20 26
Compensation and benefits 8,669 7,213 5,730 20 26
Non-personnel expenses" 3,009 2,588 2,328 16 11
Income before raxes™ $ 5,905 $ 4,829 $ 3,518 22% 37%
W tnciudes the real estate reconfiguration charge of $19 million recognized in 2004 which has not been atlocated to our segments.

CAPITAL MARKETS

IN MILLIGNS PERCENT CHAKGE
YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30 2006 2005 2064 2006/2005 2005/2004
Principal transactions $ 9,285 §$ 7393 $ 5.255 26% 41%
Commissions 1,420 1,132 1,033 25 10
[nterest and dividends 30,264 18,987 10,999 59 73
Other ' 105 33 49 218 (33)
Total revenues 41,074 27,545 17,336 49 59
Interest expense 29,068 17,738 9,642 64 34
Net revenues 12,006 9.807 7,694 22 27
Non-interest expensest 7,286 6,235 5,168 17 21
Income before raxes™ $ 4,720 $ 3,572 § 2,526 32% 41%
@ Excludes real estate reconfiguration charge in 2004.

The Capital Markets business segment includes institudonal client-
flow activities, prime brokerage, rescarch, mortgage origination and
securitization, and secondary-wading and financing activities in fixed
income and equity producis. These products include a wide range of
cash, derivative, secured financing and structured instruments and invest-
ments. We are a leading global market-maker in numerous equity and
fixed income products including U.S., European and Asian equities, gov-
ernment and agency securities, money market products, corporate high
grade, high yield and emerging market securities, mortgage- and asset-

backed securities, preferred stock, municipal securities, bank loans, foreign

exchange, financing and derivative products. We are one of the largest
investment banks in terms of U.S. and Pan-European listed equities trad-
ing volume, and we maintain a major presence in over-the-counter
{“OTC™ US. stocks, major Asian large capitalization stocks, wartants,
convertible debentures and preferred issues. In addition, the Capital
Markets Prime Services business marnages our equity and fixed income
matched book activities, supplies secured financing to institutional clients,
and provides secured funding for our inventory of equity and fixed

income products. The Capital Markets segment also includes proprietary

activities as well as principal investing in real estate and private equity.
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CAPITAL MARKETS NET REVENUES

{N MILLIONS PERCENT CHANGE

YEAR ERDED HOVEMBER 30 2006 2005 2004 2006/2005 2005/2004
Fixed lncome $ 8,447 $ 7,334 $ 5739 15% 28%
Equities 3,559 2,473 1,955 44 20
Capital Markets Net Revenues $12,006 § 9,807 3 7,694 22% 27%

Net revenues totaled $12.0 billion, $9.8 bilkon and $7.7 billion in
2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Capital Markets net revenues in 2006
reflect record performances in both Fixed Income znd Equities, Fixed
income revenues increased 15% in 2006 from 2005 on strong perfor-
mances across most products. Equities revenues increased 44% in 2006
from 2005 on very strong levels of client-flow activity and profitable pro-
prietary trading strategies. Fixed Incotne revenues rose 28% in 2005 from
2004 on improved client-flow activities, an increased contribution from the
nor—U.S. regions and record revenues across a number of products. Equities
revenues rose 26% in 2005 from 2004, benefiting from higher global trad-
ing volumes and market indices, particularly in Europe and Asia, as well as
increased prime brokerage activities.

Fixed Income net revemies grew to a record $8.4 billion in 2006, an
increase of 15% from 2005. This growth was attribueable to strong client-
flow activity and profitable trading strategies, leading to record revenues in
most praducts. The produces that contributed most to the increase i reve
enues year-over-year included credit, commercial mortgages and real estate
and prime brokerage, partially offset by strong, but lower revenues in both
interest rate products and residential mortgages. Credit product revenues
benefited from contunued tightening credit spreads, improved market
opportunities and strong client—fAow activity, as well as revenues assoctated
with certain structured produces imeeting the required market observabilicy
standard for revenue recognition. [Revenues in 2006 from our real estate
businesses grew to a record as historically low interest rates and the con-
tnuing demand for commercial real estate propertes led to increases in
asset sales and securidzation volumes. In 2006 and 2005, we originated
approximately $34 billion and $27 billion, respectively, of commercial
mortgage loans, the majority of which have been sold through securitza-
tion or syndication activities. Prime brokerage revenues were also higher in
2006 compared to 2005 on increased client actvity levels. Interest rate
products also were strong, but declined in 2006 from 2005, due to slightly
lower client-flow and lower revenues in Europe and Asia. Residential
mortgage securitizadon volumes increased in 2006 as compared with 2005,
but revenues from our residential mortgage origination and securitzation
businesses decreased overall. This decrease was primarily attributable to a
softer housing marker and lower margins. We securitized approximately
$146 billion and $133 billion of residendal mortgage loans in 2006 and
2005, respectively, including both originated loans and those we acquired
in the secondary market. In 2006, we originated approximately $60 billion

in residenttal mortgage loans as compared with $85 billion in 2005.
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Residential origination volumes from our non=U.S. platform increased in
2006, including those in the UK., the Netherlands, Korea and Japan.
Fixed Income net revenues were a then-record $7.3 billion in 2005,
increasing 28% from 2004, driven by double digit revenue increases from
cach geographic region and recond revenues across a number of products,
including commercial mortgages and real estate, residential mortgages, and
imerest rate products. Revenues from our commerctal mortgages and real
estate increased substantially in 2005 reaching then-record levels, Revenues
from our residential mortgage origination and securitization businesses
increased in 2005 from the robust levels in 2004, reflecting record volumes
and the continued benefits assoctated with the vertical integration of our
mottgage origination platforms. We originated approximately $85 billion
and $65 billion of residential mortgage loans in 2003 and 2004, respectively.
We securitized approximately $133 billion and $101 billion of residential
mortgage loans in 2005 and 2004, respectively, including both originated
loans and those we acquired in the secondary market. While the perfor-
mance in our mortgage businesses reached record levels, these businesses
were affected by somewhat lower levels of mortgage origination volumes
and revenues in the U.S. in the latter half of 2005, partly offset by stronger
volumes and revenues ousside the ULS. We originated approximately $27
billion and $13 billion of commercial mortgage loans in 2005 and 2004,
respectively, the majority of which has been seld through securitization or
syndication activities during both 2005 and 2004. Interest rate product
revenues increased in 2005 on higher activity levels, as clients repositioned
portfolios in light of rising global interest rates and a Aattening U.S. yield
curve. Credit product revenues also increased in 2005 as compared to 2004
driven by strength in both high yield and high grade credit products.
Equities net revenues increased 44% to a record level in 2006 on
strong chient-flow and robust global trading volumes. Global equiry indi-
ces were up 14% in local currency terms for 2006, helped by strong
carnings reports, lower energy prices and the end to the interest rare
tightening cycle by the Fed. Substantially alt equity products in 2006
surpassed their 2005 performance, including gains in cash products, prime
brokerage, equity derivatives, convertibles and proprietary and principal
activides. Qur cash business remained strong in 2006 due to solid client-
flow, higher {PQO and secondary market volumes and a gain on the con-
version of our NYSE seats. Our prime brokerage business continued to
grow 25 both client balances and the number of clients have increased,
resulting in strong results in 2ll regions. Revenues in equity derivatives for

2006 were strong across all regions due to increased client activity, in spite




of challenging market conditions during the second half of the year.
Revenues from the convertibles business rose to their second highest fevel
on increased client-Row and successful trading strategies.

Equities net revenues rose 26% in 2005 from 2004, benefiting
from increased client activity from rising global equity indices and
higher trading volumes. Global equity indices advanced 16% in local
currency terms in 2005, benefiting from positive economic data and
strong earnings reports, despite volatile energy prices and concerns
abour inflation and rising interest rates. Equities net revenues in 2005
reflected improved client-flow activitics acrass most preducts, higher
net revenues in equity derivatives and the continued growth in our
prime brokerage business. Equity derivatives business net revenues in
2005 were notably strong, benefiting from higher volumes and
improved market opportunities. Our prime brokerage business contin-
ued to benefit from an expanding client base and growth in client
financing balances, as total balances increased 22% in 2005 from 2004.

Interest and dividends revenue and Interest expense are a function
of the level and mix of total assets and liabiliies (primarily financial
instruments owned and sold but not yet purchased and collateralized
borrowing and lending activities), the prevailing level of interest rates
and the term structure of our financings. Interest and dividends reverue
and Interest expense are integral components of our evaluation of our
overall Capital Markets activities, Net incerest revenues decreased 4% in
2006 from 2005 primarily due to higher short-term U.S. interest rates,

a flattened vield curve and a change in mix of asset compesition,

Interest and dividends revenue and Interest expense increased 5%% and
64%, respectively, in 2006 from 2005 as a result of higher short-term
interest rates coupled with higher levels of interest- and dividend-carn-
ing assets and interest-bearing liabilities. Net interest revenue in 2005
declined 8% from 2004, due to higher short-term interest rates and a
flatter yield curve, partially offset by higher levels of interest- and divi-
dend-earning assets. [nterest and dividends revenue and Interest expense
rose 73% and 84%, respectively, in 2005 from 2004, auributable to
higher short-term interest rates coupled with higher levels of interest-
and dividend-earning assets and interest-bearing habilities.

Non-interest expenses increased to $7.3 billion in 2006 from $6.2
billion in 2005 and $5.2 billion in 2004. The growth in non-interest
expenses in both periods reflects higher compensation and benefits
expense related to improved performance, coupled with higher non-per-
sonnel expenses. Non-personnel expenses in both periods grew primar-
ily due to increased technology and communicatons expenses attributable
w the continued investments in our trading platforms, integration of
business acquisiions, and higher brokerage and clearance costs and pro-
fessional fees from increased business activities. Occupancy expenses also
increased doe to continued growth in the number of employees and in
2005 grew from 2004 due to our new facilities in London and Tokyo.

Income before taxes totaled $4.7 billion, $3.6 billion and §2.5 bil-
lion in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, up 32% in 2006 from 2005
and 41% in 2005 from 2004. Pre-tax margin was 39%, 36% and 33% in
2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

INVESTMENT BAKKING

IN MILLIONS PERCENT CHANGE

YEAR ENDED NOYEMBER 30 2006 005 2004 200672005 200572004
Investment banking revenues $3,160 $2.894 $2.188 9% 32%
Non-interest expenses” 2,500 2,039 1,601 23 27
Income before taxes™ $ 660 $ 855 $ 587 (23% 46%

M Exzludes real estate reconfiguration charge in 2004.

The Investment Banking business segment is made up of Advisory
Services and Global Fimance activities that serve our corporate and
government clients. The segment is organized into global industry
groups—Convmunications, Consumer/Retailing, Financial Institudons,
Financial Sponsors, Healthcare, Hedge Funds, Industrial, Insurance
Solutions, Media, Natural Resources, Pension Solutions, Power, Real

Estate and Technology—that include bankers who deliver industry

knowledge and expertise to meet clients’ objectives. Specialized prod-
uct groups within Advisory Services include M&A and restructuring.
Global Finance serves our clients’ capital raising needs through under-
writing, private placements, leveraged finance and other activities
associated with debr and equity products, Product groups are partnered
with relationship managers in the global industry groups to provide

comprehensive financial solutions for clients.
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INVESTMENT BANKING REVENUES®

I MILLIOKS PERCENT CHANEE

YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30 2008 2003 2004 2006/2005 2005/2004
Global Finance—Debt $1,424 $1,304 $1,002 9% 30%
Global Finance—Equity 815 824 560 [&)] 47
Advisory Services 921 766 626 20 22
Investment Banking Revenues $3,160 $2,894 $2,188 9% 32%

44

Investment Banking revenues totaled $3.2 billion, $2.9 billion and
$2.2 billion in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Investment Banking
revenues increased 9% in 2006 from 2005, reflecting record Global
Finance—Debt and Advisory Services revenues and near record Global
Finance—Equity revenues.

Global Finance—Debt revenues were a record $1,424 million in
2006, increasing 9% over 2005 with investment grade and leverage finance
revenues both reaching record levels. Qur investment grade origination
volumes increased 21% over 2005, as investors took advantage of contin-
ued low interest rates, tight credit spreads and a flattened yield curve.
Leveraged Finance revenues increased significantly over 2005 on reladively
flat volumes due to higher margins on several large transactions. Partially
ofFsetting these factors was a lower level of client-driven derivative and
other capital markets—related transactions with our investment banking
clients which totaled $222 million in 2006, compared with $318 million
in 2005. Publicly reported global debt origination market volumes
increased 16% in 2006 over 2005, with our origination market volumes
increasing 2% over the same period. For the 2006 calendar year, our mar-
ket ranking for publicly reported global debt originations was four with a

6.0% share, down from a rank of two with a 6.7% share in calendar year

2005. Qur debr origination fee backlog of $247 million at November 30,

2006 increased 13% from November 30, 2005. Debt origination backlog
may not be indicative of the level of future business due to the frequent
use of the shelf registration process. In 2005, Global Finance—Debt rev-
enues were 2 then-record $1,304 million, increasing 30% over 2004 with
global debt origination market volumes and our volumes increasing 13%
and 8%, respectively, over the same period. Revenues in 2005 reflected
strong global investment grade underwriting, which benefited from con-
tinued low interest rates, strong investor demand across a flattening yield
curve and credit spreads at historic average levels. Revenues in 2005 abso
benefited from a higher level of client-driven derivative and other capital
market-related transactions with our invesiment banking clients providing
fees of $318 million in 2005, compared with $140 million in 2004. For
the 2005 calendar year, our market ranking for publicly reported global
debt originations was two with a 6.7% share, up from a rank of four with
2 6.8% share in calendar year 2004.

Global Finance—Equity revenues declined 1% in 2006 to $815
million from record 2005 revenues, despite a 35% increase in industry-
wide global equity origination market volumes. Revenues in 2006
reflect a 16% increase in our equity origination volumes over 2005,
with particular strength in inital public offering (“IPO”) activities,
offset by lower revenues from the Asia region, which benefited from
several large transactions in 2005. Qur market share for publicly
reported global equity underwriting transactions decreased to 3.7% in
calendar 2006 from 4.8% for calendar year 2005 and 4.3% in calendar
2004. Our equity-related fee backlog (for both filed and unfiled trans-
actions) at November 30, 2006 was approximately $285 million, down
7% from November 30, 2005. Global Finance—Equity revenues grew
47% in 2005 to a then-record $824 million from 2004. Qur publicly
reported equity underwriting volumes rose 7% in 2005 from 2004
while industry-wide global equity origination market volumes remained
relatively flat over the same period. In addition to our increased volume,
our 2005 revenues also reflected a change in the mix of underwriting
revenues with particular strength in [POs.

Advisory Services revenues were a record $921 million in 2006,
up 20% from 2005. Industry-wide completed and announced tansac-
tion volumes increased 22% and 39%, respectively, in 2006 from 2005,
while our completed and announced volumes increased 13% and 57%,
respectively, for the same periods. M&A volumes have continued to rise
due to rising equity markets, strong corporate profitability and balance
sheets, and available capital raised by financial sponsors. Our global
market share for publicly reported completed transactions increased o
16.4% for calendar 2006, up from 13.7% in calendar year 2005, and
15.5% in calendar year 2004. Our M&A fee backlog at November 30,
2006 was $243 million down 1% from November 30, 2005. Advisory
Services revenues were a then-record $766 million in 2005, up 22%
from 2004. Industry-wide completed and announced transaction vol-
umes increased 31% and 56%, respectively, in 2005 from 2004, while
our completed and anncunced volumes increased 24% and 98%,
respectively, for the same periods. [ncreased M&A volumes benefited
from stable equity markets, increased financial sponsor activity as well as

improved wotld economices in 2005.

™ Debt and equity underwriting volumes are based on full credit for single-book managers and equal credit for joint-book managers. Debt underwriting volumes include both publicly registered and Rule
EA4A issues of high grade and high yield bonds, sovereign, agency and taxable municipal debt, non-convestible preferred stock and mortgage- and asset-backed serurities. Equity underwriling volsmes
inchude both publicly registered and Rule 1444 issues of common stock and convertibles. Because publicly reported debt and equity urderwnling volumes do not necessasily correspond 1o the amount of
secksities actually underwnitten and do not incfude certain private placements and other transactions, and because revenue rates vary ameng transactions, publicly repared debt and equity underwriting
vrlumes may not be indicative of revenues in a given period. Additionally, becawse Advisory Services valumes are based on full credit Lo each of the advisors in  transaction, and because revenge rates
vary among transactions, Advisory Services voliumes may not be indicative of revenues in a given persiod.

Lehman Brothers 2006
MANAGEMENT'S DISGCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

e T T




Non-interest expenses rose 23% in 2006 from 2005, attribut-
able to an increase in compensation and benefits expense related to
an increased number of employees and higher revenues, as well as
higher non-personnel expenses from increased business activity.
Non-interest expenses rose 27% in 2005 from 2004, auributable to

an increase in compensation and benefits expense related to

improved performance and higher non-personnel expenses related
to increased business activity.

Income before taxes was $660 mullion, $855 million and $587
million in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, down 23% in 2006 and up
46% in 2005 from the comparable prior year periods. Pre-tax margin
decreased to 21% in 2006, down from 30% 1n 2005 and 27% in 2004.

INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT
N MILLIONS FERCENT EHANGE
YEAR EWDED KOVEMBER 30 2006 2005 2004 2006/2005 2005/2004
Principal transactions $ 517 $ 418 $ 444 24% 6)%
Commissions 630 596 504 6 18
Interest and dividends 20 56 33 (64) 70
Asset management and other 1,308 911 745 44 22
Total revenues 2,475 1,981 1,726 25 15
Interest expense 58 52 32 12 63
Net revenues 2,417 1,929 1,694 25 14
Non-interest expenses' 1,892 1,527 1,270 24 20
Income before taxes" $ 525 § 402 $ 424 3% (51%
™ Fxciudes real estate reconfiguration charge in 2004.

The Invessment Management business segmient consists of the | investors. Asset Management also generates management and incentive

Asset Management and Private Investment Management businesses.

Assct Management generates fee-based revenues from customized

investment management services for high-net-worth clients, a5 well as

fees from our role as general partner for private equity and other alter-
native investment partnerships. Private Invesument Management pro-

vides comprehensive investment, wealth advisory and capital markets

fees from mutual funds and other small and middle market institutional | execution services to high-net-worth and institutionat clhents.

INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT NET REVENUES
IN MILLIONS PERCENT CHANGE
YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 38 2006 2006 4 2006/2005 2005/2004
Asset Management $1,432 $1,026 $ 840 40% 22%
Private Investment Management 985 903 854 9 6
Investment Management Net Revenues $2.417 $1,929 %1694 25% 14%
CHANGES N ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT
N BILLIONS PERCENT CHANGE
YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30 2006 2005 2004 200672013 2005/2004
Opening balance $175 $137 $120 28% 14%
Net additions 35 26 6 35 333
Net market appreciation 15 12 11 25 9
‘Total increase 50 38 17 32 124
Assets Under Management, November 30 $225 $175 $137 29% 28%
Lehman Brothers 2006 45
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COMPOSITION OF ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT
i BILLIONS PERCENT CHANGE
YEAR ENOED NOVEMBER 30 2006 2005 2004 2006/2005 2005/2004
Equity $§ 95 $ 75 3 54 27% 39%
Fixed income 61 55 52 11 [
Money markets 48 29 19 66 53
Alternative investments 21 16 12 31 33
Assets Under Management $ 225 $ 175 $ 137 29% 28%

Net revenues totaled $2.4 billion, $1.9 billion and $1.7 billion in
2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Net revenues rose 25% in 2006 from
2005, as both Asset Management and Private Investment Management
achieved record results in 2006. Net revenues rose 14% in 2005 from
2004, as both Asset Management and Private Investrnent Management
achieved then-record results in 2005.

Asset Management net revenues of $1,432 million in 2006
increased by 40% from 2005, driven by a 29% increase in AUM and
strong revenues from our growing alternative investment offerings
which contributed higher incentive fees in 2006 compared w 2005.
AUM increased to a record $225 billion at November 30, 2006, up from
$175 billion ac November 30, 2005, wicth 70% of the increase resulting
from net inflows. Asset Management net revenues of $1,026 million in
2005 increased 22% from 2004, driven by a 28% increase in assets under
management. AUM increased to a then-record $175 billion at
November 30, 2005, up from $137 billion at November 30, 2004.

Private Investment Management net revenues of §985 million

increased 9% in 2006 from 2005, driven by higher equity-related activ-

ity, especially within the volatility and cash businesses. Fixed income-
related activity was relatively flat in 2006 compared to 2005, Private
Investment Management net revenues of $903 million increased 6% in
2005 from 2004, primarily driven by an increase in equity-related
activity, as investors shifted asset allocations. Fixed income-related
activity declined 11% in 2005 compared vo 2004 as a result of cliens’
asset reallocations into equity products.

Non-interest expenses totaled §1.9 billion, $1.5 billion and $1.3
billion in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The increase in non-inter-
est expense in 2006 was driven by higher compensation and benefits
associated with a higher level of earnings and headcount, as well as
increased non-personnel expenses from continued expansion of the
business, especially into non—U.S. regions,

[ncome before taxes totaled $525 million, $402 million and $424
million in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Income before taxes
increased 31% in 2006 from 2005. Income before taxes decreased 5% in
2005 from 2004, Pre-tax margin was 22%, 21% and 25% in 2006, 2005
and 2004, respectively.

GEOGRAPHIC REVENUES

NET REVENUES BY GEOGRAPHIC REGION
14 WILLIONS PERCENT CHANGE
YEAR ENDED NOYEMBER 30 2006 20053 2004 200672005 2005/2004
Europe $ 4,536 ¥ 3.601 $ 2,104 26% 71%
Asia Pacific and other 1,931 1,759 1,247 10 41
Total Non-U.S. 6,467 5,360 3,351 2 60
us. 11,116 9,270 8,225 20 13
Net revenues §$17,583 $14,630 $11.576 200% 26%

Non-U.S. net revenues rose 21% in 2006 from 2005 to a record
$6.5 billion, representing 37% of total net revenues both in 2006 and
2005. The increase in 2006 net revenues was due to the continued
growth in Capital Markets as well as the continued expansion of our

Investment Management business in both Europe and Asia. Non—U.S.
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net revenues rose 60% in 2005 from 2004 to a then-record $5.4 bil-
lion. Non-ULS. net revenues represented 37% of total net revenues in
2005, from 29% in 2004. The improved net revenues in 2005 from
2004 reflected significant growth in Capital Markets and Investment

Banking in both Europe and the Asia Pacific and other regions.
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Net revenues in Europe rose 26% in 2006 from 2005, reflecting
higher revenues in Capital Markezs, growth in Invesunent Management
and strong results in Investment Banking. In Fixed Income Capital
Markets, higher revenues were driven by credit products, securitized
products and our real estate business. In Equities Capital Markets,
higher net revenues reflect strong results in equity derivatives and
equity prinie brokerage. Net revenues in Europe rose 71% in 2005 from
2004, reflecting higher revenues in Investment Banking and Capital
Markets, as well as a growing Investment Management presence.
Investment Banking benefited from a significant increase in completed
M&A rtransactions and increased client-driven  derivative-solution
transactions in 2005. Tn Fixed Income Capital Markets, our strong per-
formance in 2005 was driven by residential mortgages, commercial

mortgages and real estate, and interest rate products. In Equities Capital

Markets, higher net revenues reflected strong results in equity deriva-
tives, cash products, and equity arbitrage activines.

Net revenues in Asia Pacific and other rose 10% in 2006 from 2005,
reflecting higher revenues in Capital Markets and the growth in
Investment Management, partially offset by declining revenues in
Investment Banking. Capital Markets net revenues increased in 2006
primarily from strong performances in commercial mortgages and real
estate, equity derivatives and improved equity uading stategies, partially
offset by lower revenues from interest rate products. Net revenues in Asia
Pacific and other rose 41% in 2005 from 2004, reflecting strong
Investment Banking and Capital Markets net revenues. Investment
Banking benefited from several non-public structured equity transactions
for clients in 2005. Capital Markets net revenues increased in 2005 pri-

marily from strong performances in high yield and equity derivatives.

LIQUIDITY, FUNDING AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Management’s Finance Committee 15 responsible for developing,
implementing and enforcing our liquidity, funding and capital policies.
These policies include recommendations for capital and balance sheet
size as well as the allocation of capital and balance sheet to the business
units. Management's Finance Comnuttee oversees compliance with
policies and limits with the goal of ensuring we are not exposed to
undue liquidity, funding or capital risk.

LIQUSDITY RISK MANAGEMENT

We view liquidity and liquidity management as critically important
to the Company. Our liquidity strategy seeks 1o ensure that we maintain
sufficient liquidity to meet all of our funding obligations in all market
environments. Qur liquidity sirategy is centered on five principles: .

& We maintain 2 liquidity pool available ro Holdings that is of suf-
ficient size 1o cover expected cash outflows over the next twelve
months in a stressed liquidity environment.

B We rely on secured funding only to the extent that we believe it
would be available in ail market environments.

@ We aim to diversify our funding sources to minimize reliance on
any given providers.

& Liquidity is assessed at the entity level. For example, because our
legal entity structure can constrain hiquidiry avaitable to Holdings,
our liquidity pool excludes liquidity that 1s restricted from avail-
ability to Holdings.

N We maintain a comprehensive Funding Action Plan to manage a
stress liquidity event, including a communication plan for regula-
tors, creditors, investors and clients.

Liquidity Pool  We maintain a liquidity pool available to Holdings
that covers expected cash outflows for twelve months in a stressed liquid-
ity environment. [n assessing the required size of our liquidity pool, we

assume that assets outside the liguidity pool cannot be sold o generate

cash, unsecured debt cannot be issued, and any cash and unencumbered
liquid collateral outside of the liquidity pool cannot be used to support
the liquidity of Holdings. Our liquidity pool is sized 1o cover expected
cash outflows associated with the following items:

@ The repayment of all unsecured debt matwuring in the next
twelve months.

@ The funding of commitments to extend credit made by Holdings
and certain uwnregulated subsidiaries based on a probabilistic model.
The funding of commitments to extend credit made by our regu-
lated subsidiaries (including our banks) is covered by the liquidity
pools maintained by these regulated subsidiaries. See “Contractual
Obligations and Lending-Related Commiunents” in this MD&A
and Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

® The impact of adverse changes on secured {funding — either
in the form of wider “haircuts” (the difference between the
market and pledge value of assets) or in the form of reduced
borrowing availability.

B The anticipated funding requirements of equity repurchases
as we manage our equity base (including offsetting the dilu-
tive effect of our employee incentive plans). See "Equity
Management” below.

In addition, the liquidity pool is sized to cover the impact of a one
notch downgrade of Holdings’ long-term debt ratings, including the
additional collateral that would be required for our derivative contracts
and other secured funding arrangements. See “Credit Ratings” below,

The liquidity pool is primarily invested in highly liquid instru-
ments including: money market funds, bank deposits, U.S., European
and Japanese government bonds, and U.S. agency securities and other
liquid securities that we believe have a highly reliable pledge value. We

calculate our liquidity pool on a daily basis.
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At November 30, 2006, the estimated pledge value of the liquidity
pool available 1o Holdings was $31.4 billion, which is in excess of the
items discussed above. Additionally, our regulated subsidiaries, such as
our broker-dealers and bank institutions, maintain their own liquidity
pools to cover their stand-alone one year expected cash funding needs
in a stressed liquidity environment. The estimated pledge value of the
liquidity pools held by our regulated subsidiaries rotaled an additional
$47.7 billion at November 30, 2006.

Funding of Assets We fund assets based on their liquidity charac-
teristics, and utilize cash capital® to provide financing for our long-term
funding needs. Qur funding strategy incorporates the following factors:

Liquid assets (i.e., assets for which a reliable secured funding
market exists across all market environments including govern-
ment bonds, U.S. agency securities, corporate bonds, asset-backed
securities and high quality equity securities) are primarily funded

on a secured basis.

Secured funding “haircuts” are funded with cash capital.

Nliquid assets (e.g., fixed assets, intangible assets, and margin post-

ings) and less liquid inventory positions (e.g., derivatives, private

equity investnicnts, certain corporate loans, cermain commercial
mortgages and real estate positions) are funded with cash capital.

B Unencuinbered assets, which are not part of the liquidity pool
irrespective of asset quality, are also funded with cash capital. These
assets are typically unencumbered because of operational and asset-
specific factors (e.g., securities moving between depots). We do not
assume 2 change in these factors during a stressed hiquidity event.
As part of our funding strategy, we also take steps to mitigate our
main sources of contingent liquidity risk as follows:

® Commitments to extend credit - Cash capital is utilized to cover
a probabilistic estimate of expected funding of commitments to
extend credit. See “Contractual Obligations and Lending-Related
Commitments” in this MD&A.

® Ratings downgrade - Cash capital is utilized to cover the liquidity
impact of a one notch downgrade on Holdings. A ratings down-
grade would increase the amount of collateral to be posted against
our derivative contracts and other secured funding arrangements.
See “Credit Ratings” below.

B Client financing - We provide secured financing to our clients

typically through repurchase and prime broker agreements. These

financing actvities can create liquidity risk if the availability and
terms of our secured borrowing agreements adversely change during

a stressed liquidity event and we are unable to reflect these changes

in our client financing agreements. We mitigate this risk by entering

into term secured borrowing agreements, in which we can fund
different types of collateral at pre-determined collateralization levels,

and by maintaining liquidity pools at our regulated broker-dealers.

@) Gash capital consists of stockholders’ equity, portions of core deposit liabilities at our bank
subsidiaries, and liabilities with remaming terms of over one year.
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Qur peolicy is to operate with an excess of long-terim funding
sources over our long-term funding requirements. We seek to maintain
a cash capital surplus at Holdings of at least $2 billion. As of November
30, 2006 and 2005, our cash capital surplus at Holdings totaled $6.0
billion and $6.2 billion, respectively. Additionally, cash capital surpluses
in regulated entties at November 30, 2006 and 2005 amounted to
$10.0 billion and $8.1 billion, respectively.

We hedge the majority of foreign exchange risk associated with
investmenis in subsidiaries in non-U.S. dollar currencies using long-term
debt and forwards.

Diversification of Funding Sources We scek to diversify our
funding sources. We issue long-term debt in multiple currencies and
across 2 wide range of maturities to tap many investor bases, thereby
reducing our reliance on any one source.

B During 2006, we issued $48.1 bilhion of long-term borrowings.
Long-term borrowings {excluding borrowings with remaining
contractual maturities within one year of the financial statement
date) increased to $81.2 billion at November 30, 2006 from
$53.9 billion at November 30, 2005 principally to support the
growth in our assets, as well as pre-funding a portion of 2007
maturities. The weighted-average maturities of long-term bor-
rowings were 6.3 years and 6.7 years at November 30, 2006 and
2005, respectively.

We diversify our issuances geographically to minimize refinancing
risk and broaden our debt-holder base. As of November 3¢, 2006,
49% of our long-term debt was issued cutside the United Srates.

B We typically issue in sufficient size to create a liquid benchmark
issuance (i.e., sufficient size to be included in the Lehman Bond
Index, a widely used index for fixed income asset managers).

# [n order to minimuze rcfmanlcing risk, we set limits for the amount
of long-term borrowings maturing aver any three, six and twelve
month horizon at 12.5%, 17.5% and 30.0% of outstanding long-
term borrowings, respectively—that is, $10.1 bilhon, $14.2 billion
and $24.3 billion, respectively, at November 30, 2006, i we were
to operate with debt above these levels, we would not include the
additional amount as a source of cash capiral.

Long-term debt is accounted for in our long-term-borrowings
maturity profile at its contractual maturity date if the debt is redeem-
able at our option. Long-term debt that is repayable at par at the
holders option is included in these limits at its carliest redemption
date. Extendible issuances {in which, unless debt holders instruct us
to redeem their debt instruments at least one year prior to stated
maturity, the maturity date of these instruments is automatically
extended} are included in these limits at their carliest maturity date.
Based on experience, we expect the majority of these extendibles to
remain outstanding beyond their earliest maturity date in a normal
nrarket enviromment and “‘roll” through the long-term borrowings

mmaturity profile.



The quarterly long-term borrowings maturity schedule over the next five years at November 30, 2006 is as follows:

LONG-TERM BORROWINGS MATURITY PROFILE
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Included in long-term debt is $4.5 billion of structured notes
with contingent early redemption features linked 1o market prices or
other triggering events {e.g., the downgrade of a reference obligation
underlying a credit-linked note). In the above maturity table, these
notes are shown at their contractual maturity. However, in determining
the cash capital value of these notes we have excluded $2.3 billion of
the $4.5 billion from our cash capital sources at November 30, 2006.

B We use both comumitted 2nd uncommitted bilateral and syndi-
cated long-term bank facilities to complement our long-term
debt issuance. In partdcular, Holdings maintains a $2.0 billion
unsecured, committed revolving credit agreement with a syn-
dicate of banks which expires in February 2009. In additien we
maintain a $i.0 billion mult-currency unsecured, committed
revolving credit facility with a syndicate of banks for Lehman
Brothers Bankhaus AG (“‘Bankhaus™), with a term of three and
a half years expiring in April 2008. Qur ability to borrow under
such facilities is conditioned on complying with customary lend-
ing conditions and covenants. We have maintained compliance
with the material covenants under these credit agreements at
all dmes. As of November 30, 2006, there were no borrowings
against Holdings” or Bankhaus™ credit facilites.

B We have established a $2.4 billion conduit that issues secured
liquidity notes to pre-fund high grade loan commitments. This is
fully backed by a triple-A rated, third-party, one-year revolving
liquidity back stop.

8 Bank facilities provide us with further diversification and flex-
ibility. For example, we draw on our comumitted syndicated

credit facilities described above on a regular basis (typically 25%

to 50% of the time on a weighted-average basis) to provide us
with additional sources of long-term funding on an as-needed
basis. We have the abilicy to prepay and redraw any number of
times and to retain the proceeds for any term up to the maturity
date of the facility. As a result, we see these facilities as having
the same liquidity value as long-term borrowings with the same
maturity dates, and we include these borrowings in our reported
long-term borrowings at the facility’s stated final maturity date

to the extent that they are outstanding as of a reportng date.

® We own three bank entities: Lehman Brothers Bank, a U.S.-based

thrift institution, LBCB, a U.S.-based industrial bank, and Bankhaus, a
German bank. These regulated bank entities operate in a deposit-pro-
tected environment and are able to source low-cost unsecured funds
that are primarily term deposits. These are generally insulated from
a Company-specific ot market liquidity event, thereby providing a
reliable funding source for our mortgage products and selected loan
assets and increasing our funding diversificadion. Overall, these bank
institutions have mised $21.4 billion and $15.1 billien of customer
deposit liabilities as of November 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
Legal Entity Structure  Our legal entity structure can constrain
liquidity available o Holdings. Some of our legal enuties, particularly
our regulated broker-dealers and bank institutions, are restricted in the
amount of funds that they can distribute or lend to Holdings.

B As of November 30, 2006, Holdings Total Equity Capital (defined
as total stockholders’ equity of $19.2 billion plus $2.7 billion of
Jjunior subordinated notes) amounted to $21.9 billion. We believe
Total Equity Capital to be a more meaningful measure of our
equity than stockholders’ equity because junior subordinated notes
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are equity-like due to their subordinated nature, long-term matu-

rity and interest deferral features. Leading rating agencies view these

securities as equity capital for purposes of calculating net leverage.

(See Note 9 to the Consclidated Financial Statements) We aim to

miaintain a primary equity double leverage ratio (the rato of equity

investments in Holdings” subsidiaries to its Total Equity Capital) of
1.0x or below. Qur primary equity double leverage ratio was 0.88x

as of November 30, 2006 and 0.85x as of November 30, 2005.

O Cerrain regulated subsidiaries are funded with subordinated debt
issuances and/or subordinated loans from Holdings, which are
counted as regulatory capital for those subsidiaries. Cur policy
is to fund subordinated debt advances by Holdings to subsidiar-
ies for usc as regulatory capital with long-term debt issued by
Holdings having a maturity at least one year greater than the
maturity of the subordinated debt advance.

Funding Action Plan We have developed and regularly update a
Funding Action Plan, which represents a detailed action plan to manage
a stress liquidity event, including a communication plan for regulators,
creditors, investors and clients. The Funding Action Plan considers two
types of liquidity stress events—a Company-specific event, where there
are no issues with the overall market liquidity; and a broader market-wide
event, which affects not just our Company but the entire market.

In a Company-specific event, we assume we would lose access to
the unsecured funding market for a full year and have to rely on the
liquidity pool available to Heldings to cover expected cash outflows
over the next twelve months.

I a market liquidity event, in addition to the pressure of a Company-
specific event, we also assume that, because the event is market wide, some
counterpartics to whom we have extended liquidity factlides draw on these
facilities. To mitigate the effect of a market liquidity event, we have devel-
oped access to additional liquidity sources beyond the liquidity pool at
Holdings, including unutilized funding capacity in our bank entities and
unutilized capacity in our bank facilities. (See “Funding of assets™ above.)

We perform regular assessments of our funding requirements in
stress liquidity scenarios to best ensure we can meet all our funding

obligations in all market environments.

CASH FLOWS

Cash and cash equivalents of $6.0 billion at November 30, 2006
increased by $1.1 billion from November 30, 2005, as net cash pro-
vided by financing activities of $38.3 billion was partially offset by net
cash used in operating activities of $36.4 billion—attributable primar-
ily to growth in financial instruments and other inventory positions
owned—and net cash used in investing actvites of $§792 million. Cash
and cash equivalents of $4.9 billion at November 30, 2005 decreased
$540 million from November 30, 2004, as net cash used in operating
activities of $12.2 billion—attributable primarily to growth in finan-
cial instruments and other inventory positions owned—coupled with
net cash used in investing activides of $447 million exceeded net cash
provided by financing activities of $12.1 billion.

BALANCE SHEET AND FINANCIAL LEVERAGE

Assets  Our balance sheet consists primarily of Cash.and cash

equivalents, Financial instruments and other inventory positions

owned, and collateralized financing agreements. The liquid nature of ~

these assets provides us with flexdbility in financing and managing our
business. The majority of these assets are funded on a secured basis
through collateralized financing agreements.

Our total assets at November 30, 2006 increased by 23% to $504
billion, from $410 billion at November 30, 2005, due to an increase
in secured financing transactions and net assets. Net assets at
November 30, 2006 increased $58 billion due to increases across all
inventory categories as we continue to grow the Firm, including our
client-related businesses. We believe net assets is 2 more useful mea-
sure than total assets when comparing companies in the securities
industry because it excludes certain low-risk, non-inventory assets
(including Cash and securities segregated and on deposit for regula-
tory and other purposes, Securities received as collateral, Securities
purchased under agreements to resell and Securities borrowed) and
Identifiable intangible assets and goodwill. This definition of net
assets is used by many of our creditors and a leading rating agency to
evaluate companies in the securities industry. Under this definition,
net assets were $268.9 billion and $211.4 billion at November 30,
2006 and November 30, 2005, respectively, as follows:

NET ASSETS

IN MILLLONS i . .

NOVEMBER 30 2006 2005
Total assets g $503,545 $410,063
Cash and securities segregated and on deposit for regulatory and other purposes {6,091) (5,744}
Securities received as collateral 7 {6,099) (4,975)
Securities purchased under agreements to resell (117,490) {106,209)
Securities borrowed (101,567)° (78,455)
Identifiable intangible assets and goodwill (3,362) (3,256}
Net assers $268,936 211,424
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Our net assets consist of inventory necessary to facilitate client—
Row activities and, to a lesser degree, proprietary and principal invest-
ment activities. As such, our mix of net assets is subject to change. The
overall size of our balance sheet will fluctuate from time to time and, at
specific points in time, may be higher than the year-end or quarter-end
amounts. Qur total assets at quarter-ends were, on average, approxi-
mately 4% and 5% lower than amounts based on a monthly average
over the four and eight quarters ended November 30, 2006, respectively.
Our net assets at quarter-ends were, on average, approximately 5% and
6% lower than amounts based on a2 monthly average over the four and
eight quarters ended November 30, 2006, respectively.

Leverage Ratios Balance sheet leverage ratios are one measure
used to evaluate the capital adequacy of a company. The leverage ratio
is calculated as total assets divided by total stockholders’ equity. Our
leverage ratios were 26.2x and 24.4x at November 30, 2006 and

November 30, 2005, respectively. However, we believe net leverage

based on net assets as defined above (which excludes certain low-risk,
non-inventory assets and Identifiable intangible assets and goodwill)
divided by tangible equity capital (Total stockholders” equity plus
Junior subordinated notes less Identifiable intangible assets and good-
will), is a more meaningful measure of leverage in evaluating compa-
nies in the securities industry. Gur net leverage ratio of 14.5x at
November 30, 2006 increased from 13.6x at November 30, 2005. We
believe tangible equity capital is a more representative measure of our
equity for purposes of calculating net leverage because Junior subordi-
nated notes are deeply subordinated and have a long-term maturity
and interest deferral features, and we do not view the amount of equity
used to support Identifiable intangible assets and goodwill as available
to support our remaining net assets. This definition of net leverage is
used by many of our creditors and a leading rating agency. Tangible
equity capital and net leverage are computed as follows at November
30, 2006 and November 30, 2005:

TANGIBLE EQUETY CAPITAL AND NET LEVERAGE RATIO

IN MILLIBNS
NOVEMBER 30 2006 2005
Total stockhalders’ equity $19,191 $16,794
Junior subordinated notes™ 2,738 2,026

) Identifiable intangible assets and goodwill (3,362) {3.256)
Tangible equity capiral $18,567 ~ $15,564
Leverage ratio 26.2x 24.4x
Net leverage ratio 14.5x 13.6x

o See Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Net assets, tangible equity capital and net leverage ratio as pre-
sented above are not necessarily comparable to similarly titled measures
provided by other companies in the securities industry because of dif-
ferent methods of calculation.

EQUITY MANAGEMENT

The management of equity is a critical aspect of our capital man-
agement. The determination of the appropriate amount of equity is
affected by 2 number of factors, including the amount of “risk equity”
needed, the capital required by our regulators and balance sheet lever-
age. We continuously evaluate deployment alternatives for our equity
with the objective of maximizing sharcholder value. In addition, in
managing our capital, returning capital to shareholders by repurchasing
shares is among the alternatives constdered. 7

We maintain a stock repurchase program to manage our equity
capital. Qur stock repurchase program is effected through regular open-
market purchases, as well as through employee transactions where

employees tender shares of common stock to pay for the exercise price

of stock options, and the required tax withholding obligations upon
option exercises and conversion of restricted stock units to freely-trad-
able common stock. During 2006, we repurchased approximately 38.9
million shares of our common stock through open-market purchases at
an aggregate cost of approximately $2.7 billion, or $68.80 per share. In
addition, we withheld approximately 14.0 million shares of common
stock from employees for the purposes described above at an equivalent

- cost of $1 billion or $71.89 per common share. In total, we repurchased

and withheld 52.9 million shares during 2006 for a total consideration
of approximately $3.7 billion, During 2006 we also issued 22.4 million
shares resulting from employee stock option exercises and another 21.0
million shares were issued out of treasury stock into the RSU Trust.

In January 2007, our Board of Directors authorized the repur-
chase, subject to market conditions, of up to 100 million shares of
Heldings common stock for the management of our equity capital,
including ofetting dilution due to employee stock awards. This autho-

rization supersedes the stock repurchase program authorized in 2006.
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Included below are the changes in our Tangible Equity Capital for the years ended November 30, 2006 and 2005:

TANGIBLE EQUEITY CAPITAL

IN MILLIDNS

YEAR ENDED ROVEMBER 30 2006 2005
Beginning tangible equity capital $15,564 $12,636
Net income ’ 4,007 3,260
Dividends on common stock (276) (233)
Dividends on preferred stock (66) {69
Common stock open-market repurchases (2,678) (2,994)
Common stock withheld from employees™ (1,003) 7(1,163)
Equity-based award plans® 2,396 3,305
Net change in preferred stock — {2509
Net change in junior subordinated notes included in tangible equiey™ 712 1,026
Other, net 89 46
Ending tangible equity capital $18,567 $15,564

stock units.

@ Represents shares of common stock withheld in satisfaction of the exercise price of stock options and tax witbholding abligations upon option exercises and conversion of restricted

@ This represents the sum of i} proceeds received from employees upon the exercise of stock options, (ii) the incremental tax benefits from the isseance of stock-based awards and (i}
the value of employee services received—as represented by the amortization of deferred stock compensation.

@ Junior sebordinated notes are deeply subordinated and have a fong-term maturity and interest deferral features and are wtilized in calculating equity capital by leading rating agencies.

GREDIT RATINGS

Like other companies in the securities industry, we rely on
external sources to finance a significant portion of our day-to-day
operations. The cost and availability of unsecured financing are
affected by our short-term and long-term credit ratings. Factors that
may be significant to the determination of our credit ratings or oth-
erwise affect our ability to raise short-term and long-term financing
include our profit margin, our earnings trend and volatility, our cash
liquidity and liquidity management, our capital structure, our risk
level and risk management, our geographic and business diversifica-
tion, and our relative positions in the markets in which we operate.
Deterioration in any of these factors or combination of these factors
may lead rating agencies to downgrade our credit ratings. This may
increase the cost of, or possibly limit our access to, certain types of
unsecured financings and trigger additional collateral requirements
in derivative contracts and other secured funding arrangements. In
addition, our debt ratings can affect certain capital markets revenues,
particularly in those businesses where longer-term counterparty
performance is critical, such as OTC derivative transactions, inchad-

ing credit derivatives and interest rate swaps.
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At November 30, 2006, the short- and Jong-term senior borrow-

ings ratings of Holdings and LBI wete as follows:

CREDIT RATINGS

HOLDINES

-LBI

SHORT-TERM LONG-TERM

SHORT-TERM LOMG-TERM

Standard & Poor’s

Ratings Services A-1 A+ A-1+ AA
Mooedy's . '
Investors Service P-1 Al P-1 Aal
Fitch Ratings F-1+ A+ F-1+ A+
Dominion Bond R-1 A R-17. CAA
Rating Service Limited  (middic) (high) (middle) (low)




On June &, 2006, Moody's Investors Service revised its outlook on
Holdings and its subsidiaries to positive from stable. The outlook
change indicates that over the medium term, if current trends continue,
Holdings’ issuer credit ratings could be raised.

On June 16, 2006, Fitch Ratings revised its rating outlook to
positive from stable. The revised outlook suggests an upgrade of
Holdings' long-term ratings may occur if current trends continue.

On September 28, 2006, Dominion Bond Rating Service revised
the rating trend on all long-term ratings of Holdings and its related

entities to positive from stable.

At November 30, 2006, counterparties had the right te require us
to post additional collateral pursuant to derivative contracts and other
secured funding arrangements of approximately $0.9 billion.
Additionally, at that date we would have been required to post addi-
tonal collateral pursuant to such arrangements of approximately $0.2
billion in the event we were to experience a downgrade of our senior
debt rating of one notch and $1.8 billion in the event we were to

experience a downgrade of our senior debt rating of two notches.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND LENDING-RELATED COMMITMENTS

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

In the normal course of business, we enter into various contractual
obligations that may require firture cash payments. The following table
summarizes our contractual obligations at November 30, 2006 in total

and by remaining maturity, and at November 30, 2005, Excluded from

the table are a number of obligadons recorded in the Comsolidated
Statement of Financial Condition that generally are short-term in nature,
including secured financing transactions, trading liabilities, deposit liabili-
ties at our banking subsidiaries, commercial paper and other short-term

borrowings and other payables and accrued liabilities.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

EXPIRATION PER PERIOQ AT NOVEMBER 30, 2006 TOTAL CONTRACTUAL AMOUNT

2009- 2011 AND . NGVEMBER NOVEMBER

1N MILLIONS 2007 2008 mo LATER 30, 2006 30, 2005
Long-term borrowings | 3 — $17,892 $21,327 $41,959 $31,178 $53,899
Operating lease obligations 176 168 36 1,054 1,714 - 1,715
Capital lease obligations 68 74 200 2,701 3,043 . 2,773
Purchasing and other obligations 383 i41 94 165 783 ! 664

For additional information about long-term borrowings, see Note
9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. For additional information
about cperating and capital lease obligations, see Note 11 to the
Consolidated Finaneial Statements. Purchase obligations include agree-
ments to purchase goods or services that are enforceable and legally
binding and that specify all significant terms, including: fixed or mini-
mum quantities to be purchased; fixed, minimum or variable price
provisions; and the approximate timing of the transaction. Purchase
obligations with variable pricing provisions are included in the table
based on the minimum contractual amounts. Certain purchase obliga-
tions contain termination or renewal provisions. The table reflects the
minimum contractual amounts likely to be paid under these agreements
assuming the contracts are not terminated.

LENDING-RELATED COMMITMENTS

In the normal course of business, we enter into various lending-
related commitments. In all instances, we mark to market these commit-
ments with changes in fair value recognized in Principal transactions in
the Consolidated Statement of Income. We use various hedging and

funding strategies to actively manage our market, credit and liquidity

exposures on these commitments. We do not believe total commitments

necessarily are indicative of actual risk or funding requirements because
the commitments may not be drawn or fully used and such amounts are
reported before consideration of hedges. These commitments and any
related drawdowns of these facilities typically have fixed maturity dates
and are contingent on certain representations, warranties and contractual
conditions applicable to the borrower,

Through our high grade and high yield sales, trading and underwrit-
ing activities, we make commitments to extend credit. We define high yield
{non-investment grade) exposures as securities of or loans to companies
rated BB+ or lower or equivalent ratings by recognized credit rating agen-
cies, as well as non-rated securities or loans that, in management's opinion,
are non-investment grade. In addition, we make commitments to extend
mortgage Joans through our residential and commercial mortgage plat-
forms in our Capital Markets business. From time to time, we may akso
provide contingent commitments to investment and non-investment grade
counterparties related to acquisition financing. Our expectation is, and our
past practice has been, to distribute through loan syndications to investors
substantially all the credit risk associated with these acquisition financing
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loans, if closed, consistent with our credit facilitatdon framework. We do not markets instead of drawing on our commitment. In addition, we entet into
believe these commitments are pecessarily indicative of our actual risk | secured financing commitments in our Capital Markets businesses.
because the borrower may not complete a contemplated acquisition or, if Lending-related commitments at November 30, 2006 and 2005

the borrower completes the acquisition, often will rise funds in the capital 1 were as follows:

LENDING-RELATED COMMITMENTS
EXPIRATION PER PERIOD AT NOVEMBER 30, 2006 TOTAL CONTRACTUAL AMOUNT
2009- 2011- 2013 AND KOVEMBER | NOVEMBER
IN MILLIONS 2007 2008 2010 2012 LATER 30,2006 30, 200§
High grade® $ 3,424 $ 922 $ 5,931 $ 7,593 $ 75 $17,945 1 $14,039
High yield® 2,807 158 1,350 2,177 1,066 7,358 . 5,172
Mortgage commitments 10,728 752 500 210 56 12,246 | 9,417
Investment grade contingent acquisition facilities 1,918 - _ — — 1,918 3Nns
Non-investment grade contingent acquisition facilities 12,57t 195 — — — 12,766 | 4,738
Secured lending transactions, including forward !

starting resale and repurchase agreements 79,887 896 194 456 1,554 82,987 @ 65,782

O We view our net credif exposure for high grade commitments, stter consideration of hedges, to be $4.9 billion and $5.4 billion at November 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

2 We view our net credit exposure for high yield commitments, after consideration of hedges, to be $5.9 billion and $4.4 billion at November 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively. .

See Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Staternents for additional information about lending-related commitments,

OFF-BALANGE-SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

In the normal course of business we engage in a variety of off-bal- [ “Contractual Obligations and Lending-Related Commitments,” the
ance-sheet arrangements, including certain derivative contracts meeting | following table summarizes our off-balance-sheet arrangements at
the FIN 45 definition of a guarantee that may require future payments, | November 30, 2006 and 2005 as follows:

Other than lending-related commitments already discussed above in

OFF-BALANCE-SHEEET ARRANGEMENTS

EXPIRATION PER PERIOD AT NOVEMBER 30, 2006 NOTIONAL/MAXIMUM AMOUNT
) 2008- 2011- 2013A4D ' NOVEMBER | HDV_EHER ’
IN MILLIONS 2007 2008 2010 2012 LATER | 30,2006 i - 30, 2005
Derivative contracts” $85706 §7L10Z § 94374 8102505  $180.898 ! $534,585 | $486,874
Municipal-securities-related commitments 835 35 602 77 50 1,599 4,105
Other commitments with variable interest entities 453 928 799 309 2,413 4,902 6,321
Sundby letters of credit 2,380 — - — — 2,380 2,608
Private equity and other principal investment commitments 462 282 294 50 — 1,088 | - 9%

U We believe the falf value of these derlvative contracts is a more refevant measure of the obligations because we believe the notional amount overstates the expected payout. At November
30, 2006 and 2003 the fair vzlue of these derivative contracts approximated $9.3 billion and $8.2 billion, respectively.
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In accordance with FASB Interpretation No. 45, Guarantor’s
Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect
Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others (“FIN 457}, the table above
includes only certain derivative contracts meeting the FIN 45 defi-
nition of a guarantee. For additional information on these guarantees
and other off-balance-sheet arrangements, see Note 1t to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

DERIVATIVES

Derivatives often are referred to as off-balance-sheet instruments
because neither their notional amounts nor the underlying instruments
are reflected as assets or liabilies in our Consolidated Statement of
Financial Condition. Instead, the market or fair values related to the
dertvative transactions are reported in the Consolidated Statement of
Financial Condition as assets or liabilities in Derivatives and other con-
tractual agreements, as applicable.

In the normal course of business, we enter into derivative trans-
actions both in a trading capacity and as an end-user. When acting in
a trading capacity, we enter into derivative transactions to satisfy the
financial needs of our clients and to manage our own exposure to
market and credit risks resulting from our trading activities (collec-
dvely, “Trading-Rclated Deerivative Activities™). In this capacity, we
transact extensively in derivatives including interest rate, credit (both
single name and portfolio), foreign exchange and equity derivatives.
Additionally, in 2006 the Company increased its trading in commod-
ity derivatives. The use of derivative products in our trading busi-
nesses is combined with transactions in cash instruments to allow for
the execution of various trading strategies. Derivatives are recorded at
market or fair value in the Consclidated Statement of Financial
Condition on a net-by-counterparty basis when a legal right of set-
off exists and are netted across products when such provisions are
stated in the master netting agreement. As an end-user, we use
derivative products to adjust the interest rate nature of our funding
sources from fixed to floating interest rates and to change the index
on which floating interest rates are based (e.g., Prime to LIBOR).

We conduct our derivative activities through a number of wholly-
owned subsidiaries. Our fixed income derivative products business is
principally conducted through our subsidiary Lehman Brothers Special
Financing Inc., and separately capitalized “AAA™ rated subsidiaries,
Lehman Brothers Fimancial Products Inc. and Lehman Brothers
Derivative Products Inc. Qur equity derivative products business is
conducted through Lehman Brothers Finance S.A. and Lehman
Brothers OTC Derivatives Inc. Qur commodity derivatives product
business is conducted through Lehman Brothers Commodity Services
Inc. In addition, as 2 global investment bank, we also are a market maker
in a number of foreign currencies. Counterparties to our derivative
product transactions primarily are U.S. and foreign banks, securities

firms, corporations, governments and their agencies, finance companies,

insurance companies, investnent companies and pension funds, We
manage the risks associated with derivatives on an aggregate basis, along
with the risks associated with our non-derivative trading and market-
making activities in cash instruments, as part of our firm wide risk
management policies. We use industry standard derivative contracts
whenever appropriate.

For additonal information about our accounting policies and our
Trading-Related Derivative Activities, see Notes 1 and 2 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

SPECIAL PURPOSE ENTITIES

In the normal course of business, we establish special purpose
entities (“SPEs™), sell assets to SPEs, transact derivatives w1r.h SPEs,
own securities or interests in SPEs and provide liquidity or other
guarantees for SPEs. SPEs are corporations, trusts or partnerships that
are established for a limited purpose. SPEs by their nature generally
do not provide equity owners with significant voting powers because
the SPE documents govern all material decisions. There are two types
of SPEs—qualifying special purpose entities (“QSPEs”} and variable
interest entities {*VIEs”). Our primary involvement with SPEs relates
to securitization transactions through QSPEs, in which transferred
assets are sold to an SPE that issues securities supported by the cash
flows generated by the assets (i.e., securitized). A QSPE generally can
be described as an entity whose permitted activities are limited to
passively holding financial assets and distributing cash flows to inves-
tors based on pre-set terms. Under SFAS 140, Accounting for Transfers
and Servicing of Finandal Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities ("SFAS
140™), we do not consolidate QSPEs. Rather, we recognize only the
interests in the QSPEs we continue to hold, if any. We account for
such interests at fair value,

We are a market leader in mortgage (both residential and com-
mercial) asset-backed securitizations and other structured financing
arrangements. See Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for
additional information about our securitization activities,

In addition, we transact extensively with VIEs which do not meet
the QSPE criteria due to their permitted activities not being suffi-
ciently limited or because the assets are not deemed qualifying financial
instruments {e.g., real estate). Under Financial Accounting Standards
Board (“FASB") Interpretaion No. 46 (revised December 2003},
Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities—an interpretation of ARB No.
51 {“FIN 46(R)™), we consolidate those VIEs where we are the pri-
mary beneficiary of such entity. The primary beneficiary is the party
that has either 2 majority of the expected losses or a majority of the
expected residual returns as defined. Examples of our involvement with
VIEs include collateralized debt obligations, synthetic credit transac-
tions, real estate investments through VIEs, and other structured financ-
ing tansacdons. For additional information about our involvement
with VIEs, see Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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RISK MANAGEMENT

As a leading global investment bank, risk is an inherent part of
our businesses. Global markets, by their nature, are prone to uncer-
tainty and subject participants to a variety of risks. Risk management
is considered to be of paramount importance in our day-to-day
operations. Consequently, we devote significant resources (including
investments in employees and technology) to the measurement,
analysis and management of risk.

While risk cannot be eliminated, it can be mitigated to the greatest
extent possible through a strong internal control environment. Essential
in our approach to risk management is a strong internal control envi-
ronment with multiple overlapping and reinforcing elements. We have
developed policies and procedures to identify, measure and monitor the
risks involved in our global trading, brokerage and investment banking
activities, We apply analytical procedures overaid with sound practical
Judgment and work proactively with the business areas before transac-
tons occur to ensure that appropriate risk mitigants are in place.

We also seek to reduce risk through the divemsification of our
businesses, counterparties and activities across geographic regions. We
accomplish this objective by allocating the usage of capital to each of
our businesses, establishing trading limits and setting credit limits for
individual counterparties. Our focus is on balancing risks and returns.
We scek to obtain adequate returns from each of our businesses com-
mensurate with the risks they assume. Nonetheless, the effectiveness
of our approach to managing risks can never be completely assured.
For example, unexpected large or rapid movements or disruptions in
one or more markets or other unforeseen developments could have
an adverse effect on the results of our operations and on our financial
condition. Those events could cause losses due to adverse changes in
inventory values, decreases in the liquidity of erading positions,
increases in our credit exposure to ¢lients and counterparties, and
increases in general systemic risk.

Our overall risk limits and risk management policies are estab-
lished by management’s Executive Committee. On a weekly basis,
our Risk Committee, which consists of the Executive Committee,
the Chief Risk Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, reviews all
risk exposures, position concentrations and risk-taking activities, The
Global Risk Management Division (the “Division”) is independent
of the trading areas. The Division includes credit risk management,
market risk management, quantitative risk management, sovereign
tisk management and operational risk management. Combining
these disciplines facilitates 2 fully integrated approach to risk manage-
ment. The Division maintains staff in each of our regional trading
centers as well a5 in key sales offices. Risk management personnel
have muliiple levels of daily contact with trading staff’ and senior
management at all levels within the Company. These interactions

include reviews of trading positions and risk exposures.
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CREDIT RISK

Credit risk represents the possibility that a counterparty or an
issuer of securities or other financial instruments we hold will be unable
or unwilling to honor its contractual obligations to us. Credit risk man-
agement is therefore an integral component of our overall risk manage-
ment framework. The Credit Risk Management Department (the
“CRM Department”) has global responsibility for implementing our
overall credir risk management framework.

The CRM Department manages the credit exposures related to
trading activities by approving counterparties, assigning internal risk
ratings, establishing credit limits and requiring master netting agree-
ments and collateral in appropriate circumstances. The CRM
Deparunent considers the transaction size, the duration of a transaction
and the potential credit exposure for complex derivative transactions in
making our credit decisions. The CRM Departmnent is responsible for
the monitoring and review of counterparty risk ratings, current credit
exposures and potential credit exposures across all products and recom-
mending valuation adjustments, when appropriate. Credit limits are
reviewed periodically to ensure that they remain appropriate in light of
market events or the counterparty’ financial condition.

Our Chief Risk Officer is a member of the Investment Banking
Commitment, Investment, and Bridge Loan Approval Commmittees.
Members of Credit and Market Risk Management participate in com-
mittee meetings, vetting and reviewing transactions, Decisions on approv-
ing mansactions not only take into account the risks of the transaction on
a stand-alone basis, but they also consider our aggregate obligor risk,
portfolio concentrations, reputation risk and, importantly, the impact any
particular transaction under consideration would have on our overall risk
appetite. Exceptional transactions and/or situations are addressed and
discussed with management’s Executive Committee when appropriate.

See “Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates—Derivatives and
other contractual agreements” in this MD&A and Note 2 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information about net
credit exposure on OTC derivative contracts.

" MARKET RISK

* Market risk represents the potential adverse change in the value of
a portfolio of financial instruments due to changes in market rates,
prices and volatilies. Market risk management is an essential compo-
nent of our overall risk management framework. The Market Risk
Management Department (the “MRM Department”) has global
responsibility for developing and implementing our overall market risk
management framework. To that end, it is responsible for developing the
policies and procedures of the market risk management process, deter-
mining the market risk measuremnent methodology in conjunction with
the Quandtative Risk Management Department (the “QRM
Department"), monitoring, reporting and analyzing the aggregate mar-




ket risk of trading exposures, administering market risk limits and the
escalation process, and communicating large or unusual risks as appro-
priate. Market risks inherent in positions include, but are not limited to,
interest rate, equity and foreign exchange exposures.

The MRM Department uvses qualitative as well as quantitative
information in managing trading risk, believing that a combination of
the two approaches results in a more robust and complete approach to
the management of trading risk. Quantitative information is derived
from a variety of risk methodologies based on established statistical
principles. To ensure high standards of analysis, the MRM Department
has retained seasoned risk managers with the requisite experience and
academic and professional credentials.

Market risk is present in both our long and short cash inventory
positions (including derivatives), financing activities and contingent
claim structures. Qur exposure to market risk varies in accordance with
the volume of client-driven market-making transactions, the size of our
proptietary trading and principal investment positions and the volatility
of financial instrurents traded. We seek to mitigate, whenever possible,
excess market risk exposures through appropriate hedging strategies.

We participate globally in interest rate, equity, foreign exchange
and commercial real-estate markets and, beginning in 2005, certain
commodity markets. Qur Fixed Income Capital Markets business has a
broadly diversified market presence in ULS. and foreign government
bond trading, emerging market securities, corporate debt (investment
and non-investment grade), money market instruments, mortgages and
mortgage- and asset-backed securities, real estate, municipal bonds,
foreign exchange, commodity and credit derivatives. Our Equities
Capital Markets business facilitates domestic and foreign trading in
equity instruments, indices and related derivatives.

As a global investment bank, we incur interest rate risk in the
normal course of business including, but not limited to, the following
ways: We incur short-term interest rate risk in the course of facilitating
the orderly flow of client transactions through the maintenance of gov-
ernment and other bond inventories. Market making in corporate high
grade and high yield instruments exposes us to additional risk due to
potential variations in credit spreads. Trading in international markets
exposes us to spread risk between the term structures of interest rates in
different countries. Mortgages and mortgage-related securities are sub-
ject to prepayment risk. Trading in derivatives and structured products
exposes us to changes in the volatility of interest rates. We actively man-
age interest rate risk through the use of interest rate futures, options,
swaps, forwards and offsetting cash-market instruments. Inventory hold-
ings, concentrations and aged positions are monitored closely.

We are a significant intermediary in the global equity markets
through our market making in US. and non—US. equity sccurities and
derivatives, including common stock, convertible debt, exchange-traded
and OTC equity options, equity swaps and warrants. These activities
expose us to market risk as a result of equity price and volatility changes.

Inventory heldings also are subject to market risk resulting from concentra-
tions and changes in liquidity conditions that may adversely affect market
valuations. Equity market risk is actively managed through the use of index
futures, exchange-traded and OTC options, swaps and cash instruments.

We enter into foreign exchange transactions through our market-
making activities, and are active in many foreign exchange markets. We
are exposed to foreign exchange risk on our holdings of non-dollar
assets and liabilities. We hedge our risk exposures primarily through the
use of currency forwards, swaps, futures and options.

We are a significant participant in the real estate capital markets
through our Global Real Estate Group, which provides capital to real
estate investors in many forms, including senior debt, mc.zzaninc
financing and equity capital. We also sponsor and manage real estate
investment funds for third party investors and make direct invest-
ments in these funds. We actively manage our exposures via com-
mercial mortgage securitizations, loan and equity syndications, and
we hedge our interest rate and credit risks primarily through swaps,
treasuries, and denvatives, including those linked to collateralized
mortgage-backed secunties (“CMBS”} indices.

We are exposed to both physical and financial risk with respect to
encrgy commodities, including electricity, oil and natural gas, through
proprietary trading as well as from client-related trading activities. In
addition, our structured products business offers investors structures on
indices and customized commeodity baskets, including energy, metals
and agricultural markets. Risks are actively managed with exchange
traded futures, swaps, OTC swaps and options, We also actively price
and manage counterparty credit risk in the CDS markets.

GPERATIONAL RISK

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed
internal processes, peaple and systems, or from external evenis. We face
operational risk arising from mistakes made in the execution, confirma-
tion or settlement of transactions or from transactions not being properly
recorded, evaluated or accounted. Qur businesses are highly dependent
on our ability to process, on a daily basis, a large number of transactions
across numerous and diverse markets in many currencies, and these trans-
actions have become increasingly complex. Consequently, we rely heavily
on our financial, accounting and other data processing systems. In recent
years, we have substantially upgraded and expanded the capabilities of our
data processing systems and other operating technology, and we expect
that we will need to continue to upgrade and expand in the future to
avoid disruption of, or constraints on, our operations.

Operational Risk Management (the “ORM Department”) is
responsible for implementing and maintaining our overall global opera-
tional risk management framework, which seeks to minimize these risks
through assessing, reporting, monitoring and mitigating operational risks.

We have a company-wide business continuity plan (the “BCP
Plan™). The BCP Plan objective is to ensure that we can continue

critical operations with limited processing interruption in the event
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of a business disruption. The BCP group manages our internal inci-
dent response process and develops and maintains continuity plans for
critical business functions and infrastructure. This includes determin-
ing how vital business activiies will be performed until normal
processing capabilities can be restored. The BCP group is also respon-
sible for facilitating disaster recovery and business continuity training
and preparedness for our employees.

REPUTATIONAL RISK

We recognize that maintaining our reputation among clients,
investors, regulators and the general public is important. Maintaining
our reputation depends on a large number of factors, including the
selection of our clients and the conduct of our business activities.
We seek to maintain our reputation by screening potential clients
and by conducting our business activities in accordance with high
ethical standards.

Potenuial clients are screened through a multi-step process that
begins with the individual business units and product groups. In
screening clients, these groups undertake a comprehensive review of
the client and its background and the potential transaction to deter-
mine, among other things, whether they pose any risks to our repu-
tation. Potential transactions are screened by independent comumittees
in the Firm, which are compaosed of senior members from various
corporate divisions of the Company including members of the
Global Risk Management Division. These committees review the
nature of the client and its business, the due diligence conducted by
the business units and product groups and the proposed terms of the
transaction to determine overall acceptability of the proposed trans-~
action. In so doing, the committees evaluate the appropriateness of
the transaction, including 2 consideration of ethical and social
responsibility issues and the potential effect of the transaction on
our reputation.

VALUE-AT-RISK

Value-at-tisk (“VaR") is an estimate of the amount of mark-to-
market loss that could be incurred, with a specified confidence level,

over a given time period. The table below shows our end-of-day his-

torical simulation VaR for our financial instrument inventory positions,
estimated at a 95% confidence level over a one-day time horizon, This
means that there is a 1 in 20 chance that daily trading net revenues losses
on a particular day would exceed the reported Val.

The historical simulation approach involves constructing a distri-
bution of hypothetical daily changes in the value of our positions based
on market risk factors embedded in the current portfolio and historical
observations of daily changes in these factors. Qur method uses four
years of historical data weighted to give greater impact to more recent
time periods in simulating potential changes in market risk factors.
Because there is no uniform industry methodology for estimating VaR,,
different assumptions concerning the number of risk factors and the
length of the time series of historical simulation of daily changes in these
risk factots as well as different methodologies could produce materially
different results and therefore caution should be used when comparing
such risk measures across firms, We believe cur methods and assumptions
used in these calculations are reasonable and prudent.

It is implicit in a historical simulation VaR methodology that
positions will have offetting risk characteristics, referred to as diversi-
fication benefit. We measure the diversification benefit within our
portfolio by historically simulating how the positions in our current
portfolic would have behaved in relation 10 each other (as opposed to
using a static estimate of a diversification benefit, which remains rela-
tively constant from period to period). Thus, from time to time there
will be changes in cur historical simulation VaR_ due to changes in the
diversification benefit across our portfolio of financial instruments.

VaR measures have inherent limitations including: historical mar-
ket conditions and historical changes in market risk factors may not be
accurate predictors of future market conditions or future market risk
factors; VaR. measurements are based on current positions, while future
risk depends on future positions; VaR based on a one day measurement
period does not fully capture the market risk of positions that cannot
be liquidated or hedged within one day. VaR is not intended to capture
worst case scenario losses and we could incur losses greater than the

VaR. amounts reported.

VALUE-AT-RISX

: _ AT NOVEMBER 30, AVERASE 2008 '
1N KILLIONS _ ‘ LI . W05 . i 2005 2005 . WiEH Low
Interest tate and commodity risk $48 ;. 83 bo$35 33 564 $23
Equity price risk !. 20 ¢ 17 \ 19 15 k] | 1 .
Foreign exchange risk ' 5 3 ‘ 5 3 7 2,
Diversification benefit ) Lan (12)

$54 | $38 P 842 $39 $74 $29
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Average historical simulation VaR was $42 million for 2006,
up from $39 million in 2005 reflecting the increased scale of our
fixed income and equities capital markets businesses. Historical
simulation VaR, was $54 million at November 30, 2006, up from
$38 million at November 30, 2005 primarily attributable to higher
interest rate risk, due in part to a lower diversification benefit across
fixed income products. The increase in historical simulation VaR to
$54 million at November 30, 2006 from $42 million on average in
2006 is also reflecuve of the growth in the Company’s business
activities throughout the year, including proprietary and principal
ivesting activities.

As part of cur risk management control processes, we monitor
daily trading net revenues compared with reported historical simula-
tion VaR, as of the end of the prior business day. During 2006, there
was 1 day when our daily net trading loss exceeded our historical
simulation VaR. {measured at the close of the previous business day).

OTHER MEASURES OF RISK

We utilize a number of risk measurement methods and tools as
part of our risk management process. One risk measure that we uti-
lize is a comprehensive risk measurement framework that aggregates
VaR,, event and counterparty risks. Event risk measures the potential
losses beyond those measured in market risk such as losses associated
with a downgrade for high quality bonds, defaults of high yield
bonds and loans, dividend risk for equity derivatives, deal break risk
for merger arbitrage positions, defaults for sub-prime mortgage loans
and property value losses on real estate investments, Utilizing this
broad risk measure, our average risk for 2006 increased compared
with 2005, in part due to increased event risk associated with our real

estate and credit positions, as well as the increase in our historical

" simulation VaR..

We also use stress testing to evaluate risks associated with our real
estate portfolios which are non-financial assets and therefore not captured
inVaR., As of November 30, 2006, we had approximately $9.4 billion of real
estate investrnents, however our net investment at risk was limited o $5.9
billion as a significant portdon of these assets have been financed on a non-
recourse basis. As of November 30, 2006 we estimate that a hypothetical
10% decline in the underlying property values associated with these invest-
ments would result in a net revenue loss of approximately $270 million.

REVENUE VOLATILITY

The overall effectiveness of our risk management practices can be
evaluated on a broader perspective when analyzing the distribution of
daily met trading revenues over time. We consider net trading revenue
volatility over time to be a comprehensive evaluator of our overall risk
management practices because it incorporates the results of virtually alf of
our trading activities and types of risk including market, credit and ever
risks. Substantially all of the Company positions are marked-to-market
daily with changes recorded in net revenues. As discussed throughout this
MD&A, we seek to reduce risk through the diversification of our busi-
nesses and a focus on client-flow activities along with selective proprietary
and principal investing activities. This diversification and focus, combined
with our risk management controls and processes, helps mitigate the net
revenue volatlity inherent in our trading activides.

The following table shows a measure of daily net trading revenue
voladlity, utilizing actual daily net trading revenues over the previous
rolling 250 wading days at a 95% confidence level. This measure repre-
sents the loss relative to the median actual daily trading net revenues
over the previous rolling 250 trading days, measured at a 95% confi-
dence level. This means there is a 1-in-20 chance that actual daily net

trading revenues declined by an amount in excess of the reported rev-

enue volatility measure.

REVENUE VOLATILITY
AT NOVEMBER 30, AVERAGE ‘ 2006

IN MILLIONS _ "oes 1 2008 boaos . 200 HiEH LOwW
Interest rate and commeodity risk ©$28 [ 324 * 825 T 24 " 529 523
Equity price risk oo ] s o1 a2 24 14
Foreign exchange risk * o5 | 3 A T 2 iP5 2
Divensification benefit Coo@o) (3) gy 7

‘ i 37 | 836 835 $31 ' $38 $34

Average net trading revenue volatility measured in this manner increased to $35 million in 2006 up from $31 million in 2005, primarily due

to the growth in our businesses.
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The following chart sets forth the frequency distribution for daily

net revenues for our Capital Markets and Investment Management

business segments (excluding asset management fees) for the years
ended November 30, 2006 and 2005:

DISTRIBUTION OF DAILY TRADING NET REVENUES

NUMBER OF DAYS
80
IN MILLIONS
70 W 2006
2005

E

(=]

=3

$0-15 $15-30

50
3
20
<30

560 360-75 >$75

In both 2006 and 2005, daily trading net revenues did not exceed losses of $60 million on any single day.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

Genenally accepted accounting principles require management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the
Consolidated Financial Statements and accompanying Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements_ Critical accounting policies are those
policies that require management to make significant judgments, assump-
tions, or estimates, The determination of fair value is our most critical
accounting policy and is fundamental to our reported financial condition
and results of operations. Fair value 15 the amount at which an instrument
could be exchanged berween willing parties in a current transaction, other
than in a forced liquidation or sale. Management estimates are required in
determining the fair value of certain inventory positions, particularly OTC
derivatves, certain commercial mortgage loans and investments in real
estate, certain non-performing loans and high yield posidons, private

equity investments, and non-investment grade interests in securitizations.

Lehman Brothers 2006
MANAGEMEMNT'S DISCUSSFON AND AMALYSIS

Other critical accounting policies include: accounting for business
acquisitions, including the determination of fair value of assets and lia-
bilities acquired and the allocation of the cost of acquired businesses to
identifiable intangible assets and goodwill; and accounting for our
involvement with SPEs.

Management estimates are also important in assessing the realiz-
ability of deferred tax assets, the fair value of equity-based compensa-
tion awards and provisions associated with litigation, regulatory, and tax
proceedings. Management believes the estimates used in preparing the
financial statements are reasonable and prudent. Actual results could
differ from these estimates.

The following is a summary of our critical accounting policies
and estimates. See Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements

for a full description of these and other accounting policies.




FAIR VALUE

We record financial instruments classified as Financial instruments
and other inventory positdions owned and Financial instruments and other
inventory positions sold but not yet purchased at market or fair value,
with unrealized gains and losses reflected in Principal transactions in the

Consolidated Statement of Income. In all instances, we belteve we have

established rigorous internal control processes to ensure we use reasontable
and prudent measurements of fair value on a consistent basis,

When evaluating the extent to which estimates may be required in
determining the fair values of assets and liabilities reflected in our finan-
cial statements, we believe it is useful to analyze the balance sheet as

shown in the following table:

SUMMARY BALANCE SHEET

IN MILLIONS NOYEMBER 30, 2006
ASSETS
Financial instruments and other inventory positions owned $226,596 45%
Securities received as collateral 6,099 1
Collateralized agreements 219,057 43
Cash, receivables and PP&E 43,318 9
Other assets 5,113 1
Identifiable intangible assets and goodwill 3,362 1
Total assets §503,545 100%
LIABILITIES AND EQHHTY
Short-term borrowings and current portion of long-term borrowings $ 20,638 4%
Financial instruments and other inventory positions sold but not yet purchased 125,960 25
Obligation to return securities received as collateral 6,099 1
Collateralized financing 170,458 34
Payables and other accrued liabilities 58,609 12
Deposits at banks 21,412 4
‘Total long-term capital® 100,369 20
Total liabilities and equity $503,545 100%
W long-term capital includes long-term borrowings (excluding borrowings with remaining maturities within one year of the financial statement date} and total stockholders’ equity. We

believe total long-term capital is useful to investors as a measure of our financial strength.

“The majority of our assets and liabilities are recorded at amounts for
which significant management estimates are not used. The following balance
sheet categories, comprising 52% of total assets and 74% of total Liabilities and
equity, are valued either at historical cost or at contract value (including
accrued interest) which, by their nature, do not require the use of significant
estimates: Collateralized agreements, Cash, receivables and PP&E, Short-
term borrowings and the current portion of long-term borrowings, Dreposits,
Collateralized financing, Payables and other acerued liabilities and Total long-
term capital. Securities received as collateral and Obligation to retum securi-
ties received as collateral are recorded at fair value, but due to their ofietting
mature do not result in fair value estimates affecting the Consolidated
Statement of Income. Financial instruments and other inventory positions
owned and Financial instruments and other inventory positions sold but not
yet purchased (long and short inventory positions, respectively} are recorded
at market or fair value, the components of which may require, to varying

degrees, the use of estimates in determining fair value.

When evaluating the extent to which management estimates
may be used in determining the fair value for long and short inven-
tory, we believe it is useful to consider separately derivatives and
cash instruments.

Derivatives and Other Contractual Agreements The fair values of
derivative assets and liabilities at November 30, 2006 were $22.7
billion and $18.0 billion, respectively {See Note 2 to the Consolidated
Financial Staternents). Included within these amounts were exchange-
traded derivative assets and liabilities of $3.2 billion and $2.8 billion,
respectively, for which fair valee is determined based on quoted
market prices. The fair values of our OTC derivative assets and lia-
bilities at November 30, 2006 were $19.5 billion and $15.2 billion,
respectively. With respect to OTC contracts, we view our net credit
exposure to be $15.6 billion at November 30, 2006, representing the
fair value of OTC contracts in 2 net receivable position afier consid-

eration of collateral.
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The following table sets forth the fair value of OTC derivatives by contract type and by remaining contractual marurity:

FAIR VALUE OF OTC DERIVATIVE CONTRACTS BY MATURITY

CRDSS
MATURITY,
CROSS
PRODEICT
LESS GREATER AKD EASH HEF
IN MILLIONS ‘ THAN 1105 57010 THAR 10 TOLLATERAL 511 CREDIT
NOYEMBER 30, 2006 1 YEAR YEARS YEARS YEARS NETTING™  DERIVATIVES EXPOSURE
ASSETS
Interest rate, currency and credit default swaps and options $ 4,514 % 7,332 §10,021 § 8,792 $(19,125) $ B.634 § 8,848
Foreign exchange forward contraces and options 2,560 472 62 43 (1,345) 1,792 1,049
Other fixed income securities contracs® 4,305 3 — — — 4,308 3,856
Equity contracts 3,142 2,741 870 362 (2,377) 4,738 1,854
§$11,521  $10,548 $11,053 § 9,197 5(22,847) $19,472 § 15,607
LIABILITIES
Interest rate, currency and credit default swaps and options $ 2,262 § 5481 § 5,012 $ 6,656 $(13,720) § 5,691
Foreign exchange forward contracts and options 1,204 883 240 13 (2,215) 2,145
Other fixed income securities contracs® 2,596 ) — — — 2,604
Equity contracts ) 3,375 3,736 1,377 260 (4,003) 4,745
i $11,437  $10,i08 § 6,629 $ 6,949 $(19,938) § 15,185

@ Incfudes commodity derivatives assets of $268 million and liabilities of $277 million.

@ Cross-maturity netting represents the netting of receivable balancas with payable balances for the same counterparty across maturity and prodict categonies. Receivable and payabie
batances with the same counterparty in the same maturity category are netted within the maturily category when appropriate. Cash collateral received or paid is neited on a counterparty
basis, provided legal right of offset exists. Assets and liabilities at November 30, 2006 were netted down for cash coilateral of approximately $11.1 billion and $8.2 billion, respectively.

Presented below is an analysis of net credit exposure at November
30, 2006 for OTC contracts based on actual ratings made by external

rating agencies or by equivalent ratings established and used by our
Credit Risk Management Department.

NET CREDIT EXPOSURE

LESS - GREATER _
COUNTERPARTY SLP/MODDY'S TN 108 51010 THAN TOTAL
RISK RATING EQUIVALENY TYEAR - YEARS C YEARS  IBYEMRS | 2006 | 2005
iAAA AAA/A2 5% A% % % 14% 19%
iAA AA/Aa 16 10 5 8. 39 29
iA AZA 14 5 5 7 1 M 32
iBBB BBB/Baa 4 2 1 4 | 1 | 15
iBB . BB/Ba - 1 1 ~ 4 | 3
iB or lower B/B1 or lower . -— 1 —_ — } 1 2

1% 2% - 15% 22% | 100% 100%

| I

The majority of our OTC derivatives are transacted in liquid trad-
ing markets for which fair value is determined using pricing modeks with
readily observable market inputs. Where we cannot verify all of the sig-
nificant model inputs to observable market data, we value the derivative
at the transaction price at inception, and consequently, do not record a
day one gain or loss in accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force
(“EITF") No. 02-3, Issues Involved in Accounting for Derivative Contracts
Held for Trading Purposes and Contracts Involved In Energy Trading and
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Risk Management Activities (EITF 02-3). Subsequent to the wanszction
date, we recognize any profits deferred on these derivative transactions at
inception in the period in which the significant medel inputs become
observable. See Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a full
description of these and other accounting policies. Examples of deriva-
tives where fair value is determined using pricing models with readily
observable market inputs include interest rate swap contracts, to-be-

announced transactions (TBAs), forcign exchange forward and option




contracts in G-7 currencies and equity swap and option contracts on
listed securities. However, the determination of fair value of certain com-
plex, less liquid derivatives requires the use of significant estimates as they
often combine one or more product types, requiring additional inputs,
such as correlations and volatlities. Such derivatives include certain credit
derivatives, equity option contracts with terms greater than five years, and
certain other complex-derivatives we provide to clients. We strive to limit
the use of significant estimates by using consistent pricing assumptions
between reporting periods and using observed market data for model
inputs whenever possible. As the market for complex products develops,
we refine our pricing models based on market experience to use the most
current indicators of fair value.

Cash Instruments The majority of our non-derivative long and
short inventory (i.c., cash instruments) is recorded at market value based on
listed market prices or using third-party broker quotes and therefore does
not incorporate significant estimates. Examples of inventory valued in this
manner include government securities, agency mortgage-backed securities,
listed equities, money market instruments, municipal securities and corpo-
rate bonds. However, in certain instances we may deem such quotations to
be unrealizable (e.g., when the instruments are thinly traded or when we
hold a substantial block of a particular security such that the listed price is
not readily realizable). In such instances, we determine fair value based on,
among other factors, management’s best estimate giving appropriate con-
sideration to reported prices and the extent of public trading in similar
securities, the discount from the listed price associated with the cost at date
of acquisition and the size of the position held in relation to the liquidity
in the market. When the size of our holding of a listed security is likely to
tmpair our ability to realize the quoted market price, we record the position
at a discount to the quoted price, reflecting our best estimate of fair value,

When quoted prices are not available, fair value is determined based
on pricing models or other valuadon techniques, including the use of
implied pricing from similar instruments. Pricing models typically are
used to derive fair value based on the net present value of estimated future
cash flows including adjustments, when appropriate, for liquidity, credit
and/or other factors. For the vast majority of instruments valued through
pricing models, significant estimates are not required because the market
inputs to such models are readily observable and liquid trading markets
provide clear evidence to support the valuations derived from such pric-
ing models, Examples of inventory valued using pricing modeks or other
valuation techniques for which the use of management estimates are
necessary include certain commercial mortgage loans investrnents in real
estate, non-performing loans and certain high yield positons, private
equity investments, and non-investment grade retained interests.

Mortgages, Mortgage-Backed and Real Estate Inventory
Pasitions Mortgages and mortgage-backed positions include mortgage
loans (both residential and commercial), and non-agency mortgage-
backed securities, We are a market leader in mortgage-backed securities
trading, We originate residential and commercial mortgage loans as part of

our mortgage trading and securitization activities. We securitized approxi-

mately $146 billion and $133 billion of residential mortgage loans in 2006
and 2005, respectively, including both originated loans and those we
acquired in the secondary market. We originated approximately $60 bil-
lion and $85 billion of residential mortgage loans in 2006 and 2005,
respectively. In addition, we originated approximately $34 billion and $27
billion of commercial mortgage loans in 2006 and 2005, respectively, the
majority of which has been sold through securitization or syndicate
activities. See Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for addi-
tonal informatdon about our securitization activiges. We record mortgage
loans at fair value, with related mark-to-market gains and losses recognized
in Principal transactions in the Consolidated Statement of Income.

Management estimates are generally not required in determining
the fair value of residential mortgage loans because these positions are
securitized frequently. Certain commercial mortgage loans and invest-
ments, due to their less liquid nature, may require management estimates
in determining fair value. Fair value for these positions is generally based
on analyses of both cash flow projections and underlying property values.
We use independent appraisals to support our assessment of the property
in determining fair value for these positions. Fair value for approximately
$4.3 billion and $3.6 billion at November 30, 2006 and 2005, respec-
tvely, of our total mortgage loan inventory is determined using the
above valuation methodologies, which may involve the use of significant
estimates. Because a portion of these assets have been financed on a non-
recourse basis, our net investment position is limited to $3.9 billion and
$3.5 billion at Novermber 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

We invest in real estate through direct investments in equity and
debt. We record real estate held for sale at the lower of cost or fair value.
The assessment of fair value generally requires the use of management
estimates and generally is based on property appraisals provided by third
parties and also incorporates an analysis of the related property cash
flow projections. We had real estate investments of approximately $9.4
billion and $7.9 billion at November 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
Because significant portions of these assets have been financed on a
non-recourse basis, our net investrent position was limited to $5.9 bil-
lion and $4.8 billion at November 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

High Yield Instruments We underwrite, syndicate, invest in and
make markets in high yield corporate debt securities and loans. For
purposes of this discussion, high yield instruments are defined as
securitics of or loans to companies rated BB+ or lower or equiva-
lent ratings by recognized credit rating agencies, as well as non-rated
securities or loans that, in management’s opinion, are non-invest-
ment grade. High yield debt instruments generally involve greater
risks than investment grade instruments and loans due to the issuer’s
creditworthiness and the lower liquidity of the market for such
instruments, In addition, these issters generally have refatively
higher levels of indebtedness resulting in an increased sensitivity to
adverse economic conditions. We seck to reduce these risks through
active hedging strategies and through the diversification of our

products and counterparties.
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High vyield instruments are carried at fair value, with unrealized

gains and losses reflected in Principal transactions in the Consolidated

Statement of Income. Qur high yield instruments at November 30,
2006 and November 30, 2005 were as follows:

HIGH YIELD INSTRUMENTS

N MILLIONS

YEAR ENDED KGVEMBER 30 2005 2005

Bonds and loans in liquid trading markets $11,481 $ 4,617

Loans held awaiting securitization and/or syndicatton” 4,132 759

Loans and bonds with little or no pricing transparency 36 611

High yield instraments 15,929 5,987

Credit risk hedges® (3,111) (1,473}
High yield position, net $12,818 $ 4514

correlated, such as index, basket andfor sector hedges.

U Loans held awaiting securitization and/or syndication primarily represent warehouse lending activities for cotlateratized loan obligations.

@ Credit risk hedges represent financial instruments with ofisetting risk to the same underlying counterparty, but exclude other credit and market risk mitigants which are highly

At November 30, 2006 and November 30, 2005, the largest indus-
try concentrations were 20% and 22%, respectively, categorized within
the finance and insurance industry classifications, The largest geo-
graphie concentrations at November 30, 2006 and November 30, 2005
were 53% and 65%, respectively, in the United States. We mitigate our
aggregate and single~issuer net exposure through the use of derivatives,
non-recourse financing and other financial instruments,

Non-Performing Loans We purchase non-petforming leans in the
secondary markets, primarily for the purpose of restructuring in order
to sell or securitize at a profit. Non-performing loans are carried at fair
value, with unrealized gains and losses reflected in Principal transactions
in the Consolidated Statement of Income. Non-performing loans at
November 30, 2006 and November 30, 2005 were approxamately $1.4
billion and $900 million, respectively.

Private Equity and Other Principal Investments QOur Private
Equity business operates in five major asset classes: Merchant Banking,
Reeal Estate, Venture Capital, Credit-Related Investments and Private
Funds Investments. We have raised privately-placed funds in all of these
classes, for which we act as general partner and in which we have gen-
eral and in many cases limited partner interests. In addition, we gener-
ally co-invest in the invesunents made by the funds or may make other
non-fund-related direct investments. At November 30, 2006 and 2005,
our private equity related investments totaled $2.1 billion and $1.1 bil-
lion, respectively. The teal estate industry represented the highest con-
centrations at 30% and 38% at November 30, 2006 and 2005,
respectively, and the largest single-investment was $80 million and $40
million, at those respective dates.

When we hold at least 3% of a hmited partnership interest, we
account for that interest under the equity method. We carry all other
private equity investments at fair value based on our assessment of each

underlying investment, incorporating valuations that consider expected
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cash flows, earnings multiples and/or comparisons to similar market
transactions among other factors, Valuation adjustments, which usually
involve the use of significant management estimates, are an integral part
of pricing these instruments, reflecting consideration of credit quality,
concentration risk, sale restrictions and other liquidity factors, Additional
information about our private equity and other principal investment
activities, including related commitments, can be found in Note 11 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Non-Investment Grade Interests in Securitizations We held
approximately $2.0 billion and $0.7 billion of non-investment grade
retained interests at November 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
Because these interests primarily represent the junior interests in
securitizations for which there are not active trading markets, est-
mates generally are required in determining fair value. We value
these instruments using prudent estimates of expected cash flows
and consider the valuation of similar transactions in the market. In
addition, we utilize derivatives to actively hedge a significant portion
of the risk related to these interests to limit our exposure. See Note
3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional informa-
tion about the effect of adverse changes in assumptions on the fair
value of these interests.

IDENTIFIABLE INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GDODWILL

Determining the fair values and useful lives of certain assets
acquired and liabilities assumed associated with business acquisitions—
intangible assets in particular—requires significant judgment. In addi-
ton, we are required to assess for impairment goodwill and other
intangible assets with indefinite lives at least annually using fair value
measurement techniques. Periodically estimating the fair value of a
reporting unit and intangible assets with indefinite lives involves sig-
nificant judgment and often involves the use of significant estimates and

assumptions. These estimates and assumptions could have a significant




effect on whether or not an impairment charge is recognized and the
magnitude of such a charge. We completed our last goodwill impair-
ment test as of August 31, 2006, and no impairment was identified.

SPEs

The Company is a market leader in securitization transactions,
including securitizations of residential and commercial loans, municipal
bonds and other asset backed transactions. The majority of cur securitiza-
tion transacuons are designed to be in conformity with the SEAS 140
requirements of a QSPE. Securitization transactions meeting the require-
ments of a QSPE are off-balance-sheet. The assessment of whether a
securitization vehicle meets the accounting requirements of a QSPE
requires significant judgment, particularly in evaluating whether servicing
agreements meet the conditions of permitted activities under SFAS 140
and whether or not derivatives are considered to be passive.

In addition, the evaluation of whether an entity is subject to the
requirements of FIN 46(R) as a variable interest entity (“VIE”) and

the determination of whether the Company is the primary benefi-

ciary of such VIE is a critical accounting policy that requires signifi-
cant management judgment.

LEGAL, REGULATORY AND TAX PROCEEDINGS

In the normal course of business we have been named as a
defendant in a number of lawsuits and other legal and regulatory
proceedings. Such proceedings include actions brought against us
and others with respect to transactions in which we acted as an
underwriter or financial advisor, actions arising out of our activities
as a broker or dealer in securities and commodities and actions
brought on behalf of various classes of claimants against many secu-
rities firms, including us. In addidon, our business activides are
reviewed by various taxing authorities around the world with
regard to corporate income tax rules and regulations, We provide
for potential losses that may arise out of legal, regulatory and tax
proceedings to the extent such losses are probable and can be esti-
mated. See Note 11 of the Notes w Consolidated Financial

Statements for additional information.

2-FOR-1 STOCK SPLIT

On April 5, 2006, the stockholders of Holdings approved an
increase in the Company’s authorized shares of common stock to 1.2
billion from 600 million, and the Board of Directors approved a 2-for-

1 common stock split, in the form of a stock dividend, for holders of

record as of April 18, 2006, which was paid on April 28, 2006. On April
5, 2006, the Company’s Restated Certificate of Incorporation was

amended to effect the increase in authorized common shares.

AGCCOUNTING AND REGULATORY DEVELOPMENTS

SFAS 158 In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158,
Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement
Plans (“SFAS 158”). SFAS 158 requires an employer to recognize the
over- or under-funded status of its defined benefit postretirernent plans
as an asset or lability in its Consolidated Statement of Financial
Condition, measured as the difference between the fair value of the
plan assets and the benefit obligation. For pension plans the benefit
obligation is the projected benefit obligation; for other postretirement
plans the benefit obligation is the accumulated postretirement obliga-
ton. Upon adoption, SFAS 158 requires an employer to recognize
previously unrecognized actuarial gains and losses and prior service
costs within Accumulated other comprehensive income (net of tax), a
component of Stockholders’ equity.

SFAS 158 is effective for our fiscal year ending November 30,
2007, Had we adopted SFAS 158 at November 30, 2006, we would
have reduced Accumulated other comprehensive income (net of tax)
by approximately $380 million, and recognized a pension asset of
approximately $60 million for our funded pension plans and a liability

of approximately $160 million for our unfunded pension and postre-

tirement plans. However, the actual impact of adopting SFAS 158 will
depend on the fair value of plan assets and the amount of the benefit
obligation measured as of November 30, 2007,

SFAS 157 In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157,
Fair Value Measurements (“SFAS 157”). SFAS 157 defines fair value,
establishes a framework for measuring fair value and enhances disclo-
sures about instruments carried at fair value, but does not change
existing guidance as to whether or not an instrument is carried at fair
value, SFAS 157 nullifies the guidance in EITF 02-3, which pre-
cluded the recognition of a trading profit at the inception of a
derivative contract, unless the fair value of such derivative was
obtained from a quoted market price or other valuation technique

incorporating observable market data. SFAS 157 also precludes the

‘use of a liquidity or block discount when measuring instruments

traded in an active market at fair value. SFAS 157 requires costs
related to acquiring financial instruments carried at fair value to be
included in earnings and not capitalized as part of the basis of the
instrument. SFAS 157 also clarifies that an issuer’s credit standing

should be considered when measuring liabilities at fair value.
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SFAS 157 is effecuve for our 2008 fiscal year, with eardier applica-
tion permitted for our 2007 fiscal year. SFAS 157 must be applied pro-
spectively, except that the difference between the carrying amount and
fair value of (i) a financial instrument that was traded in an active market
that was measured at fair value using a block discount and (i) a stand-
alone derivative or a hybrid instrument measured using the guidance in
EITF (2-3 on recognition of a trading profit at the inception of a
derivative, is to be applied as 2 cumulative-effect adjustrnent to opening
retained earnings on the date we initially apply SFAS 157.

We intend to adopt SFAS 157 in fiscal 2007, Upen adoption we
expect to recognize an after-tax increase to opening retained earnings as
of December 1, 2006 of approximately $70 million.

SFAS 156 In March 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 156,
Accounting for Servicng of Finandal Assets (“SFAS 156™). SFAS 156
amends SFAS 140 with respect to the accounting for separately-rec-
ognized servicing assets and liabilittes. SFAS 156 requires all sepa-
rately-recognized servicing assets and liabilities to be initially
measured at fair value, and permits companies to elect, on a class-by-
class basis, to account for servicing assets and liabilities on either a
lower of cost or market value basis or a fair value basis. I

We elected to early adopt SFAS 156 and to measure all classes of
servicing assets and liabilities at fair value beginning in our 2006 fiscal
year. Servicing assets and liabilities at November 30, 2005 and all peri-
ods prior were accounted for at the lower of amortized cost or market
value. As a result of adopting SFAS 156, we recognized an $18 mullion
after-tax ($33 million pre-tax) increase to opening retained earnings in
our 2006 fiscal year, representing the effect of remeasuring all servicing
assets and habilities that existed at November 30, 2005 from the lower
of amortized cost or market value to fair value.

See Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial étatcments,“Sccuritizations
and Other Off-Balance-Sheet Arrangements,” for additional information.

SFAS 185 We issue structured notes {also referred to as hybrid
instruments) for which the interest rates or principal pzyments are tinked
to the performance of an underying measure (including single securities,
baskets of securities, commodities, currencies, or credit events). Through
November 30, 2005, we assessed the payment components of these instru-
ments to determine if the embedded derivative required separate account-
ing under SFAS 133, Acounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities {“SFAS 133"), and if so, the embedded derivative was bifurcated
from the host debt instrument and accounted for at fair value and reported
in long-term borrowings along with the related host debt instrument
which was accounted for on an amortized cost basis.

In February 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 155, Accounting for
Certain Hybrid Finandal Instruments (“SFAS 155"). SFAS 155 permits fair
value measurement of any structured note that contains an embedded
derivative that would require bifurcation under SFAS 133. Such fair value
measurement ¢lection is permitted on an instrument-by-instrument basis.
We elected to early adopt SFAS 155 as of the beginning of our 2006 fiscal
year and we applied SFAS 155 fair value measurements to all eligible
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structured notes issued after November 30, 2005 as well as to certain eli-
gible structured notes that existed at November 30, 2005. The effect of
adoption resulted in a $24 million after—tax ($43 million pre-tax) decrease
to opening retained earnings as of the beginning of our 2006 fiscal year,
representing the difference between the fair value of these structured notes
and the prior carrying value as of November 30, 2005. The net after-tax
adjustment included structured notes with gross gains of $18 million ($32
million pre-tax) and gross losses of $42 million (§75 million pre-tax).

SFAS 123(R) In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS 123(R),
which we adopted as of the beginning of our 2006 fiscal year. SFAS
123(R) requires public companies to recognize expense in the income
statement for the grant-date fair value of awards of equity instruments to
employees, Expense is to be recognized over the period employees are
required to provide service.

SFAS 123(R) clarifies and expands the guidance in SFAS 123 in
several areas, including how to measure fair value and how to attribute
compensation cost to reporting periods. Under the modified prospective
transition methed applied in the adoption of SFAS 123(R), compensation
cost is recognized for the unamortized portion of outstanding awards
granted prior to the adoption of SFAS 123. Upon adoption of SFAS
123(R), we recognized an after-tax gain of approximately $47 million as
the cumulative effect of 1 change in accounting principle attributable to
the requirement to estimate forfeitures at the date of grant instead of ree-
ognizing them as incurred.

See “Share-Based Compensation” above and Note 15, “Share-Based
Employee Incentive Plans,” for additional information.

EITF Issue No. 04-5  In June 2005, the FASB rtified the consensus
reached in EITF lssue No. 04-5, Defermining Whether a General Partner,
or the General Partners as a Group, Controls a Limited Partnership or
Similar Entity When the Limited Pariners Have Certain Rights (“EITF
04-5"), which requires general partmers {or managing members in the
case of limited liability companies} to consolidate their partnerships or to
provide limited parmers with substantive rights to remove the general
partner or to terminate the partnership. As the general partner of numer-
ous private equity and asset management partnerships, we adopred
EITF 04-5 immediately for partnerships formed or modified after June
29, 2005. For partnerships formed on or before June 29, 2005 that have
not been modified, we are required to adopt EITF 04-5 as of the begin-~
ning of our 2007 fiscal year. The adoption of EITF 04-5 will not have a
material effect on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

FSP FIN 46(R}-6 In April 2006, the FASB issued FASB Staff
Posidon FIN 46(R)-6, Determining the Variability to Be Considered in
Applying FASB Interpretation No. 46(R} (“FSP FIN 46(R)-6"). FSP
FIN 46(R)-6 addresses how variability should be considered when
applying FIN 46(R.). Variability affects the determination of whether an
entity is a VIE, which interests are variable interests, and which party, if
any, is the primary beneficiary of the VIE required to consolidate. FSP
FIN 46(R)-6 clarifies that the design of the entity also should be con-

sidered when identifying which interests are variable interests.




We adopted FSP FIN 46(R}-6 on September 1, 2006 and applied
it prospectively to all entities in which we first became involved after
that date. Adoption of FSP FIN 46(R)-6 did not have a material effect
on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

FIN48 InJune 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretaton No, 48,
Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—an interpretation of FASB
Statement No. 109 (“FIN 487). FIN 48 clarifies the accountng for
income taxes by prescribing the minimum recognition threshold a tax
position must meet to be recognized in the financial statements. FIN 48
also provides guidance on measurement, derecognition, classification,
interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transi-
tion. We must adopt FIN 48 as of the beginning of our 2008 fiscal year.
Early application is permitted as of the beginning of our 2007 fiscal year.

We intend to adopt FIN 48 on December 1, 2007, We are evaluating
the effect of adopting FIN 48 on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

SAB 108 In September 2006, the SEC issued Staff Accounting
Bulletin No. 108, Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when
Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements (“SAB
108™). SAB 108 specifies how the carryover or reversal of prior-year
unrecorded financial statement misstatements should be considered
in quantifying a current-year misstatement, SAB 108 requires an
approach that comsiders the amount by which the current-year
Consolidated Statement of Income is misstated (*'rollover approach”)
and an approach that considers the cumulative amount by which the
current-year Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition is mis-
stated (“iron-curtain appreach™). Prior to the issuance of SAB 108,

either the rollover or iron-curtain approach was acceptable for assess-

ing the materiality of financial statement misstatements.

SAB 108 became effective for our fiscal year ended November 30,
2006. Upon adoption, SAB 108 allowed a cumulative-effect adjustment
to opening retained earnings at December 1, 2005 for prior-year mis-
statements that were not material under a prior approach but that were
material under the SAB 108 approach. Adopron of SAB 108 did not
affect our Comsclidated Financial Statements.

Consolidated Supervised Enlity In June 2004, the SEC approved a
rule establishing a voluntary framework for comprehensive, group-wide
risk management procedures and consolidated supervision of certain finan-
cial services holding companies. The framework is designed to minimize
the duplicatve regulatory burdens on U.S. securities firms resulting from
the European Union {the “EU™) Directive (2002/87/EC) concerning the
supplementary supervision of financial conglomerates active in the EU.
The rule also allows companies to use an alternative method, based on
internal risk models, to calculate net capital charges for market and deriva-
tve-related credit risk. Under this rule, the SEC will regulate the holding
company and any unregulated affiliated registered broker-dealer pursuant
to an undertaking to be provided by the holding company, including sub-
jecting the holding company to capital requirements generally consistent
with the International Convergence of Capital Measurement and Capital
Standards published by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision,

As of December 1, 2005, Holdings became regulated by the
SEC as a CSE. As such, Holdings is subject to group-wide supervi-
sion and examination by the SEC and, accordingly, we are subject to
minimum capital requirements on a consolidated basis. LBI is
approved to calculate its net capital under provisions as specified by
the applicable SEC rules. At November 30, 2006, we were in com-

pliance with minimum capital requirements.

EFFECTS OF

Because our assets are, to a large extent, liquid in nature, they are not
significantly affected by inflation. However, the rate of inflation affects
such expenses as employee compensation, office space leasing costs and

communications charges, which may not be readily recoverable in the

INFLATION

prices of services we offer. To the extent inflation results in rising interest
rates and has other adverse effects on the securities markets, it may
adversely affect our consolidated finanicial conditon and results of opera-

tions in certain businesses.
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MANAGEMENT'S ASSESSMENT OF INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The management of Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc. (the “Company”) is responsible for establishing and maintaining
adequate internal control over financial reporting, The Company’s internal control system is designed to provide reasonable
assurance to the Company’s management and Board of Directors regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of published financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. All internal
control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, even those systems determined to be
effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation.

The Company’s management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting
as of November 30, 2006. In making this assessment, it used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control—Integrated Framework. Based on our assess-
ment we believe that, as of November 30, 2006, the Company's internal control over financial reporting is effective
- based on those criteria.

The Company’s independent registered public accounting firm that audited the accompanying Consolidated ~
Financial Statements has issued an attestation report on our assessment of the Company’s internal control over financial

reporting. Their report appears on the following page.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
ON INTERNAL CONTRGL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc.

We have audited management’ assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Assessment of Internal Control
over Finandal Reporting, that Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc. {the “Company”) maintained effective internal control over
financial reporting as of November 30, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission {the COSO criteria). The Company's
management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the
effectveness of internal control over firancial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management'’s assess-
ment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
{United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audic to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the
design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in
the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control aver financial reporting includes those policies and
procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transac-
tions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2} provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as neces-
sary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that
receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3} provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent himitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent ot detect misstatemnents.
Also, projections of any cvaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inad-
equate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that the Company maintained cffective internal control over financial
reporting as of November 30, 20086, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the COSO criteria. Also, in our
opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of
November 30, 2006, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board {United
States), the consolidated statement of financial condition of the Company as of November 30, 2006 and 2005 and the
related consolidated financial statements of income, changes in stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended November 30, 2006 of the Company and our report dated February 13, 2007 expressed an

unqualified opinion thercon.

émtf MLLP |

New York, New York
February 13, 2007
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENRT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Lehman Brothers Holdings tnc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statement of financial condition of Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc.
(the “Company™) as of November 30, 2006 and 2005, and the related consolidated statements of income, changes in
stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended November 30, 2006. These financial

statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these

financial statements based on our audits, .

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audic includes examining, on a test basis, evidence support-
ing the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present faily, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc. at November 30, 2006 and 2005, and the consolidated results of its
operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended November 30, 2006, in conformity with
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
{United States}, the effectiveness of Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc’ internal control over financial reportng as of
November 30, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee

of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 13, 2007 expressed an unqual-

ified opinion thercon.

Gt ¥ MLLP

New York, New York
February 13, 2007
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME
IN MILLIONS, EXGEPT PER SHARE DATA
YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30 2008 2005 004
REVENUES
Principal transactions $ 9,802 . $ 7811 $ 5,699
Investment banking 3,160 2,894 2,188
Commissions 2,050 1,728 1,537
Interest and dividends 30,284 19,043 11,032
Asset management and other 1,413 944 794
i Total revenues 46,709 32,420 21,250
Interest expense 29,126 17,750 9,674
Net revenues 17,583 14,630 11,576
MON-INTEREST EXPENSES -~
Compensation and benefits B,669 7,213 5,730
‘Technology and communications 974 834 764
Brokerage, clearance and distribution fees 629 548 488
Occupancy 539 30 421
Professtonal fees 364 282 252
Business development n 234 211
Other 202 200 192
Total non-personnel expenses 3,009 2,588 2,328
Total non-interest expenses 11,678 9,801 8,058
Income before taxes and cumulatve effect of accounting change 5,905 4,829 3,518
Provision for income taxes 1,945 1,569 1,125
Dividends on trust preferred securities — — 24
Income before cumulative effect of accounting change 3,960 3,260 2,369
Cumulative effect of accounting change ’ ‘ 47 ‘ — —
Net income $ 4,007 $ 3,260 $ 2,369
Net income applicable to commeon stock $ 3,941 $ 3,19t § 2,297
i Eatnings per basic share:
: Before cumulative effect of accounting change I I8 ¥ $ 574 $ 418
| Cumulative effect of accounting change i 0.09 — —
' Earnings per basic share .8 126 $ 574 t 4.18
Earnings per diluted share: )
Before cumulative effect of accounting change s 673 $ 543 $ 395
Cumulative effect of accountng change - 0.08 — —_
Earnings per diluted share ~$ 6.81 $ 543 $ 3.95
Dividends paid per common share i $ 048 $ 0.40 $ 032
See Motes to Consalidated Financial Statements.
' |
|
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL CONDITION

IN MILLIONS

NOVEMBER 30 2006 2005
ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents $ 5,987 $ 4900
Cash and securities segregated and on deposit for regulatory and other purposes 6,091 5,744
Financial insruments and other inventory positions owned:

(includes $42,600 in 2006 and $36,36% in 2005 pledged as collateral) 226,596 177,438
Securites received as collateral 6,099 4,975
Collateralized agreements:

Securities purchased under agreements to resell 117,490 106,209

Securities borrowed 101,567 78,455
Receivables:

Brokers, dealers and clearing organizations 7.449 7,454

Customers . 18,470 12,887

Others 2,052 1,302
Property, equipment and leasehold improvements |

{net of accumulated depreciation and amortization of $1,925 in 2006 and $1,448 in 2005) . 3,269 2,885
Other assets : 5,i13 4,558
Identifiable intangible assets and goodwill

{net of accumulated amortization of $293 in 2006 and $257 in 2005} 3,362 3.256
Total assets §503,545 $410,063

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
{rontinued)
IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT SHARE DATA
NOVEMBER 30 2005 2005
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Short-term borrowings and current portion of long-term

borrowings (including $3,783 in 2006 and $0 in 2005 at fair value) $ 20,638 $ 11,351
Financial instruments and other inventory positions sold but not yet purchased 125,950 110,577
Obligation to return securities received as collateral 6,099 4,975
Collateralized financings:

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase 133,547 116,155

Securities loaned 17,883 13,154

Other secured borrowings 19,023 23,116
Payables: .~

Brokers, dealers and clearing organizations 2,217 1,870

Customers 41,695 32,143
Accrued liabilities and other payables 14,697 10,962
Deposits at banks 21,412 15,067
Long-term borrowings {including $11,025 in 2006 and $0 in 2005 at fair value) 81,178 53,899
Tota! liabilides 484,354 393,269
Commitnents and contingencies
STOCKROLBERS' EQUITY
Preferred stock 1,095 1,095
Common stock, $0.10 par value:

Shares authorized: 1,200,000,000 in 2006 and 2005;

Shares issued: 609,832,302 in 2006 and 605,337,946 in 2005;

Shares outstanding: 533,368,195 in 2006 and 542,874,206 in 2005 61 61
Additional paid-in capital™ 8,727 6,283
Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax (15) (16}
Retained earnings 15,857 12,198
Other stockholders’ equity, net {1,712) 765
Common stock in treasury, at cost™ 76,464,107 shares in 2006 and )

62,463,740 shares in 2005 {4,822) {3.592)
Total common stockholders’ equity 18,096 15,699
Total stockholders’ equity 19,191 16,794
Total liabilities and stockhelders’ equity $503,545 $410,063
W 2005 balances and share amounts have been refrospectivety adjusted to give effect for the 2-for-1 common stock split, effected in the form of a 100% stack dividend, whith became

effactive April 28, 2006.
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES N STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

<IN MILLIONS
YEAR ENDED NOYEMBER 30 2006 2005 2004
PREFERRED STOCK
5.94% Cumulative, Series C:
Beginning and ending balance $ 250 $ 250 $ 250
5.67% Cumulative, Series D:
Beginning and ending balance 200 200 200
7.115% Fixed/Adjustable Rate Cumulative, Series E:
Beginning balance — 250 250
Redemptions — . (250) —
Ending balance — — 250
6.50% Cumulatve, Series F:
Beginning and ending batance 345 345 345
Floating Rate (3% Minimum) Cunvatative, Series G:
Beginning balance 300 300 —
[ssuances — — 300
Ending balance 300 300 300
Total preferred stock, ending balance 1,095 1,095 1,345
COMMON STOCK, PAR YALUE $0.10 PER SHARE
Beginning balance 61 61 59
Other Issuances — — 2
Ending balance 61 61 61
ADDITIONAL PAID-IN CAPITAL :
Beginning balance 6,283 5,834 6,133
Reechass from Common Stock Issuable and Deferred ' .
Stock Compensation under SFAS 123(R} i 2,275 — -
RSUs exchanged for Cormmen S$tock ‘ G4 ! 184 135
Employee stock-based awards | ®81) | (760) (585)
Tax benefit from the issuance of stock-based awards i 8% | 1,005 468
Neuberger final purchase price adjustnent . — ! — (307)
Amortization of RSUs, net f 804 — —
Other, net ! 57 | 20 (10)
Ending balance | 8727 6,283 5,834
ACCUMULATER OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) : §
Beginning balance (6 ' (19 {16)
Translation adjustment, net™® 1 ; 3 {3
Ending balance asy | (16) (19)

@ Net of ingome taxes of $2 in 2006, $1 in 2005 and $(2) in 2004.

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS® EQUITY

{eontinued)

IN MILLIONS
YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30 2006 005 2004
RETAGKED EARNINES
Beginning balance $12,198 $ 9,240 $ 7,129
Cumulative effect of accounting changes (6} — —
Net income 4,007 3,260 2,369
Dividends declared:
5.94% Cumulative, Series C Preferred Stock {15) (15) {15)
5.67% Cumulative, Series D Preferred Stock (11) {11) (11)
7.115% Fixed/Adjustable Rate Cumulative, Series E Preferred Stock — ] (18)
6.50% Cumulative, Series F Preferred Stock (22) {22) 23)
Floating Rate (3% Minimum) Cumulative, Series G Preferred Stock (18) {12 (5)
Common Stock {276) (233) {186}
Ending balance 15,857 12,198 9,240
COMMON STOCK ISSUABLE
Beginning balance 4,548 3874 3,353
Reclus to Additional Paid-In Capital under SFAS 123(R) {4,548) — —
RSUs exchanged for Common Stock —_ {832) (585)
Deferred stock awards granted - 1,574 1,182
Other, net — (68) (76)
Ending balance - 4,548 3874
COMMOX STBEX HELD IN RSU TRUST
Beginning balance 1,510 (1,353) {852)
Employee stock-based awards {755) (676) (876)
RSUs exchanged for Common Stock 587 549 40t
Other, net (34) (30 (26)
Ending balance (1,712) (1,510) {1,353)
DEFERRED SYOCK COMPENSATION
Beginning balance (2,273) (1,780) (1,470)
Reclass 1o Additional Paid-In Capital under SFAS 123{R) 2,273 —_ —
Deferred stock awards granted —_ {1,574) (1,182)
Amortization of RSUs, net - 988 773
Other, net -—— 93 99
Ending balance — 2,273 (1,780)
COMMON STOCK % TREASURY, AT COST
Beginning balance (3.592) (2,282} (2,208)
Repurchases of Common Stock (2,678) {2,994) (1,693)
Shares reacquired from employee transactions {1,003) {1,163) (574)
RSUs exchanged for Common Stock 60 9 49
Employee stock-based awards 2,391 2,748 2,144
Ending balance (4,822) {3,592) (2.282)
Total stockhelders equity $19,191 $16,794 §$14,920

See Noles to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

IN MILLIONS
YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30 008 2005 2004
CASK FLOWS FROM DPERATING ACTIVITIES
N
Net income ’ $ 4,007 $ 3,260 3 2369
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 514 426 428
Deferred tax benefit (60} (502) 74
Tax benefit from the issuance of stock-based awards - 1,005 468
Nent-cash compensation 1,706 1,055 800
Cumulative effect of accounting change “n — —
Other adjustments 3 173 104
Net change in’
Cash and securities segregated and on deposit for regulatory and other purposes (347) (1,659) (985}
Financial instruments and other inventory positions owned (46,102) (36,652) (8,936)
Resale agreements, net of repurchase agreements 6,111 475) (9,467}
Securities borrowed, net of securities loaned (18,183) (5,165) (22,728}
Other secured borrowings (4,088) 11,495 (2,923)
Reeccivables from brokers, dealers and clearing organizations 5 {4,054) 1,475
R.eceivables from customers {5,583) 354 (4.432)
Financial instruments and other inventory positions seld but not yet purchascd 15,224 14,156 23471
Payables 10 brokers, dealets and clearing organizations 347 165 (1,362)
Payables to customers 9,552 4,669 8,072
Accrued liabilities and other payables 2,032 {801) 520
Other receivables and assets {1,267) 345 (370}
Net cash used in operating acuvities (36,376) (12,205) (13,570}
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, equipment and leasehold improvements, net (586) {409) (401)
Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired (206) (38) {130}
Net cash used in investing acovities (792) {447) (531)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Derivative contracts with a financing element . . 159 140 334
Tax benefit from the issuance of stock-based awards 836 — —
Isstiance of short-term borrowings, net 4,819 84 526
Deposits at banks 6,345 4,717 2,086
Issuance of long-term borrowings 48,115 23,705 20,485
Principal payments of long-term borrowings, including the current portion of long-term borrowings (19,636) (14,233) (10,820}
Issuance of common stock 119 230 108
[ssuance of treasury stock : 518 1,015 551
Purchase of treasury stock (2,678) (2.994) {1,693)
{Retirement) issuance of preferred stock — (250) 300
Dividends paid (342) (302) (258)
Net cash provided by financing activities 38,255 12,112 11,619
Net change in cash and cash equivalents 1,087 {540) {2,482)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 4,900 5,440 7,922
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 5,987 $ 4900 § 5440

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW IXFORMATION (IN MILLIONS):

{nterest paid totaled $28,684, $17,893 and $9,534 in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively,

Income taxes paid totaled $1,037, $789 and $638 in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

See Notes to Consotidated Financial Statements,

Lehman Brothers 2006
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS




T3S 10 BOCSOLINGTED

e

- INANC T ISTATEM ENIS




78

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

BESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc. ("Holdings™) and subsidiaries (col-
lectively, the “Company,” “Lehman Brothers,” “we,” “us” or “our”) is one
of the leading global investment banks serving institutional, corporate,
government and high-net-worth individual clients. Our worldwide
headquarters in New York and regional headquarters in London and
Tokyo are complemented by offices in additional locations in North
America, Europe, the Middle East, Latin America and the Asia Pacific
region. We are engaged primarily in providing financial services. The
principal U.S., European, and Asian subsidiaries of Holdings are Lehman
Brothers Inc. ("LBI"), a U.S. registered broker-dealer, Lehman Brothers
International (Europe) (“LBIE”) and Lehman Brothers Europe Limited,
authorized investment firms in the United Kingdom, and Lehman
Brothers Japan (“LBJ]™), a registered securities company in Japan.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared in conformity
with US. generally accepted accounting principles and include the
accounts of Holdings, our subsidiaries, and all other entities in which we
have a controlling financial interest or are considered to be the primary
beneficiary. All material intercompany accounts and transactions have
been eliminated upon consolidation. Certain prior-period amounts
reflect reclassificatons o conform to the current year’s presentation.

On April 5, 2006, the stockholders of Holdings approved an increase
of its authorized shares of common stock to 1.2 billion from 600 million,
and the Board of Directors approved a 2-for-1 common stock split, in the
form of a stock dividend, that was effected on April 28, 2006. All share and
per share amounts have been retospectively adjusted for the increase in
authorized shares and the stock split. See Note 14, “Earnings per Share.”
and Note 15,*Share-Based Employee Incentive Plans,” to the Consolidated
Financial Statements for additional information about the stock split.

USE OF ESTIMATES

Genenally accepted accounting principles require management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the
Consolidated Financial Statements and accompanying Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements. Management estimates are required
in determining the fair value of certain inventory positions, particularly
over-the-counter (“CTC") derivatives, certain commercial mortgage
loans and investments in real estate, certain non-performing loans and
high-yield positions, private equity investments, and non-investment
grade interests in securitizations. Additionally, significant management
estimates or judgment are required in assessing the realizability of
deferred tax assets, the fair value of equiry-based compensation awards,
the fair value of assets and liabilities acquired in business acquisitions, the
accounting treatment of qualifying special purpose entities (“QSPEs")
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and wvariable interest entities (“VIEs"} and provisions associated with
lingation, regulatory and tax proceedings. Management believes the
estimates used in preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements are
reasonable and prudent. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

CONSOLIDATION ACCOUNTING POLIGIES

Operating Companies Financial Accounting Standards Board
(“FASB") Interpretation No.46 (revised December 2003}, Consolidation
of Variable Interest Entities——an interpretation of ARB No. 51 (“FIN
46(R)"), defines the criteria necessary for an entity to be considered
an operating company (i.e., a voting-interest entity) for which the
consolidation accounting guidance of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (“SFAS™) No. 94, Consolidation of All Majority-
Owned Subsidiaries (“SFAS 94”) should be applied. As required by
SFAS 94, we consolidate operating companies in which we have a
controlling financial interest. The usual condition for a controlling
financial interest is ownership of a majority of the voting interest. FIN
46(R} defines operating companies as businesses that have sufficient
legal equity to absorb the entities’ expected losses and for which the
equity holders have substantive voting rights and participate substan-
tively in the gains and losses of such entities. Operating companies in
which we exercise significant influence but do not have a controlling
financial interest are accounted for under the equity method.
Significant influence generally is considered to exist when we own
20% to 50% of the voting equity of a corporation, or when we hold at
least 3% of a limited partmership interest. '

Special Purpose Entities Special purpose entities ("SPEs") are
corporations, trusts or partmerships that are established for a limived
purpose. SPEs by their nature generally do not provide equity owners
with significant voting powers because the SPE documents govern all
material decisions. There are two types of SPEs: QSPEs and VIEs.

A QSPE generally can be described as an entity whose permitted
activities are limited to passively holding financial assets and distributing
cash flows to investors based on pre-set terms. Our primary involvement
with QSPEs relates to securitization transactons in which wansferred
assets, including mortgages, loans, receivables and other assets are sold to
an SPE that qualifies as a QSPE under SFAS No. 140, Accounting for
‘Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities
("SFAS 140™). In accordance with SFAS 140, we do not consolidate
QSPEs. Rather, we recognize only the interests in the QSPEs we con-
tinue to hold, if any. We account for such interests at fair value.

Certain SPEs do not meet the QSPE criteria because their permit-
ted activities are not sufficiently limited or because their assets are not
qualifying financial instruments (e.g., real estate). Such SPEs are referred

to as VIEs and we typically use them to create securities with a unique




risk profile desired by investors as a means of intermediating financial
risk or to make an investment in real estate. [n the normal course of
business we may establish VIEs, sell assets to VIEs, underwrite, distribute,
and make a market in securities issued by VIEs, transact derivatives with
VIEs, own interests in VIEs, and provide liquidity or other guarantees to
VIEs. Under FIN 46(R), we are required to consolidate a VIE if we are
the primary beneficiary of such entity. The primary beneficiary is the
party that has a majority of the expected losses or a majority of the
expected residual returns, or both, of such entity.

For a further discusston of our securitizaton activities and our
involvement with VIEs, see Note 3, “Securitizations and Other Off-
Balance-Sheet Arrangements,” to the Consolidated Financial Statements,

REVENUE RECOGNITION POLIGIES

Principal Transactions Financial instruments classified as Financial
instruments and other inventory positions owned and Financial instru-
ments and other inventory positions sold but not yet purchased (both of
which are recorded on a trade-date basis) are valued at market or fair
value, as appropriate, with unrealized gains and losses reflected in
Principal transactions in the Consolidated Statement of Income.

Investment Banking Underwriting revenues, net of related
underwriting expenses, and revenues for merger and acquisition advi-
sory and other investment-banking-related services are recognized
when services for the transactions are completed. Direct costs associated
with advisory services are recorded as non-personnel expenses, net of
client reimbursements.

Commissions Commissions primarily include fees from execut-
ing and clearing client transactions on stocks, options and futures mar-
kets worldwide, These fees are recognized on a trade-date basis.

Interest and Dividends Revenue and Interest Expense We recog-
nize contractual interest on Financial instruments and other inventory
positions owned and Financial instruments and other inventory posi-
tions sold but not yet purchased on an accrual basis as a component of
Interest and dividends revenue and Interest expense, respectively. Interest
flows on derivative transactions are included as part of the mark-to-mar-
ket valuation of these contracts in Principal transactions and are not
recognized as a component of interest revenue or expense. We account
for our secured financing activities and certain short- and long-term
borrowings on an accrual basis with related interest recorded as interest
revenue or interest expense, as applicable. Included in short- and long-
term borrowings are structured notes (also referred to as hybrid instru-
ments) for which the coupon and principal payments may be linked to
the performance of an underlying measure (including single securities,
baskets of securides, commodities, currencies, interest rates or credit
events). Beginning with our adoption of SFAS 155 (as defined below) in
the first quarter of our 2006 fiscal year, we account for all structured

notes issued after November 30, 2005, as well as certain structured notes

that existed at November 30, 2005, that contain an embedded derivadve
that would require bifurcation under SFAS 133 (as defined below) at fair

value with stated interest coupons recorded as interest expense.

Asset Management and Other Investment advisory fees are
recorded as earned. Generally, high-net-worth and institutional clients
are charged or billed quarterly based on the account’s net asset value.
Investment advisory and administrative fees earned from our mutual
fund business (the “Funds™) are charged monthly to the Funds based on
average daily net assets under management. In certain circumstances, we
receive asset management incentive fees when the return on assets
under management exceeds specified benchmarks. Incentive fees are
generally based on investment performance over i twelve-month
period and are not subject to adjustment after the measurement period
ends. Accordingly, incentive fees are recognized when the measurernent
period ends. We also receive private equity incentive fees when the
returns on certain private equity funds’ investments exceed specified
threshold returns. Private equity incentive fees typically are based on
investment periods in excess of one year, and future investment under-
performance could require amounts previously distributed to us to be
returned to the funds. Accordingly, these incentive fees are recognized
when all material contingencies have been substantially resolved.

FINANGIAL INSTRUMENTS AND OTHER INVENTORY POSITIONS

Financial instruments classified as Financial instruments and other
inventory positions owned, including loans, and Financial instruments
and other inventory positions sold but not yet purchased are recognized
on a trade-date basis and are carried at market or fair value, with unre-
alized gains and losses reflected in Principal transactions in the
Consolidated Statement of Income. Lending and other commitments
also are recorded at fair value, with unrealized gains or losses recognized
in Principal transactions in the Consolidated Statement of Income.
Mortgage loans are recorded at market or fair value, with third party
costs of originating or acquiring mortgage loans capitalized as part of
the initial carrying value.

We follow the American Institute of Certified Public- Accountants
(“AICPA™} Audit and Accounting Guide, Brokers and Dealers in Securities
(the “Guide™) when determining market or fair value for financial instru-
ments, Market value generally is determined based on listed prices or
broker quotes. In certain instances, price quotations may be considered to
be unreliable when the instruments are thinly traded or when we hold a

substantial block of a particular security and the listed price is not consid-

ered to be readily realizable. In accordance with the Guide, in these -

instances we determine fair value based on management’s best estimate,
giving appropriate consideration to reported prices and the extent of
public trading in similar securities, the discount from the listed price asso-
ciated with the cost at the date of acquisition, and the size of the position
held in relation to the liquidity in the market, among other factors. When
listed prices or broker quotes are not available, we determine fair value
based on pricing models or other valuation techniques, including the use
of implied pricing from similar instruments. We typically use pricing mod-
¢ls to derive fair value based on the net present value of estimated future
cash flows including adjustments, when appropriate, for Liquidity, credit
and/or other factors. We account for real estate positions held for sale at
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the lower of cost or fair value with gains or losses recognized in Principal
transactions in the Consolidated Statement of Income.

All firm-owned securities pledged to counterparties that have the
right, by contract or custom, to sell or repledge the securities are classi-
fied as Financial instruments and other inventory positions owned, and
are disclosed as pledged as collateral, as required by SFAS 140.

See “Accounting and Regulastory Developments—SFAS 1577
below for a discussion of how our planned adoption of SFAS No. 157,
Fair Value Measurements (“SFAS 157"} on December 1, 2006 will affect
our policies for determining the fair value of financial instruments.

Derivative Financial Instruments Derivatives are financial instru-
ments whose value is based on an underlying asset {e.g., Treasury bond),
index (e.g., S&P 500} or reference rate (e.g., LIBOR), and include
futures, forwards, swaps, option contracts, or other financial instruments
with similar characteristics. A derivative contract generally represents a
future commitment to exchange interest payment streams or currencies
based on the contract or notional amount or to purchase or sell other
financial instruments or physical assets at specified terms on a specified
date. OTC derivative products are privately-negotiated contractual
agreements that can be wilored to meet individual client needs and
include forwards, swaps and certain options including caps, collars and
floors. Exchange-traded derivative products are standardized contracts
transacted through regulated exchanges and include futures and certain
option contracts listed on an exchange.

Derivatives are recorded at market or fair value in the Consolidated
Statement of Financial Condition on a net-by-counterparty basis
when a legal right of offset exists, and are netted across products when
these provisions are stated in a master netting agreement, Cash collar-
eral reccived or paid is netted on a counterparty basis, provided legal
right of offset exists. Derivatives often are referred to as off-balance-
sheet instruments because neither their notional amounts nor the
underlying instruments are reflected as assets or liabilities of the
Company. Instead, the market or fair values related to the derivative
transactions are reported in the Consolidated Statement of Financial
Condition as assets or labilities, in Derivaaves and other contractual
agreements, as applicable. Margin on futures contracts is included in
receivables and payables from/to brokers, dealers and clearing organi-
zations, as applicable. Changes in fair values of derivatives are recorded
in Principal transactions in the Consolidated Statement of Income.
Market or fair value generally is determined either by quoted market
prices (for exchange-traded futures and options) or pricing models (for
swaps, forwards and options). Pricing models use a series of market
inputs to determine the present value of future cash flows with adjust-
ments, as required, for credit risk and liquidity risk. Credit-related
valuation adjustments incorporate historical experience and estimates
of expected losses. Additional valuation adjustments may be recorded,
as considered appropriate, for new or complex products or for posi-
tions with significant concentrations. These adjustments are integral

components of the mark-to-market process.
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We follow Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF} Issue No. 02-3,
Issues Involved in Accounting for Derivative Contracts Held for Trading
Purposes and Contracts Involved in Energy Tiading and Risk Management
Activities (“EITF 02-3") when determining the fair value of our
derivative contracts. Under EITF 02-3, recognition of a trading profit
at inception of a derivative transaction is prohibited unless the fair value
of that derivative is obtained from a quoted market price, supported by
comparison to other observable market transactions or based on a valu-
ation technique incorporating observable market data. Subsequent to
the transaction date, we recognize trading profits deferred at inception
of the derivative transaction in the period in which the valuation of
such instrument becomes observable.

As an end-user, we primarily use derivatives to modify the interest
rate characteristics of our short- and long-term debt and certain
secured financing activites. We also use equity, commedity, foreign
exchange and credit derivatives to hedge our cxposure 1o market price
risk embedded in certain structured debt obligations, and foreign ~
exchange contracts to manage the currency exposure related to our net
invesunenss in non~U.S. dollar funcdonal currency subsidiaries {(col-
lectively, “End-User Derivative Activides™).

We use fair value hedges primarily to convert a substantial portion
of our fixed-rate debt and certain long-term secured financing activites
to floating interest rates. In these hedging relationships, the derivative
and the hedged item are separately marked to market through earnings.
The hedge ineffectiveness in these relationships is recorded in Interest
expense in the Consolidated Statement of Income. Gains or losses from
revaluing foreign exchange contracts associated with hedging our net
investments in non-U.S. dollar functional currency subsidiaries are
reported within Accumulated other comprehensive income (net of tax}
in Stockholders’ equity. Unrealized receivables/payables resulting from
the mark to market of End-User Derivatives are included in Financial
instruments and other inventory positions owned or Financial instru-
ments and other inventory positions sold but not yet purchased.

Private Equity Investments When we hold at least 3% of a lim-
ited partnership interest, we account for that interest under the equity
method. We carry all other private equity investments at fair value.
Certain of our private equity positions are less liquid and may contain
trading restrictions. Fair value is determined based on our assessment
of the underlying investments incorporating valvations that consider
expected cash flows, earnings multiples and/or comparisons to similar
market transactions, among other factors. Valuation adjustments
reflecting consideration of credit quality, concentration risk, sales
restrictions and other liquidity factors are an integral part of pricing
these nstruments,

Securitization Activities In accordance with SFAS 140, we tec-
ognize transfers of financial assets as sales, provided control has been
relinquished. Control is considered to be relinquished only when all of
the following conditions have been met: (i) the assets have been isolated

from the transferor, even in bankruptcy or other receivership (truc-sale




opinions are required); (i) the transferce has the right to pledge or
exchange the assets received; and (i) the transferor has not mainuined
effective control over the transferred assets {e.g., a unilateral ability to
repurchase a unique or specific asset).

SECURITIES RECEIVED AS COLLATERAL AND OBLIGATION TO

RETURN SECURITIES RECEIVED AS COLLATERAL

When we act as the lender of securities in a securities-lending
agreement and we receive sccuritics that can be pledged or sold as col-
lateral, we recognize in the Consolidated Statement of Financial
Condition an asset, representing the securities received (Securities
received as collateral) and a liability, representing the obligation to return
those securities {Obligation to return securities received as collateral).

SECURED FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Repurchase and Resale Agreements Securities purchased under
agreements to resell and Securities sold under agreements to repurchase,
which are treated as financing transactions for financial reperting pur-
poses, are collateralized primarily by government and government
agency securities and are carried net by counterparty, when permitted,
at the amounts at which the securitics subsequently will be resold or
repurchased plus accrued interest. It is our policy to take possession of
securities purchased under agreements to tesell. We compare the market
value of the underlying positions on a daily basis with the related receiv-
able or payable balances, including accrued interest. We require counter-
parties to deposit additional coliaterai or return collateral pledged, as
necessary, to ensure the market value of the underlying collateral remuains
sufficient. Financial instruments and other inventory positions owned
that are financed under repurchase agreements are carried at market
value, with unrealized gains and losses reflected in Principal transactions
in the Consolidated Statement of Income.

We use interest rate swaps as an end-user to modify the interest
rate exposure associated with certain fixed-rate resale and repurchase
agreements. We adjust the carrying value of these secured financing
transactions that have been designated as the hedged item.

Securities Borrowed and Securities Loaned Securities borrowed
and securities loaned are carried at the amount of cash collateral advanced
or received plus accrued interest. It is our policy to value the securities
borrowed and loaned on a daily basis and to obtain additional cash as
necessary to ensure such transactions are adequately collateralized.

Other Secured Borrowings Other secured borrowings principally
reflects non-recourse financings and are recorded at contractual
amounts plus accrued interest.

LONG-LIVED ASSETS

Property, equipment and leasehold improvements are recorded at
historical cost, net of accumulated deprecation and amortzation.
Depreciation is recognized using the straight-line method over the esti-
mated usefut lives of the assets. Buildings are depreciated up to a maxi-
mum of 40 years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the lesser
of their useful lives or the terms of the underlying leases, which range up

to 30 years. Equipment, furniture and fixtures are depreciated over periods

of up to 10 years. Internai-use software that qualifies for capitalization
under AICPA Statement of Position 98-1, Acounting for the Costs of
Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use, is capitalized
and subsequently amortized over the estimated useful life of the software,
generally three years, with a maximum of seven years. We review long-
lived assets for impairment periodically and whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate the carrying amounts of the assets may be
impaired. If the expected future undiscounted cash flows are less than the
carrying amount of the asset, an impairment loss is recognized to the
extent the carrying value of such asset exceeds its fair value.

IDENTIFIABLE INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL

Identiftable intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over
their expected useful lives, which rangc.up to 15 years. Identifiable
intangible assets with indefinite lives and goodwill are not amortized.
Instead, these assets are evaluated at least annually for impairment.
Goodwill is reduced upon the recognition of certain acquired net oper-
ating loss carryforward benefits.

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

On December 1, 2003, we adopted the fair value recognition provi-
sions of SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, as
amended by SFAS No. 148, Acounting for Stock-Based Compensation—
Transition and Disclosure, an amendment of FASB Statement No. 123
(“SFAS 123™) using the prospective adoption method. Under this method
of adoption, compensation expense was recognized over the related ser-
vice periods based on the fair value of stock options and restricted stock
units {“RSUs"} granted for fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2005. Under SFAS 123,
stock options granted in periods prior to fiscal 2004 continued to be

accounted for under the intrinsic value method prescribed by Accounting

 Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to

Empioyees (“APB 257). Accordingly, under SFAS 123 no compensation
expense was recognized for stock option awards granted prior to fiscal
2004 because the exercise price equaled or exceeded the market value of
out common stock on the grant date.

On December 1, 2005, we adopted SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004),
Share-Based Payment (“SFAS 123(R}”) using the modified-prospective
transition method. Under this transiion method, compensation cost rec-
ognized during fiscal 2006 includes: (a) compensation cost for all share-
based awards granted prior to, but not yet vested as of, December 1, 2005,
(including pre-fiscal-2004 options) based on the grant-date fair value and
related service period estimates in accordance with the original provisions
of SFAS 123;and (b) compensation cost for all share-based awards granted
subsequent to December 1, 2005, based on the grant-date fair value and
related service periods esimated in accordance with the provisions of
SFAS 123(R). Under the provisions of the modified-prospective transition
method, results for fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2004 were not restated.

SFAS 123(R) clarifies and expands the guidance in SFAS 123 in
several areas, including how to measure fair value and how to attribute
compensation cost to reporting periods. Changes to the SFAS 123 fair

value measurement and service period provisions prescribed by SFAS
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123(R) include requirements to: (1) estimate forfeitures of share-based
awards at the date of grant, rather than recognizing forfeitures as incurred
as was permitted by SFAS 123; (b) expense share-based awards granted to
retirement-elipible employees and those employees with non-substantive
non-compete agreements immediately, while our accounting practice
under SFAS 123 was to recognize such costs over the stated service peri-
ods; {c} attrtbute compensation costs of share-based awards to the future
vesting periods, while our accounting practice under SFAS 123 included
a partial attribution of compensation costs of share-based awards to ser-
vices performed during the year of grant; and (d) recognize compensation
costs of all share-based awards (including amortizing pre-fiscal-2004
options) based on the grant-date fair value, rather than our accounting
methodology under SFAS 123 which recognized pre-fiscal-2004 option
awards based on their inwinsic value,

" Prior to adopting SFAS 123(R) we presented the cash flows related
to income tax deductions in excess of the compensation cost recognized
on stock issued under RSUs and stock options exercised during the
period {“excess tax benefits”) as operating cash flows in the Consolidated
Statemnent of Cash Flows. SFAS 123({R} requires excess tax benefits to be
classified as financing cash flows. In addition, as a result of adopting SFAS
123(R), certain balance sheet amounts associated with share-based com-
pensation costs have been reclassified within the equity section of the
balance sheet. This change in presentation had no effect on our total
equity. Effective December 1, 2005, Deferred stock compensation (repre-
senting unearned costs of RSU awards) and Common stock issuable are
presented on a net basis as 2 component of Additional paid-in capital. See
“Accounting and Regularory Developments—SFAS 123(R)” below for
a further discussion of SFAS 123(R) and the cumulative effect of this
accounting change recognized in fiscal 2006.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

We compute earnings per share (“EPS”) in accordance with SFAS
No. 128, Earnings per Share. Basic EPS is computed by dividing net income
applicable to common stock by the weighted-average number of com-
mon shares outstanding, which includes RSUs for which service has been
provided. Diluted EPS includes the components of basic EPS and also
includes the dilutive effects of RSUs for which service has not yet been
pravided and employee stock options. See Note 14, “Earnings per Share”
and Note 15, Share-Based Employee Incentive Plans,” to the Consolidated
Financial Statements for additional information about EPS.

INCOME TAXES

We account for income taxes in accordance with SFAS No. 109,
Accounting for Income Taxes. We recognize the current and deferred tax con-
sequences of all transactions that have been recognized in the financial
statements using the provisiots of the enacted tax ks, Deferred tax assets
are recognized for temporary differences that will result in deductible
amounts in future years and for tax loss carry-forwards. We record a valua-
tion allowance to reduce deferred tax assets to an amount that more ]ikely
than not will be realized. Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for tempo-
rary differences that will result in taxable income in future years. Contingent
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liabilides related to income taxes ate recorded when probable and reason-
ably estimable in accordance with SFAS No. 5, Aaounting for Contingendies.

See “Accounting and Regulatory Developments—FIN 48" below
for a discussion of FIN 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—
an interpretation of FASE Statement No. 109 (“FIN 487},

GASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash equivalents include highly liquid investments not held for
resale with maturities of three months or less when we acquire them.

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

Assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries having non—U.S. dollar
functional currencies are translated at exchange rates at the Consolidated
Statement of Financial Condition date. Revenues and expenses are
translated at average exchange rates during the period. The gains or
losses resulting from translating foreign currency financial statements
into U.S. dollars, net of hedging gains or losses, are included in
Accuenulated other comprehensive income (net of tax), a component of
Stockholders’ equity. Gains or losses resulting from foreign currency ’
transactions are included in the Consolidated Statement of Income.

ACCOUNTING AND REGULATORY DEVELOPMENTS

SFAS 158 In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158,
Employers’ Acounting for Defined Bengfit Pension and Other Postretirement
Plans ("SFAS 1587). SFAS 158 requires an employer to recopnize the
over- or under-funded status of its defined benefit postretirement plans as
an assct or liability in its Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition,
meeasured as the difference between the fair value of the plan assets and the
benefit obligation. For pension plans the benefit obligation is the pro-
jected benefit obligation; for other postretirement plans the benefit obliga-
tion is the accumulated post-retirement obligation. Upon adoption, SFAS
158 requires an employer to recognize previously unrecognized actuarial
gains and Josses and prior service costs within Accurnulated other com-
prehensive income (net of tax), a component of Stockholders’ equity. -

SFAS 158 is effecuve for our fiscal year ending November 30,
2007. Had we adopted SFAS 158 at November 30, 2006, we would
have reduced Accumulated other comprehensive income (net of tax) by
approximately $380 million, and recognized a pension asset of approxi-
mately $60 million for pur funded pension plans and 2 liability of
approximately $160 million for our unfunded pension and postretire-
ment plans, However, the actual impact of adopting SFAS 158 will
depend on the fair value of plan assets and the amount of the benefit
obligation measured as of November 30, 2007.

SFAS 157 In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS 157, which
defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and
enhances disclosures about instruments carried at fair value, but does not
change existing guidance as to whether or not an instrument Is carried at
fair value. SFAS 157 nullifies the guidance in EITF (2-3 which precluded
the recognition of a trading profit at the inception of a derivative contract,
unless the fair value of such derivative was obtained from a quoted market
price or other valuation technique incorporating observable market data.

SFAS 157 also precludes the use of a liquidity or block discount when




measuring instruments traded in an active market at fair value. SFAS 157
requires costs related to acquiring financial instruments carried at fair
value to be included in earnings and not capitalized as part of the basis of
the instrument. SFAS 157 also clarifies that an issuers credit standing
should be considered when measuring liabilides at fair value.

SFAS 157 is effective for our 2008 fiscal year, with earlier applica-
tion permitted for our 2007 fiscal year. SFAS 157 must be applied
prospectively, except that the difference between the carrying amount
and fair value of (i) a financial instrument that was traded in an active
market that was measured at fair value using a block discount and (i) a
stand-alone derivative or a hybrid instrument measured using the guid-
ance in EITF 02-3 on recognition of a trading profit at the inception
of a derivative, is to be applied as a cumulative-effect adjustment to
opening retained earnings on the date we initally apply SFAS 157,

We intend to adopt SFAS 157 in fiscal 2007. Upon adoption we
expect to recognize an after-tax increase to opening retained earnings
as of December 1, 2006 of approximately $70 million.

SFAS 156  In March 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 156, Aaounting
Jor Servicing of Financial Assets (“SFAS 1567). SFAS 156 amends SFAS 140
with respect to the accounting for separately-recognized servicing assets and
lizbilies. SFAS 156 requires all separately-recognized servicing assets and
liabilities to be initially measured at fair value, and permits companies to
elect, on a class-by-class basis, to account for setvicing assets and Liabilities on
either a lower of cost or market value basis or a fair value basis.

We elected to early adopt SFAS 156 and to measure all classes of
servicing assets and liabilities at fair value beginning in our 2006 fiscal
year. Servicing assets and liabilities at November 30, 2005 and all periods
prior were accounted for at the lower of amortized cost or market value.
As a result of adopting SFAS 156, we recognized an $18 million after-tax
($33 million pre-tax} increase to opening retained earnings in our 2006
fiscal year, representing the effect of remeasuring all servicing assets and
labilities that existed at November 30, 2005 from the lower of amor-
tized cost or market value to fair value.

See Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements,
“Securitizations and Other Off-Balance-Sheet Arrangements,” for
additional information.

SFAS 155 We issue structured notes {also referred to as hybrid
instruments) for which the interest rates or principal payments are linked
to the performance of an underlying measure (including single securities,
baskets of securities, commodities, currencics, or credit events), Through
November 30, 2005, we assessed the payment components of these
instruments to determine if the embedded derivative required separate
accounting under SFAS 133, Acounting for Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities {“SFAS 133™), and if so, the embedded derivative was
bifurcated from the host debt instrument and accounted for at fair value
and reported in long-term borrowings along with the related host debt
instrument which was accounted for on an amortized cost basis.

In February 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 155, Accounting for
Certain Hybrid Finandal Instruments (“SFAS 1557), SFAS 155 permits fair

value measurement of any structured note that contains an embedded
derivative that would require bifurcation under SFAS 133. Such fair value
measurement election is permitted on an instrument-by-instrument basis.
We elected to early adopt SFAS 155 as of the beginning of our 2006 fiscal
year and we applied SFAS 155 fair value measurements to all eligible
structured notes issued after November 30, 2005 as well as to certain eli-
gible structured notes that existed at November 30, 2005. The effect of
adoption resulted in a $24 million after-tax ($43 million pre-tax) decrease
to opening retained earnings as of the beginning of our 2006 fiscal year,
representing the difference between the fair value of these stnuctured notes
and the prior carrying value as of November 30, 2005. The net after-tax
adjustment included structured notes with gross gains of $18 million ($32
million pre-tax} and gross losses of $42 million ($75 million pre-tax).

SFAS 123(R) In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS 123(R),
which we adopted as of the beginning of our 2006 fiscal year. SFAS
123(R) requires public companies to recognize expense in the income
statement for the grant-date fair value of awards of equity instruments
to employees. Expense is to be recognized over the period employees
are required to provide service.

SFAS 123(R) clarifies and expands the guidance in SFAS 123 in
several areas, including how to measure fair value and how to attribute
compensation cost to reporting periods, Under the modified prospective
transition method applied in the adoption of SFAS 123(R)}, compensa-
ton cost is recognized for the unamortized portion of outstanding
awards granted prior to the adoptien of SFAS 123. Upon adoption of
SEAS 123(R), we recognized an after-tax gain of approximately $47
million as the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle
attributable to the requirement to estimate forfeitures at the date of grant
instead of recognizing them as incurred.

See “Share-Based Compensation” above and Note 15, “Share-
Based Employee Incentve Plans,” for additional information.

EITF Issue No. D4-5  In June 2005, the FASB ratified the consensus
reached in EITF Issue No. 04-5, Determining Whether ¢ Ceneral Partner, or
the General Pariners as @ Group, Controls a Limited Partnership or Similar
Entity When the Limited Partners Have Certain Rights {“EITF 04-5"),
which requires general partmers {or managing members in the case of
limited Liability companies) to consolidate their partnerships or to pro-
vide limited parmel:s with substantive rights to remove the general
partner or to terminate the partnership. As the general parter of numer-
ous private equity and asset management pattnerships, we adopted EITF
04-5 immediately for parmerships formed or modified after June 29,
2005. For parmerships formed on or before June 29, 2005 that have not
been modified, we are required to adopt EITF 04-5 as of the beginning
of our 2007 fiscal year. The adoption of EITF 04-5 will not have a mate-
rial effect on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

FSP FIN 46(R)}-6 In April 2006, the FASB issued FASB Staff
Position FIN 46{R)-6, Determining the Variability to Be Considered in
Applying FASB Interpretation No. 46(R) {“FSP FIN 46(R}-6"). FSP FIN
46(R)-6 addresses how variability should be considered when applying
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FIN 46(R). Variability affects the determination of whether an endry is
a VIE, which interests are variable interests, and which party, if any, is
the primary beneficiary of the VIE required to consolidate. FSP FIN
46{R)-6 clarifies that the design of the entty also should be considered
when identifying which interests are variable interests.

We adopted FSP FIN 46(R}-6 on September 1, 2006 and
applied it prospectively to all entities in which we first became
involved after that date. Adoption of FSP FIN 46(R)-6 did not have a
material effect on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

FIN 48 In June 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No.
48, Accaunting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—an interpretation of FASB
Statement No. 109 (“FIN 487}, FIN 48 clarifies the accounting {or income
taxes by prescribing the minimum recognition threshold a tax position
must meet to be recognized in the financial statements. FIN 48 also pro-
vides guidance on measurement, derecognition, classification, interest and
penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition. We
must adopt FIN 48 as of the beginning of our 2008 fiscal year. Early
application is permitted as of the beginning of our 2007 fiscal year.

We intend to adopt FIN 48 on December i, 2007. We arc
evaluating the effect of adopung FIN 48 on our Consolidated

Financial Statements,

SAB 108 In September 2006, the Securities and Exchange
Commission (“*SEC") issued Staff Accounting Bulletin Ne. 108, Considering
the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in
Current Year Finandial Statements ("SAB 108™), SAB 108 specifies how the
carryover or reversal of prior-year unrecorded financial statemment mis-
statements should be considered in quantifying a current-year misstate—
ment. SAB 108 requites an approach that considers the amount by which
the current-year statement of income is misstated (“rollover approach™
and an approach that considers the cumulative amount by which the cur-
rent-year statement of financial condition is misstated (“iron-curtain
approach”). Prior to the issuance of SAB 108, either the roflover or iron-
curtain approach was acceptable for assessing the materiality of financial
statement misstatements.

SAB 108 became effective for our fiscal year ended November 30,
2006, Upon adoption, SAB 108 allowed a cumulative-effect adjustment
to opening retained earnings at December 1, 2005 for prior-year mis-
statements that were not material under a prior approach but that were
material under the SAB 108 approach. Adoption of SAB 108 did not

affect our Consolidated Financial Statements.

NOTE 2 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND OTHER INVENTORY POSITIONS

Financial instruments and other inventory positions owned and Financial instruments and other inventory positions sold but not yet purchased

were comprised of the following:

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND OTHER INVENTORY POSITIONS

SOLD BUT NOT
IN MILLIONS OWNRED YET PURCHASED
NOVEMBER 30 2006 2005 2005 2005
Mortgages and mortgage-backed positions $ 57,726 $ 54,366 . § 80 $ 63
Government and agencies T 47,293 30,079 70,453 64,743
Corporate debt and other 43,764 30,182 1 8,836 8,997
Corporate equities 43,087 33,426 28,464 21,018
Derivatives and other contractual agreements 22,696 18,045 18,017 15,560
Reeal estate held for sale 9,408 7,850 ‘ — .
Commercial paper and other money market instruments 2,622 3,490 110 196
Financial Inscrumnents and Other Inventory Positions $226,5% $177,438 $125,960 $110,577

Mortgages and mortgage-backed positions include mortgage loans
{both: residential and commercial} and non-agency mortgage-backed secu-
rities. We originate residential and comumercial mortgage loans as part of
our mortgage trading and securitization activities and are 2 market leader
in mortgage-backed securides trading. We securitized approximately $146
billion and $133 billion of residential mortgage loans in 2006 and 2005,
respectively, including both originated loans and those we acquired in the
secondary market. We originated approximately $60 billion and $85 billion
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of residential mortgage loans in 2006 and 2005, respectively. In addition,
we originated approximately $34 billion and $27 billion of commercial
mortgage loans in 2006 and 2005, respectively, the majority of which has
been scld through securitization or syndicaton activities. See Note 3,
“Securitizations and Other Off-Balance-Sheet Arrangements,” for addi-
ticnal information about our securitization activities. We record mortgage
loans at fair value, with related mark-to-market gains and losses recognized

in Principal transactions in the Consolidated Statement of Income.




Real estate held for sale at November 30, 2006 and 2005, was
approximately $9.4 billion and $7.9 billion, respectively. Our net invest-
ment position after giving effect to non-recourse financing was $5.9
billion and $4.8 billion at November 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL IRSTRUMENTS

In the normal course of business, we enter into derivative transac-
tions both in a trading capacity and as an end-user. Our derivative activities
{both trading and end-user) are recorded at fair value in the Consolidated
Statement of Financial Condition. Acting in a trading capacity, we enter
into derivative transactions to satisfy the needs of our clients and to man-
age our own exposure to market and credit risks resulting from our trading
activities (collectively,“ Trading-Related Derivative Activities™). As an end-
user, we primarily enter into interest rate swap and option contracts to
adjust the interest rate nature of our funding sources from fixed to floating
rates and to change the index on which floating interest rates are based
{e.g., Prime to LIBOR).We also use equity, commodity, foreign exchange
and credit derivatives to hedge our exposure to market price risk embed-
ded in certain sructured debt obligations, and use foreign exchange con-
tracts to marage the currency exposure related ro our net investment in
non—U.S. dollar functional curtency subsidiaries.

Derivatives are subject to various risks similar to other financial
instruments, including market, ¢redit and operational risk. In addition,
we may be exposed to legal risks related to derivative activities, includ-
ing the possibility a transaction may be unenforceable under applicable

law. The risks of derivatives should not be viewed in isolation, but rather

should be considered on an aggregate basis aleng with our other trad-
ing-related activities. We manage the risks associated with derivatives on
an aggregate basis along with the risks associated with proprietary trad-
ing and market-making activities in cash instruments, as part of our
firm-wide risk management policies.

We record derivative contracts at fair value with realized and
unrealized gains and losses recognized in Principal transactions in the
Consolidated Statement of Income. Unrealized gains and losses on
derivative contracts are recorded on a net basis in the Consolidated
Statement of Financial Condition for those transactions with counter-
parties executed under a legally enforceable master neuting agreement
and are netted across products when these provisions are stated in 2
master netting agreement.

The following table presents the fair value of derivatives and other
contractual agreements at November 30, 2006 and 2005. Assets
included in the table represent unrealized gains, net of unrealized losses,
for situations in which we have a master netting agreement. Similarly,
liabilities represent net amounts owed to counterparties. The fair value
of assets/liabilities related to derivative contracts at November 30, 2006
and 2005 represents our net receivable/payable for derivative financial
instrurnents before consideration of securities collateral, but after con-
sideration of cash collateral. Assets and liabilities were netted down for
cash collateral of approximately $11.1 billion and $8.2 billion, respec-
tively, at November 30, 2006 and $10.5 billion and $6.1 billion, respec-
tively, at November 30, 2005.

FAIR VALUE OF DERIVATIVES AND OTHER CONTRACTUAL AGREEMENTS

IN MILLIGNS 2006 2605

NOVEMBER 30 ASSETS LIABILITIES ASSETS LIABILITIES

Interest rate, currency and credit default swaps and options $ 8,634 $ 5,691 $ 8,273 $ 7,128

Foreign exchange forward contracts and options 1,792 2,145 1,970 T 2,004

Other fixed income securitics contracts {including TBAs and forwards)* 4,308 2,604 | 2,241 896

Equity contracts (including equity swaps, warrants and options) 7,962 7,577 5,561 5,532
$22,696 $18,017 $18,045 $15,560

 fngiudes commodity derivative assats of $268 million and Yiabilities of $277 million at November 30, 2006,

At November 30, 2006 and 2005, the fair value of derivative
assets included $3.2 billion and $2.6 billion, respectively, related to
cxchange-traded option and warrant contracts. With respect to OTC
contracts, we view our net credit exposure to be $15.6 billion and
$10.5 billion at November 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively, represent-

ing the fair value of OTC contracts in a net receivable position, after

consideration of collateral. Counterparties to our OTC derivative
products primarily are U.S. and foreign banks, securities firms, corpo-
rations, governments and their agencies, finance companies, insurance
companies, investment companies and pension funds. Collateral held
related to OTC contracts generally includes listed equities, U.S. gov-

ernment and federal agency securities.
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CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK

A substantial portion of our securities transactions are collateral-
ized and are executed with, and on behalf of, financial institutions,
which includes other brokers and dealers, commercial banks and insti-
tutional clients. Our exposure to credit risk associated with the non-
performance of these clients and counterparties in fulfilling their
contrictual obligations pursuant to securities transactions can be
directly affected by volatile or illiquid trading markets, which may
impair the ability of clients and counterparties to satisfy their obliga-

tions to us.

Financial instrurnents and other inventory positions owned include
U.S. government and agency securities, and securities issued by non-11.S.
governments, which in the aggregate, represented 9% of total assets at
November 30, 2006. In addition, collateral held for resale agreements
represented approximately 23% of total assets at November 30, 2006, and
primarily consisted of securities issued by the U.S. government, federal
agencies or non—U.S. governments. Our most significant industry con-
centration is financial institutions, which includes other brokers and
dealers, commercial banks and insttutional clients. This concentration

arises in the normal course of business.

NOTE 3 SECURITIZATIONS AND OTHER OFF-BALANCE-SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

We are a market leader in mortgage- and asset-backed securitiza-
tions and other structured financing arrangemenss. In connection
with our securitization activities, we use SPEs primarily for the secu-
ritization of commercial and residential mortgages, home equity loans,
municipal and corporate bonds, and lease and trade receivables. The
majority of our involvement with SPEs relates to securitization trans-
actions where the SPE meets the SFAS 140 definition of 2 QSPE.
Based on the guidance in SFAS 140, we do not consolidate QSPEs.
We derecognize financial assets transferred in securitizations, provided
we have relinquished control over such assets. We may continue to
hold an interest in the financial assets we securitize (“interests in secu-
ritizations”), which may include assets in the form of residual interests
in the SPEs established to facilitate the securitization. Interests in
securitizations are included in Financial instruments and other inven-
tory positions owned (primarily mortgages and mortgage-backed) in
the Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition. For further infor-
mation tegarding the accounting for securitization transactions, refer
to Note 1, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies—
Consolidation Accounting Policies.”

During 2006 and 2005, we securitized approximately $168 billion
and $152 billion of financial assets, including approximately $146 billion
and $133 billion of residential mortgages, $19 billion and $13 billion of
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commercial mortgages, and $3 billion and $6 billion of municipal and
other asset-backed financial instcruments, respectively. At November 30,
2006 and 2005, we had approximately $2.0 billion and $700 million,
respectively, of non-investment grade interests from our securitization
activities (primarily junior security interests in residential mortgage secu-
ritizations), comprised of $2.0 billion and $500 million of residential
mortgages and $34 million and $200 million of municipal and other
asset-backed financial instruments, respectively, We record inventory
positions held prior to securitization, including residenttal and commer-
cial loans, at fair value, as well as any interests held post-securitization.
Mark-to-market gains or losses are recorded in Principal transactions in
the Consolidated Statemnent of Income. Fair value is determined based
on listed market prices, if available. When market prices are not available,
fair value is determined based on valuation pricing models that take into
account relevant factors such as discount, credit and prepayment assump-
tions, and also considers comparisons to similar market transactions.
The following table presents the fair value of our interests in secu-
ritizations at November 30, 2006 and 2005, the key economic assump-
tions used in measuring the fair value of such interests, and the
sensitivity of the fair value of such interests to immediate 10% and 20%
adverse changes in the valuation assumptions, as well as the cash flows

received on such interests in the securitdzatons.




INTERESTS IN SECURITIZATIONS
2008 2005
RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGES RESIDENTIAL MDRTGAGES
HON- NON-

DOLLARS 1N MILLIDNS INVESTMENT  INVESTMENT INVESTMENT  INVESTMENT
NOVEMBER 30 ERADE GRADE QTHER GRADE GRADE OTHER
Interests in securitizations (in billions) $53 $ 2.0 $ 0.6 $ 64 $ 05 $ 05
Weighted-average life (years) 5 ] 5 6 5 14
Average CPR™ 27.2 291 — 20.8 28.2 1.9

Effect of 10% adverse change $ 21 $ 61 — $ 11 $ 10 $ -

Effect of 20% adverse change $ 35 $ 110 — $ 28 $ 18 $ —
Weighted-average credit loss assumption 0.6% 1.3% e 0.2% 1.2% 0.3%

Effect of 10% adverse change $ 70 $ 109 $ — $ 2 $ 23 $ 5

Effect of 20% adverse change $131 $ 196 $ — $ 6 $ 44 $ 11
Weighted-average discount rate 7.2% 18.4% 5.8% 6.6% 15.2% 6.2%

Effect of 10% adverse change $ 124 $ 76 $ 13 $155 $ 22 $ 4t

Effect of 20% adverse change $232 $ 147 $ 22 $ 307 $ 4 $ 74
YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30 2008 2005
Cash flows received on interests in securitizations $ 664 $216 $ 59 $625 $138 $ 188
® Constant prepayment rate.

The above sensitivity analysis is hypothetical and should be used
with caution since the stresses are performed without considering the
effect of hedges, which serve to reduce our actual risk. We mitigate the
risks associated with the above interests in securitizations through
dynamic hedging strategies. These results are calculated by stressing a
particular economic assumption independent of changes in any other
assumption (as required by U.S. GAAP); in reality, changes in one fac-
tor often result in changes in another factor which may counteract or
magmnify the effect of the changes outined in the ibove table. Changes
in the fair value based on 2 10% or 20% variation in an assumption
should not be extrapolated because the relationship of the change in
the assumption to the change in fair value may not be linear.

Mortgage Servicing Rights Mortgage servicing rights (“MSRs™)
represent the Company's right to a future stream of cash Hows based
upon the contractual servicing fee associated with servicing morigage
loans and mortgage-backed securities. Our MSRs generally arise from
the securitization of residential mortgage loans that we originate. MSRs
are included in Financial instruments and other inventory positions
owned on the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition. At
November 30, 2006 and 2005, the Company has MSRs of approxi-
mately $829 million and $561 tmillion, respectively.

Effective with our early adoption of SFAS 156 as of the begin-
ning of our 2006 fiscal year, MSRs are carried at fair value, with
changes in fair value reported in earnings in the period in which the
change occurs. On or before November 30, 2005, MSRs were carried
at the lower of amortized cost or market value, The effect of this
change in accounting from lower of amortized cost or market value to
fair value has been reported as a cumulative effect adjustment to
December 1, 2005 retained earnings, resulting in an increase of $18

million after-tax ($33 million pre-tax). See Note 1, “Summary of

Significant Accounting Policies—Accounting and Regulatory

Developments,” for additional information,

The determination of fair value for MSRs requires valuation
processes which combine the use of discounted cash flow models and
extensive analysis of current market data to arrive at an estimate of
fair value. The cash flow and prepayment assumptions used in our
discounted cash flow model are based on empirical data drawn from
the historical performance of our MSRs, which we believe are con-
sistent with assumptions used by market participants valuing sitnilar
MSRs, and from data obtained on the performance of similar MSRs.
These variables can, and generally will, change from quarter to quar~

ter as market conditions and projected interest rates change.
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The Company’s MSRs activities for the year ended November 30, 2006:

MORTGAGE SERVICING RIGHTS

IN MILLIGNS NOVEMBER 30, 2006
Balance, beginning of period $561
Additions, net 507
Changes in fair value:
Paydowns/servicing fees (192)
Resuling from changes in valuation assumptions (80)
Change due to SFAS 156 Adoption 33
Balance, end of period ' 3829

The following table shows the main assumptions we used to determine the fair value of cur MSRs at November 30, 2006 and the sensitivity

of our MSRs to changes in these assumptions.

MORTGAGE SERVICING RIGHTS — VALUATION DATA

DOLLARS N MILLEDHS

NGYEMBER 30, 2006

Weighted-average prepayment speed {CPR)

31

Effect of 10% adverse change $ 84

Effect of 20% adverse change $154
Discount rate 8%

Effect of 10% adverse change $ 17

Effect of 20% adverse change $ 26

The above sensitivity analysis is hypothetical and should be
used with caution since the stresses are performed without consider-
ing the effect of hedges, which serve to reduce our actual risk. We
mitigate the risks associated with the above interests in securitiza-
tions through dynamic hedging strategies. These results are calcu-
lated by stressing a particular economic assumption independent of
changes in any other assumption (as required by US. GAAP); in
reality, changes in one factor often result in changes in another factor
which may counteract or magnify the effect of the changes outlined
in the above table. Changes in the fair value based on a 10% or 20%
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variation in an assumption should not be extrapolated because the
relationship of the change in the assumption to the change in fair
value may not be linear.

The key risks inherent with MSRs are prepayment speed and
changes in discount rates. We mitigate the income statement effect of
changes in fair value of our MSRs by entering into hedging transac-
tions, which serve to reduce our actual risk.

Cash flows received on contractual servicing in 2006 were approx-
imately $255 million and are included in Principal transactions in the
Consolidated Statement of Income.




Non-QSPE activities Substandially all of our securitization activi-
ties are transacted through QSPEs, including residential and commercial
mortgage securitizations. However, we are also actively involved with
SPEs that do not meet the QSPE criteria due to their permitted activi-
ties not being sufficiently limited or because the assets are not deemed
qualifying financial instruments (e.g., real estate). Qur involvement with
such SPEs includes credit-tinked notes and other structured financing
transactions designed to meet clients’ investing or financing needs.

We are a dealer in credit default swaps and, as such, we make 2 mar-
ket in buying and selling credit protection on single issuers as well as on
portfolios of credit exposures. One of the mechanisms we use to mitigate
credit risk is to enter into default swaps with SPEs, in which we purchase
default protection. Tn these transactions, the SPE issues credit-linked notes
1o investors and uses the proceeds to invest in high quality collateral. We
pay a premium to the SPE for assuming credit risk under the default swap.
Third-party investors in these SPEs are subject to default risk associated
with the referenced obligations under the default swap as well as the credit
risk of the assets held by the SPE. Our maximum loss associated with our
involvernent with such credit-linked note transactions is the fair value of
our credit default swaps with these SPEs, which amounted to $155 mil-
lion and $156 million at November 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
However, the value of our default swaps are secured by the value of the
underlying investment grade collateral held by the SPEs which was $10.8
billion and $5.7 billion at Novemnber 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Because the results of our expected loss calculations generally dem-
onstrate the investors in the SPE bear a majority of the entity’s expected

losses (because the investors assume default risk associated with both the

reference portfolio and the SPE’ assets), we generally are not the primary
beneficiary and therefore do not consolidate these SPEs. However, in
certain credit default transactions, generally when we participate in the
fixed interest rate risk associated with the underlying collateral through
an interest rate swap, we are the primary beneficiary of these transactions
and therefore have consolidated the SPEs. At November 30, 2006 and
2005, we consolidated approximately $0.7 billion and $0.6 billion of these
credit default transactions, respectively We record the assets associated
with these consolidated credit default ransactions as a component of
Financial instruments and other inventory positions owned.

We also invest in real estate directly through controlled subsidiaries
and through variable interest entities. We consolidate our investments in
variable interest real estate entities when we are the primary beneficiary.
At November 30, 2006 and 2005, we consolidated approximately $3.4
billion and $4.6 billion, respectively, of real estate-related investments in
VIEs for which we did not have a controlling financial interest. We
record the assets associated with these consolidated real estate-related
investments in VIEs as a component of Financial instruments and other
inventory positions owned. After giving effect to non-recourse financ-
ing our net investment position in these consolidated VIEs was $2.2
billion and $2.9 billion at November 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
See Note 2, “Financial Instruments and Other Inventory Positions,” for
a further discussion of our real estate held for sale.

In addition, we enter into other transactions with SPEs designed
toc meet clients’ investment and/or funding needs. See Note 11,
“Cormmnitments, Contingencies and Guarantees,” for additional infor-

mation about these transactions and SPE-related commitments.

NOTE 4 SECURITIES RECEIVED AND PLEDGED AS COLLATERAL

We enter into secured borrowing and lending transactions to
finance inventory positions, obtain securities for settlement and meet
clients’ needs. We receive collateral in connection with resale agree-
ments, securities borrowed transactions, borrow/pledge transactions,
client margin loans and derivative transactions. We generally are
permitted to sell or repledge these securities held as collateral and
use the securities to secure repurchase agreements, enter into securi-
ties lending transactions or deliver to counterparties to cover short
positions. We carry secured financing agreements on a net basis
when permitted under the provisions of FASB Interpretation No.
41, Offsetting of Amounts Related to Certain Repurchase and Reverse
Repurchase Agreements (“FIN 417). )

At November 30, 2006 and 2005, the fair value of securities
received as collateral and Financial instruments and other inventory
positions owned that have not been sold, repledged or otherwise
encumbered totaled approximately $139 billion and $87 billion, respec-
tively. At November 30,2006 and 2005, the gross fair value of securities

received as collateral that we were permitted to sell or repledge was
approximately $621 billion and $528 billion, respectively. Of this col-
lateral, approximately $568 billion and $499 billion at November 30,
2006 and 2005, respectively, has been sold or repledged, generally as
collateral under repurchase agreements or to cover Financial instru-
ments and other inventory positdons sold but not yet purchased.

We also pledge our own assets, primarily to collateralize certain
financing arrangements. These pledged securities, where the counter-
party has the right, by contract or custom, to rehypothecate the finan-
cial instruments are classified as Financial instruments and other
inventory positions owned, pledged as coltateral, in the Consolidated
Statement of Financial Condition as required by SFAS 140.

The carrying value of Financial instruments and other inventory
positions owned that have been pledged or otherwise encumbered to
counterparties where those counterparties do not have the right to sell
or repledge was approximately $75 billion and $66 billion at November
30, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
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NOTE 5 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

During 2006, we acquired an established private student loan | will add long-term value to our Capital Markets franchise by allow-
origination platfornt, a European mortgage originator, and an elec- | ing us to enter into new markets and expanding the breadth of
tronic trading platform, increasing our goodwill and intangible | services offered as well as providing additional loan product for our

assets by approximately $150 million. We believe these acquisitions | securitization pipeline.

NOTE 6 IDENTIFIABLE INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL

Aggregate amortization expense for the years ended November 30, | November 30, 2007 through 2009 is approximately $43 million.
2000, 2005 and 2004 was $50 million, $49 million, and $47 million, | Estimated amortization expense for both the years ending November
respectively. Estimated amortization expense for each of the years ending | 30, 2010 and 2011 is approximately $33 million.

IDENTAFIABLE INTANGIBLE ASSETS
2006 2005
GROSS GROSS

[ MILLIONS CARRYING ACCUMULATED CARRYING  ACCUMULATED
NOVEMBER 30 AMOUNT AMORTIZATION AMOUNT  AMORTIZATION
Amortizable intangible assets:

Customer lists $504 $110 $496 $ 93

Other 82 51 100 37
Amortizable Intangible Assets $586 $161 $596 $130
Intangible assets not subject to amortizaton:

Mutual fund customer-related intangibles $195 $395

Trade name 125 ) 125
Intangible Assets Not Subject to Amortization $520 $520

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the years ended November 30, 2006 and 2005 are as follows:

GOODWILL
CAPITAL INYESTHENT
1N MILEEONS MARKETS MANAGEMENT TOTAL
Balance {net) at November 30, 2004 $ 152 $2,107 $2,259
Goodwill acquired 8 5 13
Purchase price valuation adjustment — 2 (2}
Balance (net) at November 30, 2005 160 2110 2,270
Goodwill acquired i1 — 116
Purchase price valuation adjustient 19 12 )
Balance (net} at November 30, 2006 $ 295 $2,122 $2.417
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We obtain short-term financing on both a secured and unsecured
basis. Secured financing is obtained through the use of repurchase

agreements, securities loaned and other secured borrowings. The unse-

NDTE 7 SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS

cured financing is generalty obtained through short-term borrowings

which include commercial paper, overdrafts, and the current pottion of
long-term borrowings maturing within one year of the financial seate-

ment date. Short-term borrowings consist of the following;

SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS

IN MILLIORS

NOYEMBER 30 2006 2005
Current portion of long-term borrowings $12,878 $ 8,410
Commercial paper 1,653 1,776
Other short-term debt 6,107 1,165
Shiort-Term Borrowings $20,638 $11,351

At November 30, 2006 and 2005, the weighted-average interest

rates for short-term borrowings, after the effect of hedging activites,

were 5.39% and 4.24%, respectively.

At November 30, 2006, short-term borrowings include structured

notes of approximately $3.8 billion carried at fair value in accordance

with our adoption of SFAS 155. See Note 1, “Accounting and

Regulatory Developments—SFAS 155,” for additional information.

NOTE 8 DEPOSITS AT BANKS

Deposits at banks are held at both our U.S. and non—U.S. banks and are comprised of the following:

DEPOSITS AT BANKS

1 MILLIONS

NOYEMBER 30 2006 1005
Time deposits $20,213 $13.N17
Savings deposits 1,199 1,350
Deposits at Banks $21,412 $15,067

The weighted-average contractual interest rates at November 30, 2006 and 2005 were 4.66% and 3.88%, respectively.

NOTE 9 LONG-TERM BORROWINGS

Long-term borrowings (excluding borrowings with remaining maturities within one year of the financial statement date) consist of the following:

LONG-TERM BORROWINGS

i MILLIONS

NOVEMBEER 30 2006 2005
Senior notes $75,202 $50,492
Subordinated notes 3,238 1,381
Junior subordinated notes 2,738 2,026
Long-Term Borrowings $81,178 $51,899
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MATURITY PROFILE

The maturity dates of long-term borrowings are as follows:

MATURITY PROFILE
U.5. DOLLAR HON-1.S. DOLLAR TOTAL

I% MILLIONS FIXED FLDATING FIXED FLOATING

NOYEMBER 30 RATE RATE RATE RATE 2006 2005
Maturing in fiscal 2007 $ — 5 - $ - 5 — §  — 313503
Maturing in fiscal 2008 4,048 9,698 302 3.844 17,892 8,285
Maturing in fiscal 2009 1,623 6,424 491 5,045 13,583 5,654
Maruring in fiscal 2010 3,687 1,724 1,511 822 7,744 6,207
Maturing in fiscal 2011 2,184 2,537 1,146 6,545 12,412 2,267
December 1, 2011 and thereafter 10,129 3,852 5,358 10,208 29,547 17,983
Long-Term Borrowings $21,671 $24,235 $8,308 $26,464 $81,178 $53,899

The weighted-average contractual interest rates on US. dollar
and non-U.S. dollar borrowings were 5.21% and 3.15%, respectively,
at November 30, 2006 and 5.14% and 2.96%, respectively, at
November 30, 2005.

At November 30, 2006, $50 million of outstanding long-term
borrowings are repayable at par value prior to maturity at the option
of the holder. These obligations are reflected in the above table as
maturing at their put dates, which range from fiscal 2008 to fiscal 2013,
rather than at their contractual maturities, which range from fiscal
2008 to fiscal 2034, In addition, $10.4 billion of long-term borrowings
are redeemable prior to maturity at our option under various terms
and conditions. These obligations are reflected in the above tble at
their contractual maturity dates. Extendible debt structures totaling
approximately $4.0 billion are shown in the above table at their eariest
maturity dates. The maturity date of extendible debt is automatically
extended unless the debt holders instruct us to redeem their debt at
least one year prior to the earliest maturity date.

Included in long-term borrowings is $4.5 billion of structured
notes with early redemption features linked to market prices or other
triggering events {e.g., the downgrade of a reference obligation under-
lying a credit-linked note). In the above maturity table, these notes are
shown at their contractual maturity dates.

At November 30, 2006, our U.S. dollar and non—tJ.S. dollar debt
portfolios included approximactely $8.5 billion and $11.6 billion,
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respectively, of structured notes for which the interest rates and/or
redemption values are linked to the performance of an underlying -
measure {(including industry baskets of stocks, commodities or credit
events). Generally, such notes are issued as floating rate notes or the
interest rates on such index notes are effectively converted to floating
rates based primarily on LIBOR through the use of derivatives.

At November 30, 2006, Long-term borrowings include struc-
tured notes of approximately $11.0 billion carried at fair value
in accordance with our adoption of SFAS 155. See Note 1,
“Accounting and Regulatory Developments—SFAS 155,” above for
additional information.

END—USER DERIVATIVE ACTIVITIES

We use a variety of derivative products including interest rate and
currency swaps as an end-user to modify the interest rate characteristics
of our long-term borrowing portfolio. We use interest rate swaps to
convert a substantial portion of our fixed-rate debt to floating interest
rates to more closely match the terms of assets being funded and to
minimize interest rate risk. In addition, we use cross—currency swaps to
hedge our exposure to foreign currency risk arising from our non—U.S.
dollar debt obligations, after consideration of non—U.S. dollar assets that
are funded with long-term debt obligations in the same currency. In
certain instances, we may use two or more derivative contracts to man-
age the interest rate nature and/or currency exposure of an individual

long-term borrowings issuance.




End-User Derivative Activities resulted in the following mix of fixed and floating rate debt:

LONG-TERM BORROWINGS AFTER END-USER DERIVATIVE ACTIVITIES

IN MILLIONS
NOVEMBER 30 2008 2005
ULS. dollar obligations:
Fixed rate $ 942 $ 568
Floating rate 57,053 36,049
Total U.S. dollar obligations 57,995 36,617
Non-U.S. dollar obligations 23,183 17,282
Long-Term Borrowings $81,178 353,899

The weighted-average effective interest rates after End-User Perivative Activities on ULS. dollar, non—US. dollar, and total borrowings were

5.60%, 3.51%, and 5.00%, respectivély, at November 30, 2006, The weighted-average effective interest rates after End—User Derivative Activities on
USS. dollar, non—U.S. dollar, and total borrowings were 4.65%, 2.63%, and 4.00%, respectively, at November 30, 2005.

JUNIOR SUBORDINATED NDTES

Junior subordinated notes are notes issued to trusts or limited
partnerships [collectively, the “Trusts”) which qualify as equity capital
by leading rating agencies (subject to limitation). The Trusts were

formed for the purposes of: (a} issuing securities representing ownership

interests in the assers of the Trusts; (b} investing the proceeds of the

Trusts in junior subordinated notes of Holdings; and (¢} engaging in

activities necessary and incidental thereto. The securities issued by the

Trusts are comprised of the following:

JUNIQR SUBBRDINATED NOTES

IN MILLEONS
WOVEMBER 3¢ 2006 2005
Trust Preferred Securities:

Lehman Brothers Holdings Capital Trust 111 . $ Joo $ 300

Lehman Brothers Holdings Capital Trust IV 300 300

Lehman Brothers Holdings Capital Trust V 399 400

Lehman Brothers Holdings Capital Trust VI 225 225
Euro Perpetual Preferred Securities:

Lehman Brothers UK. Capital Funding LP 231 207

Lehman Brothers UK., Capital Funding II LP 329 204
Enhanced Capital Advantaged Preferred Securities (ECAPS®):.

Lehman Brothers Holdings E-Capital Trust I 296 300
Enhanced Capital Advantaged Preferred Securities (Euro ECAPS®):

Lehman Brothers UK, Capital Funding III L.P. 658 —-—
Junior Subordinated Notes $2,738 $2,026
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The following table summarizes the key terms of Trusts with outstanding securities at November 30, 2006:

94

TRUSTS ISSUED SECURITIES
ISSUANCE MANDATORY REDEEMABLE BY ISSUER
NOVEMBER 30, 2006 DATE REDEMPTIDN DATE 0N OR AFTER
i Holdings Capital Trust IIT March 2003 March 15, 2052 March 15, 2008
Holdings Capital Trust [V October 2003 Ocrober 31, 2052 October 31, 2008
Holdings Capital TrustV April 2004 April 22, 2053 April 22, 2009
Holdings Capital Trust V1 January 2005 January 18, 2054 January 18, 2010
UK. Capital Funding LP March 2005 Perpetual March 30, 2010
UK. Capital Funding Il EP September 2005 Perpetual September 21, 2009
Holdings E-Capital Trust | August 2005 August 19, 2065 August 19, 2010
UK. Capital Funding IIT LP February 2006 February 22, 2036 Febtuary 22,2011

EREDIT FACILITIES

We use both committed and uncommitted bilateral and syndi-
cated long-term bank facilities to complement our long-term debt
issuance. In particular, Holdings maintains a $2.0 billion unsecured,
committed revolving credit agreement with a syndicate of banks which
expires in February 2009. In addition we maintain a $1.0 billion

multi-currency unsecured, committed revolving credit facility with a

syndicate of banks for Lehman Brothers Bankhaus AG, with a term of
three and a half years expiring in April 2008. Qur ability to borrow -
under such facilities is conditioned on complying with customary
lending conditions and covenants. We have maintained compliance
with the material covenants under these credit agreements at all times.
As of November 30, 2006, there were no borrowings against either of
these two credit facilities.

NOTE 10 FAIR VALUE OF FINANGEAL INSTRUMENTS

We record financial instrurnents classified within long and short
inventory (Financial instrumnents and other inventory positions owned,
and Financial instruments and other inventory positions sold but not yet
purchased) at fair value. Securities received as collateral and Obligation to
return securities received as collateral also are carried at fair value. In addi-
tion, ali off-balance-sheet financial instruments are carried at fair value
including derivatives, guarantees and lending-related commitments.

Assets which are carried at contractual amounts that approximate
fair value include: Cash and cash equivalents, Cash and securities segre-
gated and on deposit for regulatory and other purposes, Receivables,
and Other assets. Liabilities which are carried at contractual amounts
that approximate fair value include: Short-term borrowings, Payables,
and Accrued liabilides and other payables, and Deposits at banks. The
market values of such items are not materially sensitive to shifts in mar-
ket interest rates because of the limited term to maturity of these instru-
ment and their variable interest rates.

Aside from structured notes carried at fair value under SFAS 155,
long-term borrowings are carried at historical amounts unless designated
as the hedged item in a fair value hedge. We carry the hedged debt on a
modified mark-to-market basis, which amount could differ from fair
value as a result of changes in our credit worthiness. At November 30,
2006, the cartying value of our long-term bortowings was approximately
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$250 million less than fair value; at November 30, 2005, the carrying
value was $329 million less than fair value, The fair value of long-term
borrowings was estimated using either quoted market prices or dis-
counted cash flow analyses based on our current borrowing rates for
simnilar types of borrowing arrangements. ’

We carry secured financing activides including Securities purchased
under agreements to resell, Securites borrowed, Securities scld under
agreements to repurchase, Securities loaned and Other secured borrow-
ings, at their original contract amounts plus accrued interest. Because the
majority of financing activities are short-termt in nawure, carrying values
approximate fair value. At November 30, 2006 and 2005, we had approx-
imately $390 billion and $337 billion, respectively, of secured financing
activities. At November 30, 2006 and 2005, we used derivative financial
instruments with an aggregate notional amount of $3.1 billion and $6.0
billion, respectively, to modify the interest rate characteristics of certain of
our long-term secured financing activities. The total notional amount of
these agreements had a weighted-average maturity of 3.8 years and 2.9
vears at November 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively. At November 30,
2006 and 2005, the carrying value associated with these long-term
secured financing activities designated as the hedged instrument in fair
value hedges, which approximated their fair value, was $3.1 billion and
$6.0 billion, respectively.




Additionally, we had approximately $1.2 billion and $273 million of long-term fixed rate repurchase agreements at November 30, 2006

and 2005, respectively, for which we had unrecognized losses of $8 million and $11 million, respectively.

NOTE 11 COMMITMENTS, CONTINGENCIES AND GUARANTEES

In the normal course of business, we enter into various commit-
ments and guarantees, including lending commitments to high grade
and high yield borrowers, private equity investment commitments,
liquidity commitments and other guarantees. In all instances, we mark

to market these commitments and guarantees with changes in fair

value recognized in Principal transactions in the Consolidated
Statement of Income.

LENDING-RELATED COMMITMENTS

The following table summarizes our lending-related commit-
ments at November 30, 2006 and 2005:

LENDING-RELATED COMMITMENTS
TBTAL
AMOUNT OF COMMITMENT EXPIRATION PER PERICD CONTRACTUAL AMOURT
2009- 2015- 2013 AND KOVEMBER NOVEMBER
IH MILLIONS 2607 2008 2010 012 LATER 30, 2006 0, 2005
High grade™ $3424 § 922 §$593 $7593 §$ 75 $17,945 $14,039
High yield® 2,807 158 1,350 2,177 1,066 7,558 5,172
Mortgage commitments 10,728 752 500 210 56 12,246 9,417
Investment grade contingent acquisition facilities 1,918 — — —_ —_ 1,918 3,915
Non-investment grade contingent acquisition facilities 12,571 195 — — —_ 12,766 4,738
Secured lending transactions, including
forward starting resale and repurchase agreements 79,887 8% 194 456 1,554 82,987 65,782
™ We view our net credit exposure for high grade commitments, after consideration of hedges, to be $4.9 bilfion and $5.4 billion at November 30, 2006 and 2005, respectivety.
™ We view our net credit exposure for high yield commitments, after consideration of hedges, to be $5.9 billion and $4.4 billion at November 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

High Grade and High Yield Through our high grade and high
yield sales, trading and underwriting activities, we make commitments
to extend credit in loan syndicaton transactions. We use various hedg-
ing and funding strategies to actively manage our market, credit and
liquidity exposures on these commitments. We do not believe total
commitments necessarily are indicative of actual risk or funding
requirements because the commitments may not be drawn or fully used
and such amounts are reported before consideration of hedges. These
commitments and any related drawdowns of these facilies typically
have fixed maturity dates and are contingent on certain representations,
warranties and contractual conditions applicable to the borrower. We
define high yield (non-investment grade} exposures as securities of or
loans to companies rated BB+ or lower or equivalent ratings by recog-
nized credit rating agencics, as well as non-rated securities or loans that,
in management’s opinion, are non-investment grade. We had commit-
ments to investment grade borrowers of $17.9 billion {net credit expo-
sure of $4.9 billion, after consideration of hedges) and $14.0 billion {net
credit exposure of $5.4 billion, after consideration of hedges) at
November 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively. We had commitments to

non-investment grade borrowers of $7.6 billion (ntet credit exposure of

$5.9 billion after consideration of hedges) and $5.2 billion (net credit
exposure of $4.4 billion after consideration of hedges) at November 30,
2006 and 2005, respectively.

Morigage Commitments We make commitments to extend mort-
gage loans. We use various hedging and funding strategies to actively
manage our market, credit and liquidity exposures on these commit-
ments. We do not believe total comnlu'r.rnents necessarily are indicatve
of actual risk or funding requirements because the commitments muay
not be drawn or fully used and such amounts are reported before con-
sideration of hedges. At November 30, 2006 and 2005, we had out-
standing mortgage commitments of approximately $12.2 billion and
$9.4 billion, respectively, including $7.0 billion and $7.7 billion of resi-
dential mortgages and $5.2 billion and $1.7 billion of commercial
mortgages. The residential mortgage loan commitments require us to
originate mortgage loans at the opton of a borrower generally within
90 days at fixed interest rates. We scll residential mortgage loans, once
originated, primarily through securitizations.

See Note 3, “Securitizations and Other Off-Balance Sheet
Arrangements,” for additional information about our securitization

activities,
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Contingent Acquisition Facilities From time to time we provide
contingent commitments to investment and non-investment grade
counterparties related to acquisition financing. Our expectation is, and
our past practice has been, to distribute our obligations under these
commitments to third parties through loan syndications if the transac-
ton closes. We do not believe these comumitments are necessarily
indicative of our actual risk because the borrower may not complete a
contemplated acquisidon or, if the borrower completes the acquisition,
it often will raise funds in the capital markets instead of drawing on our
commitment. Additionally, in most cases, the borrower’s ability to draw
is subject to there being no material adverse change in the borrower’s
financial condition, among other factors. These comunitments also gen-
erally contain certain flexible pricing features to adjust for changing
market conditions prior to closing. We provided contingent commit-
ments o investment grade counterparties related to acquisition financ-
ing of approximately $1.9 billion and $3.9 billion 2t November 30,
2006 and 2005, respectively. In addition, we provided contingent com-

mitments to non-investment grade counterparties related to acquisition

financing of approximately $12.8 billion and $4.7 billion at November
30, 2006 and 2003, respectively.

Secured Lending Transactions  [n connection with our financing
activities, we had outstanding commitments under certzin collateralized
lending arrangements of approximately $7.4 billion and $5.7 billion at
November 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively. These commitments require
borrowers to provide acceptable collateral, as defined in the agreements,
when amounts are drawn under the lending facilities. Advances made
under these lending arrangements typically are at variable interest rates
and generally provide for aver-collateralization. In addition, at November
30, 2006, we had commitments to enter into forward starting secured
resale and repurchase agreements, primarily secured by government and
government agency collateral, of $44.4 billion and $31.2 billion, respec-
tvely, compared with $38.6 billion and $21.5 billion, respectively, at
November 30, 2005.

OTHER COMMITMENTS AND GUARANTEES

The following table summuarizes other comunitments and guaran- )
tees at November 30, 2006 and November 30, 2005:

OTHER COMMITMENTS AND GUARANTEES

NOTIONAL/
AMOUNT OF COMMITMENT EXPIRATION PER PERIOD MAXIMUM PAYOUT
2009- 20%1- 2013 AND HOVEMBER NOVEMBER
N MILLIONS 2007 2008 00 012 LATER 30,2006 , 30,2085
Derivative contracts® $ 85706 $ 71,102 $ 94,374 $102,505 $180,898 $534,585  $486,874
Municipal-securities-related commitments 835 35 602 77 50 1,599 4,105
Other commitments with variable interest enoties 453 928 799 309 2.413 4,902 7 6,321
Standby letters of credit 2,380 — — —_ — 2,380 2,608
Private eguity and other principal investment commitments 462 282 294 50 —_ 1,088 ! 927

™ W beligve the fair value of these derivative contracts is a more relevant measure of the obligations because we believe the notional amount overstates the expected payout. At
November 30, 2006 and 2005, the fair value of these derivative contracts approximaled $9.3 biltion and $8.2 billion, respectively.

Derivative Contracts In accordance with FASB Interpretation
No. 45, Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees,
Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others (“FIN 45”), we
disclose certain derivative contracts meeting the FIN 45 definition of a
guarantee. Under FIN 45, derivative contracts are considered to be
guarantees if these contracts require us to make payments to counter-
parties based on changes in an underlying instrument or index (e.g.,
security prices, interest rates, and currency rates) and include written
credit default swaps, written put options, written foreign exchange and
interest rate options. Derivative contracts are not considered guarantees
if these contracts are cash settled and we have no basis to determine
whether it is probable the derivative counterparty held the related
underdying instrument at the inception of the contract. We have deter-
mined these conditions have been met for certain large financial institu-
tions. Accordingly, when these conditions are met, we have not included

these derivatives in our guarantee disclosures. At November 30, 2006
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and 2005, the maximum payout value of derivative contracts deemed to
meet the FIN 43 definition of a guarantee was approximately $535 bil-
lion and $487 billion, respectively. For purposes of determining maxi-
mum payout, notional values are used; however, we believe the fair
value of these contracts is a more relevant measure of these obligations
because we believe the notional amounts greatly overstate our expected
payout. At November 30, 2006 and 2005, the fair value of these deriva-
tive contracts approximated $9.3 billion and $8.2 billion, respectively. In
addition, all amounts included above are before consideration of hedg-
ing transactions. We substantially mitigate our risk on these contracts
through hedges, using other derivatve contracts and/or cash instru-
ments, We manage risk associated with derivative guarantees consistent
with our global risk management policies.
Municipal-Securities-Related Commitments

2006 and 2005, we had municipal-securities-related commitments of

At November 30,

approximately $1.6 billion and $4.1 billion, respectively, which are:



principally comprised of liquidity commitments related to trust cer-
tificates issued to investors backed by investment grade municipal
securities. We believe our liquidity commitments to these trusts
invalve a low level of risk because our obligations are supported by
investment grade securities and generally cease if the underlying assets
are downgraded below investment grade or default. In certain
instances, we also provide credit default protection to investors, which
approximated $48 million and $500 million at November 30, 2006
and 2005, respectively.

Other Commitments with VIES We make certain liquidity cotmumit-
ments and guarantees associated with VIEs, We provided Liquidity of
approximately $1.0 billion and $1.9 billion at November 30, 2006 and
2005, respectively, which represented our maximum exposure to loss to
commercial paper conduits in support of certain clients’ secured financ-
ing transactions. However, we believe our actual risk to be limited
because these liquidity commitments are supported by over-collateral-
ization with investment grade collateral.

In addition, we provide limited downside protection guarantees to
investors in certain VIEs by guaranteeing return of their initial principal
investment. Qur maximum exposure to loss under these commitrnents was
approximately $3.9 billion and $3.2 bilkien at November 30, 2006 and
2005, respectively. We believe our actual risk to be limited because our
obligations are collateralized by the VIEs” assets and contain significant
constraints under which downside protection will be available {e.g., the VIE
is required to liquidate assets in the event certain loss levels are triggered).

We also provided a guarantee totaling $1.2 billion at November
30, 2005 of collateral in a muld-seller conduit backed by short-term
commercial paper assets. This commitment provided us with access to
contingent liquidity of $1.2 billion as of November 30, 2005 in the
event we had greater than anticipated draws under our lending com-
mitments. This commitment expired in June 2006.

Standby Letters of Eredit At November 30, 2006 and 2005, we
were contingently Liable for $2.4 billion and $2.6 billion, respectively, of
letters of credit primarily used to provide collateral for securities and
commodities borrowed and to satisfy margin deposits at option and
commodity exchanges.

Private Equity and Other Principal Investments At November 30,
2006 and 2005, we had private equity and other principal investment
commitments of approximately $1.1 billior: and $0.9 billion, respectively.

Other

securities clearinghouses and exchanges. These guarantees generally are

In the normal course of business, we provide guarantees to

required under the standard membership agreements, such that mem-
bers are required to guarantee the performance of other members. To
mitigate these performance risks, the exchanges and clearinghouses
often require members to post collateral.

In connection with certain asset sales and securitization transac-
tions, including those associated with prime and subprime residential

mortgage loans, we often make representations and warranties about the

assets. Violations of these representations and warranties, such as early

payment defaults by borrowers, may require us to repurchase loans
previously sold, or indemnify the purchaser against any losses. To miti-
grate these risks, to the extent the assets being securitized may have been
originated by third parties, we seek to obtain appropriate representa-
tions and warranties from these third parties when we are obligated to
reacquire the assets. We have established reserves which we believe to
be adequate in connection with such representations and warranties.

Financial instruments and other inventory positions sold but not yet
purchased represent our obligations to purchase the securities at prevailing
market prices. Therefore, the future satisfaction of such obligations may be
for an amount greater or less than the amount recorded. The ultimate gain
or loss is dependent on the price at which the underlying financial instru-
mens is purchased to settle our obligation under the sale commitment.

In the normal course of business, we are exposed to credit and
market risk as a result of executing, financing and settling various
client security and commodity transactions. These risks arise from
the potential that clients or counterparties may fail to satisfy their
obligations and the collateral obtained is insufficient. In such
instances, we may be required to purchase or sell financial instru-
ments at unfavorable market prices. We seck to control these risks by
obtaining margin balances and other collateral in accordance with
regulatory and internal guidelines.

Certain of our subsidiaries, as general partners, are contngendy
liable for the obligations of certain public and private limited partner-
ships. In our opinion, contingent liabilities, if any, for the obligations of
such partnerships will not, in the aggregate, have a material adverse
effect on our Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition or
Consolidated Statement of Income.

In connection with certain acquisitions and investments, we
agreed to pay additonal consideration contingent on the acquired
entity meeting or exceeding specified income, revenue or other perfor-
mance thresholds. These payments will be recorded as amounts become
determinable. At November 30, 2006, our estimated obligations related
to these contingent consideradon arrangements are $224 million.

INGOME TAXES

We are continuously under audit examination by the Internal
Revenue Service (“IRS™} and other tax authorities in jurisdictions in
which we conduct significant business activities, such as the United
Kingdom, Japan and various U.S. states and localities. We regularly assess
the Likelihood of additional tax assessments in each of these tax jurisdic-
tions and the related impact on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

We have established tax reserves, which we believe to be adequate, in

‘relation to the potential for additional tax assessments. Once established,

tax reserves are adjusted only when additional information is obtained
or an event occurs requiring a change to our tax reserves.

LITIGATION

It the normal course of business we have been named as a defen-
dant in a number of lawsuits and other legal and regulatory proceedings.

Such proceedings include actions brought against us and others with
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respect to transactions in which we acted as an underwriter or financial
advisor, actions arising out of our activities as a broker or dealer in
securities and commeodities and actions brought on behalf of variouns
classes of claimants against many securities firms, including us. We pro-
vide for potential losses that may arise out of legal and regulatory pro-
ceedings to the extent such losses are probable and can be estimated.
Although there can be no assurance as to the ultimate outcome, we
generally have denied, or believe we have a meritorious defense and
wili deny, liability in all significant cases pending against us, and we
intend to defend vigorously each such case. Based on information cur-
rently available, we believe the amount, or range, of reasonably possible
losses in excess of established reserves not to be material to the
Company's consolidated financial condition or cash Hows. However,
losses may be material to our operating results for any particular future
period, depending on the level of income for such period.

During 2004, we entered into a settlement with our insurance
carriers relating to several large proceedings noticed to the carriers and
inidally oceurring prior to January 2003, Under the terms of the insur-

ance settlement, the insurance carriers agreed to pay us $280 million.

During 2004, we also entered into a Memorandum of Understanding
to settle the In re Enron Corporation Securities Litigation class action
lawsuit for $223 million. The settlement with our insurance carriers and
the settlement under the Memorandum of Understanding did not
result in a net gain or loss in our Consolidated Statement of Income as
the $280 million settlement with our insurance carriers represented an
aggregate settlement associated with several matters, in¢luding Enron,
WorldCom and other matters. See Part 1, Item 3, “Legal Proceedings”
in this Form 10K for additional information about the Enron securities
class action and related matters.

LEASE COMMITMENTS .

We lease office space and equipment throughout the world. Total
rent expense for 2006, 2005 and 2004 was $181 million, $167 million
and $135 million, respectively. Certain leases on office space contain
escalation clauses providing for additional payments based on mainte-
mance, utihty and tax increases.

Minimum future rental commitments under non-cancelable oper-
ating leases (net of subleases of $309 million} and future commitments

under capital leases are as follows:

MINIMUM FUTURE RENTAL COMMITMENTS UNDER OPERATING AND CAPITAL LEASE AGREEMENTS
IX MILLIONS OPERATING LEASES CAPITAL LEASES
Fiscal 2007 $ 176 $ o8
Fiscal 2008 168 74
Fiscal 2009 160 9
Fiscal 2010 156 101
Fiscal 2011 193 102
December 1, 2011 and thereafter 861 2,599
Total minimum lease payments $1,714 3,043
Less: Amount representing interest (1,635)
Present value of future minimum capital lease payments $1,408

NOTE 12 STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY =

On April 5, 2006, our Board of Directors approved a 2-for-1
common stock split, in the form of a stock dividend that was effected
on April 28, 2006. Prior period share and earnings per share amounts
have been restated to reflect the split. The par value of the common
stock remained at $0.10 per share. Accordingly, an adjustment from
Additional paid-in capital to Common stock was required to preserve
the paf value of the post-split shares.

PREFERRED STOCK

Holdings is authorized to issue a total of 24,999,000 shares
of preferred stock. At November 30, 2006, Holdings had 798,000
shares issued and outstanding under various series as described

below. Al preferred stock has a dividend preference over Holdings’
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common stock in the paying of dividends and a preference in the
liquidation of assets.

Series L On May 11, 1998, Holdings issued 5,000,000
Depositary Shares, each representing 1/10th of a share of 5.94%
Cumulative Preferred Stock, Series C (“Series C Preferred Stock™),
$1.00 par value. The shares of Series C Preferred Stock have a redemp-
tion price of $500 per share, together with accrued and unpaid divi-
dends. Holdings may redeem any or all of the outstanding shares of
Series C Preferred Stock beginning on May 31, 2008. The $250 mil-
lion redemption value of the shares outstanding at November 38, 2006
is classified in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition as a

component of Preferred stock.




Series D On July 21, 1998, Holdings issued 4,000,000
Depositary Shares, each representing 1/100th of a share of 5.67%
Cumulative Preferted Stock, Series D (“Series D Preferred Stock™),
$1.00 par value. The shares of Series D Preferred Stock have a
redemption price of $5,000 per share, together with accrued and
unpaid dividends. Holdings may redeem any or all of the outstanding
shares of Series D Preferred Stock beginning on August 31, 2008. The
$200 million redemption value of the shares outstanding at November
30, 2006 is classified in the Consolidated Statement of Financial
Condition as a component of Preferred stock,

Series E On March 28, 2000, Holdings issued 5,000,000
Bepositary Shares, each representing 1/100th of a share of Fixed/
Adjustable Rate Cumulative Preferred Stock, Series E (“Series E
Preferred Stock™), $1.00 par value. The initial cumulative dividend rate
on the Series E Preferred Stock was 7.115% per annuwm through May
31, 2005. On May 31, 2005, Holdings redeemed all of our issued and
outstanding shares, together with accumulated and unpaid dividends.

Series F On August 20, 2003, Holdings issued 13,800,000
Depositary Shares, each representing 1/100th of a share of 6.50%
Cumulative Preferred Stock, Series F (“Series F Preferred Stock™),
$1.00 par value. The shares of Series F Preferred Stock have a redemp-
tion price of $2,500 per share, together with accrued and unpaid divi-
dends. Holdings may redeem any or all of the outstanding shares of
Series F Preferred Stock beginning on August 31, 2008. The $345 mil-
lion redemption value of the shares outstanding at November 30, 2006
is classified in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition as a
component of Preferred stock.

Series 6 On January 30, 2004 and August 16, 2004, Holdings
issued in the aggregate 12,000,000 Depositary Shares, each representing
1/100th of a share of Holdings” Floating Rate Cumulative Preferred
Stock, Series G (“Series G Preferred Stock™), $1.00 par value, for a total
of $300 million. Dividends on the Series G Preferred Stock are payable

at a floating rate per annum of one-month LIBOR plus 0,75%, with a
floor of 3.0% per annum. The Series G Preferred Stock has a redemp-
tion price of §2,500 per share, together with accrued and unpaid divi-
dends. Holdings may redeem any or all of the outstanding shares of
Series G Preferred Stock beginning on February 15, 2009, The $300
million redemption value of the shares outstanding at November 30,
2006 is classified in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition
as a component of Preferred stock.

The Series C, D, F and G Preferred Stock have no voting rights
except as provided below or as otherwise from time to time required
by law. If dividends payable on any of the Series C, D, F or G Preferred
Stock or on any other cqually-ranked series of preferred stock have not
been paid for six or more quarters, whether or not consecutive, the
authorized number of directors of the Company will automatically be
increased by two. The holders of the Series C, D, F or G Preferred
Stock will have the right, with holders of any other equally-ranked
series of preferred stock that have similar voting rights and on which
dividends likewise have not been paid, voting together as a class, to
elect two directors to fill such newly created directorships until the
dividends in arrears are paid.

COMMON STOCK

Dividends declared per common share were $0.48, $0.40 and
$0.32 in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectvely, During the years e¢nded
November 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004, we repurchased or acquired shares
of our common stock at an aggregate cost of approximately $3.7 billion,
$4.2 billion and $2.3 billion, respectively, or $69.61, $51.59, and $39.10
per share, rcsp;:ctively.Thesc shares were acquired in the open market
and from employees who tendered mature shares to pay for the exercise
cost of stock options or for statutory tax withhelding obligations on
restricted stock unit (“RSU") issuances or option exercises.

Changes in the number of shares of common stock outstanding

are as follows:

COMMON STOCK

NOVEMBER 3B 0 - 2005 2004
Shares outstanding, beginning of period * 542,874,206 548,318,822 533,358,112
Bxercise of stock options and other share issuances 22,374,748 53,142,714 36,948,844
Shares issued to the RSU Trust 21,000,000 22,000,000 36,000,000
Treasury stock acquisinons (52,880,759) (80,587,330} (57,988,134)
Shares outstanding, end of period 542,874,206 548,318,822

533,368,195

In 1997, we established an irrevocable grantor trust (the “RSU
Trust”} to provide common stock voting rights to employees who hold
outstanding RSUs and to encourage employees to think and act like
owners. In 2006, 2005 and 2004, we transferred 21 million, 22 million
and 36 million treasury shares, respectively, into the RSU Trust. At
November 30, 2006, approximately 64.7 million shares were held in the

RSU Trust with a total value of approximately $1.7 billion. These shares
are valued at weighted-average grant prices. Shares tramsferred to the
RSU Trust do not affect the total number of shares used in the calcula-
ton of basic and diluted earnings per share because we include amor-
tized RSUs in the calculations. Accordingly, the RSU Trust has no effect

on total equity, net income ot earnings per share.
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NOTE 13 REGULATORY REGUIREMENTS

Holdings is regulated by the SEC as a consolidated supervised
entity (“CSE”). As such, it is subject te group-wide supervision and
examination by the SEC, and must comply with rules regarding the
measurement, management and reporting of market, credit, liquidity,
legal and operational risk. As of November 30, 2006, Holdings was in
compliance with the CSE capital requirements and held allowable
capital in excess of the minimum capital requirements on a consoli-
dated basis.

In the United States, LBl and Neuberger Berman, LLC
("INBLLC”) are registered broker dealers that are subject to SEC Rule
15¢3-1 and Rule 1.17 of the Commodity Futures Trading Commission
("CFTC"}, which specify minimum net capital requircments for their
registrants, LBI and NBLLC have consistently operated in excess of
their respective regulatory capital requirements. As of November 30,
2006, LBI had net capital of $4.7 billion, which exceeded the mini-
mum net capital requirement by $4.2 billion. As of November 30,
2006, NBLLC had net capital of $191 million, which exceeded the
minimum net capital requirement by $178 million.

Effective December 1, 2005, the SEC approved LBIs use of
Appendix E of the Net Capital Rule which establishes alternative net
capital requirements for broker-dealers that are part of CSEs. Appendix
E allows LBI to calculate net capital charges for market risk and
derivatives-related credit risk based on internal risk models provided
that LBI holds tentative net capital in excess of $1 billion and net
capital in excess of $500 million. Additionally, LBI is required to notify
the SEC in the event that its tentative net capital is less than $5 billion.
As of November 30, 2006, LBI had tentative net capital in excess of
both the minimum and notification requirements,

Lehman Brothers International (Europe) (“LBIE"), a United
Kingdom registered broker-dealer and subsidiary of Holdings, is subject
to the capital requirements of the Financial Services Authority (“FSA”)
of the United Kingdom. Financial resources, as defined, must exceed
the total financial resources requirement of the FSA. At November 30,
2006, LBIE’ financial resources of approximately $9.2 billion exceeded
the minimum requirement by approximately $2.0 billion. Lehman
Brothers Japan Inc., a regulated broker-dealer, is subject to the capital

requirements of the Financial Services Agency and, at November 30,
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2006, had net capital of approximately $896 million, which was approx-
imately $436 million in excess of the specified levels required.

Lehman Brothers Bank, FSB ( “LBB"), cur thrift subsidiary, is
regulated by the Office of Thrift Supervision (“OTS"). Lehman
Brothers Commercial Bank (“LBCB"), our Utah industrial bank sub-
sidiary established during 2005, is regulated by the Utah Department
of Financial Institutions and the Federal Deposit [nsurance Corporation.
LBB and LBCB exceed all regulatory capital requirements and are
considered to be well capitalized as of November 30, 2006. Lchman
Brothers Bankhaus AG (“Bankhaus”™), a German comme'rcial bank, is
subject to the capital requirements of the Federal Financial Supervisory
Authority of the German Federal Republic. At November 30, 2006,
Bankhaus’ financial resources, as defined, exceed its minimum financial
resources requirement. Overall, these bank institutions have raised
$21.4 billion and $15.1 billion of customer deposit liabilities as of -
November 30, 2006 and November 30, 2005, respectively.

Certain other subsidiaries are subject to various securities, com-
modities and banking regulations and capital adequacy requirements
promulgated by the regulatory and exchange authorities of the coun-
tries in which they operate. At November 30, 2006, these other sub-
sidiaries were in compliance with their applicable local capital
adcquacy rcquirements.

in addition, our “AAA" rated derivatives subsidiaries, Lehman
Brothers Financial Products Inc. (“LBFP”) and Lehman Brothers
Derivative Products Inc. (“LBDP”"), have established certain capital and
operating restrictions that are reviewed by various rating agencies. At
November 3(, 2006, LBFF and LBDP each had capital that exceeded
the requirements of the rating agencies. '

The regulatory rules referred to above, and certain covenants
contained in various debt agreements, may restrict Holdings’ abilit)f to
withdraw capital from its regulated subsidiaries, which in wrn could
limit its ability vo pay dividends to shareholders. At November 30,
2006, approximately $8.1 billion of net assets of subsidiaries were
restricted as to the payment of dividends to Holdings. In the normal
course of business, Holdings provides guarantees of certain activities of
its subsidiaries, including our fixed income derivative business con-

ducted through Lehman Brothers Special Financing Inc.




NOTE 14 EARNINGS PER SHARE

Earnings per share was calculated as follows:

EARNINGS PER SHARE

IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA
YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30 2086 2005 HH
KUMERATOR:
Net income $ 4,007 $ 3,260 $ 2,369
Preferred stock dividends 66 69 72
Numerator for basic earnings per share—net income applicable to common stock $ 3,941 $ 3191 $ 2,297
DENBMINATOR:
Denominator for basic earnings per share—weighted-average common shares 543.0 556.3 549.4
Effect of dilutive securities: .

Employee stock options 29.1 254 27.6

Restricted stock units 6.3 5.5 4.5
Dilutive potential common shares 35.4 309 321
Denominator for diluted earnings per share—weighted-average

common and dilutive potential common shares® 578.4 587.2 5815
Basic earnings per share $ 7.26 $ 574 $ 418
Diluted earnings per share $ 6.81 $ 543 $ 395
= Anti-gilutive options and cestricted stock wnils excleded from the calcwations of diluted earnings per share 44 8.7 41

On April 5, 2006, our Board of Directors approved 2 2-for-1 commeon stock split, in the form of a stock dividend that was effected on April
28, 2006, See Note 12, “Stockholders’ Equity,” for additional information about the stock split.

NOTE 15 SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE INCENTIVE PLANS

We adopted the fair value recognition provisions for share-based
awards pursuant to SFAS 123(R) effective as of the beginning of the 2006
fiscal year. See Note 1, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies—
Accounting and Regulatory Developments” for a further discussion.

We sponsor several share-based employee incentive plans.
Amortzation of compensation costs for grants awarded under these
plans was approximately $1,007 million, $1,055 million and $800 mil-
lion during 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Not included in the
$1,007 million of 2006 amortization expense is $699 million of stock
awards granted ro retirement ¢ligible employees in December 2006,
which were accrued as compensation expense in fiscal 2006. The total
income tax benefit recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Income
associated ‘with the above amortization expense was $421 million, $457
million and $345 million during 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively,

At November 30, 2006, unrecognized compensation cost related
to nonvested stock option and RSU awards totaled $1.8 billion. The
cost of these non-vested awards is expected to be recognized over a

weighted-average period of approximately 4.4 years.

Below is a description of our share-based employee incentive
compensation plans.

SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE INCENTIVE PLANS

‘We sponsor several share-based employee incentive plans. The
total number of shares of commeon stock remaining available for future
awards under these plans at November 30, 2006, was 42.2 million (not
including shares that may be returned to the Stock Incentive Plan as
described below, but including an additional 0.4 million shares autho~
rized for issuance under the 1994 Plan that have been reserved solely
for issuance in respect of dividends on outstanding awards under this
plan}. In connection with awards made under our share-based employee
incentive plans, we are authorized to issue shares of common stock held
in treasury or newly-issued shares.

1994 and 1995 Management Ownership Plans and Employee
incentive Plan The Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc. 1994
Management Ownership Plan (the 1994 Plan™), the Lehman
Brothers Holdings Inc. 1996 Management Ownership Plan (the
“1996 Plan”), and the Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc. Employee
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Incentive Plan {the “EIP") all expired following the completion of
their various terms. These plans provided for the issuance of RSUs,
performance stock units (“PSUs™), stock options and other share-
based awards to eligible employees. At November 30, 2006, awards
with respect to 607.2 million shares of common stock have been made
under these plans, of which 163.1 million are outstanding and 444.1
million have been converted to freely transferable commeon stock.

Stock Incentive Plan  The Stock Incentive Plan {the “SIP™} has
2 10-year term ending in May 2015, with provisions similar to the
previous plans, The SIP authorized the issuance of up to the total of
(i) 20.0 million shares, plus (1i) the 33.5 million shares authorized for
issuance undet the 1996 Plan and the EIP that remained unawarded
upon their expiration, plus {iii) any shares subject to repurchase or
forfeiture rights under the 1996 Plan, the EIP or the 2005 SIP that ate
reacquired by the Company, or the award of which is canceled, ter-
minates, expires or for any other reason is not payable, plus (iv) any
shares withheld or delivered pursuant to the terms of the 2005 SIP in
payment of any applicable exercise price or tax withholding obliga-
tion. Awards with respect to 14.4 million shares of comunon stock
have been made under the SIP as of November 30, 2006, most of
which are outstanding.

193% Long-Term Incentive Plan The 1999 Neuberger Berman
Inc. Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “LTIP”} provides for the grant of
restricted stock, restricted units, incentive stock, incentive units, deferred
shares, supplemental units and stock options. The total number of shares
of common stock that may be issued under the LTIP is 15.4 million. At
November 30, 2006, awards with respect to approximately 14.1 million
shares of common stock had been made under the LTIP, of which 5.0

million were ousstanding.

RESTRICTED STOCK UNITS

Eligible employees receive RSUs, in lien of cash, as a portion of
their total compensation. There is no further cost to employees associ-
ated with RSU awards. RSU awards generally vest over two to five years
and convert to unrestricted freely transferable common stock five years
from the grant date. All or a portion of an award may be canceled if
employment s terminated before the end of the relevant vesting period.
We accrue dividend equivalents on outstanding RSUs {in the form of
additional RSUs), based on dividends declared on our coﬁmon stock.

For R5Us granted prior to 2004, we measured compensation cost
based on the market value of our common stock at the grant date in
accordance with APB 25 and, accordingly, a discount from the market
price of an unrestricted share of commeon stock on the RSU grant date
was not recognized for selling restrictions subsequent to the vesting
date. For awards granted beginning in 2004, we measure compensation
cost based on the market price of our common stock at the grant date
less a discount for sale restrictions subsequent to the vesting date in
accordance with SFAS 123 and SFAS 123(R). The fair value of RSUs
subject to post-vesting date sale restrictions are generally discounted by
five percent for each year of post-vesting restriction, based on market-
based studies and academic research on securities with restrictive fea-
tures. R3Us granted in each of the periods presented contain selling
restrictions subsequent to the vesting date.

The fair value of RSUs converted to common stock without
testrictions during the year ended November 30, 2006 was $1.9 billion.
Compensation costs previously recognized and tax benefits recognized in
equity upon issuance of these awards were approximately $1.2 billion.

The following table summarizes RSU activity for the years ended
November 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004:

RESTRICTED STOCK UNiTS

006 2005 2004

i
Balance, beginning of year 120,417,674 128,484,786 128,686,626
Granted ! 8,251,700 27,930,284 29,798,024
Canceled (2,317,009) (3,025,908) (2.552,004)
Exchanged for stock without restrictions (25,904,367) (32,971,488) (27,447,860)
Balance, end of year 100,447,998 120,417,674 128,484,786
Shares held in RSU trust (64,715,853) {69,117,768) (77,722,136}
RSUs outstanding, net of shares held in RSU trust 35,732,145 51,299,906 50,762,650

The above table does not include approximately 34.7 million
of RSUs which were granted to employees on December 8, 2006,
comprised of 11.0 million awarded to retirement eligible employees
and expensed in fiscal 2006 and 23.7 million awarded to employees
and subject to future vesting provisions. Therefore, after this grant,
there were approximately 70.4 million RSUs outstanding, net of
shares held in the RSU trust.
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Of the 100.4 million RSUs outstanding at November 30, 2006,
approximately 65.8 million were amortized and included in basic
earnings per share. Approximately 14.5 million of the RSUs out-
standing at November 30, 2006 will be amortized during 2007, and
the remainder will be amortized subsequent to 2007. Of the 23.7
million RSUs awarded on December 8, 2006 to non-retirement
cligible employees and subject to future vesting provisions, approxi-

mately 8.7 million will be amortized during 2007.
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The above table includes approximately 5.8 million RSUs
awarded 1o certain senior officers, the werms of which were modified in
2006 (the “Modifted RSUs"). The original RSUs resulted from PSUs
for which the performance periods have expired, but which were not
previously converted into RSUs as their vesting was contingent upon a
change in control of the Company or certain other specified circum-
stances as determined by the Compensation and Benefits Committee
of the Board of Directors (the “CIC RSUs"). On November 30, 2006,
with the approval of the Compensation and Benefits Committee, each
executive agreed to a modification of the vesting terms of the CIC
RSUs to eliminate the change in control provisions and to provide for
vesting in ten equal annual installments from 2007 to 2016, provided
the executive continues to be an employee on the vesting date of the
respective installment. Vested installments will remain subject to forfei-
ture for detrimental behavior for an additional two years, after which
time they will convert to Common Stock on a one-for-one basis and
be issued to the executive. The Modified RSUSs will vest (and convert
to Common Stock and be issued) earlier only upon death, disability or
certain government service approved by the Compensation Committee.
Dividends will be payable by the Corporation on the Modified RSUs
from the date of their modification and will be reinvested in additional
RSUs with the same terms.

Also included in the previous table are PSUs for which the num-
ber of RSUs to be earned was dependent on achieving certain per-
formance levels within predetermined performance periods. During
the performance period, these PSUs were accounted for as variable
awards. At the end of the performance period, any PSUs earned con-

verted one-for-one to RSUs that then vest in three or more years. At

November 30, 2006, all performance periods have been completed
and any PSUs earned have been converted inte RSUs. The compen-
sation cost for the RSUs payable in satisfaction of PSUs is accrued
over the combined performance and vesting periods.

STOCK OPTIONS

Employees and Directors may receive stock options, in lieu of cash,
as a portion of their total compensation. Options generally become
exercisable over a one- to five-year period and generally expire 5 to 10
years from the date of grant, subject to accelerated expiration upon
termination of employment.

We use the Black-Scholes option-pricing model to measure the
grant date fair value of stock options granted to cmploycc;. Stock
options granted have exercise prices equal to the market price of our
common stock on the grant date. The principal assumptions utlized in
valuing options and our methodology for esimating such model inputs
include: 1) risk-free interest rate - estimate is based on the yield of U.S.
zero coupon securities with a mawrity equal to the expected life of the
option; 2) expected volatility - estimate is based on the historical volatil-
ity of our common stock for the three years preceding the award date,
the implied volatility of market-traded options on our common stock
on the grant date and other factors; and 3) expected option life - esti-
mate is based on internal studies of historical and projected exercise
behavior based on different employee groups and specific option char-
acteristics, including the effect of cmployee terminations. Based on the
results of the model, the weighted-average fair value of stock options
granted were $15.83, $13.24 and $9.63 for 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respectively. The weighted-average assumptions used for 2006, 2005

and 2004 were as follows:

WEIGHTED-AVERAGE BLACK-SCHOLES ASSUMPTIONS

YEAR ENDED NOVENBER 30 I

005 2005 2004
Risk-free interest rate | 4.49% | 3.97% 3.04%
Expected volatility | 23.08% - 23.73% 28.09%
Dividends per share ! $0.48 30.40 $0.32
Expected life ) ; 4.5 years 3.9 yeans 3.7 years
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The valuation technique takes into account the specific terms and The following table summuarizes stock option activity for the years
conditions of the stock options granted including vesting period, termi- | ended November 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004:

nation provisions, intrinsic value and time dependent exercise behavior.

STOCK GPTION ACTIVITY

WEIGHTED-AVERAGE EXPIRATION

GPTIONS EXERCISE PRICE DATES

Balance, November 30, 2003 173,493,300 $25.11 12/03—11/13
Granted 10,847,192 $40.37
Exercised (34,334,704} $18.18
Canceled (2,918,598} $28.24

Balance, November 30, 2004 147,087,190 $27.79 12/04—11/14
Granted 7,048,026 $55.77
Exercised (51,075,484 $24.38
Canceled {1,309,406) $33.38

Balance, November 30, 2005 101,750,326 $31.36 12/05—11/15
Granted 2,670,400 $66.14
Exercised (22,453,729) $28.38
Canceled (570,626) $31.63

Balance, November 30, 2006 81,396,371 $33.32 12/06-—5/16

The total intrinsic vatue of stock options exercised in 2006 was | $385 million. Cash received from the exercise of stock options in
$956 million for which compensation costs previously recognized and | 2006 totaled $637 million.
tax benefits recognized in equity upen issuance totaled approximately The table below provides additional information related to stock

options outstanding:

STOCK OPTIONS
BUTSTANDING OPTIONS EXERCISABLE

NCVEMBER 30 2006 2005 2004 2005 2005 2004
Number of options . 81,396,371 101,750,326 147,087,190 54,561,355 52,638,434 68,713,842
Weighted—ﬁvcm.ge exercise price : $33.32 $31.36 $27.79 $30.12 $27.65 - %2467
Aggregate intrinsic valve {in millions} $3,284 ¢ $3,222 $2,082 $2,376 $1,861 $1,184
Weighted-average remaining ' :

contractual terms in years ‘ 484 | 5.46 5.73 4.25 4.58 5.49
At November 30, 2006, the number of options outtanding, net of At November 30, 2006, the intrinsic value of unexercised vested

projected forfeitures, was approximately 80.0 million shares, with a | options was approximately $2.4 billion for which compensation cost
weighted-average exercise price of $33.15, aggregate intrinsic value of $3.2 | and tax benefits expected to be recognized in equity, upon issuance, ate
billion, and weighted-average remaining contractual terms of 4.82 years, approximately $1.0 billion.
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RESTRICTED STOCK

In addition to RSUs, we also continue to issue restricted stock to certain Neuberger employees under the LTIP. The following table sum-

marizes restricted stock activity for the years ended November 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004:

RESTRICTED STOCK

W5 2005 2004
Balance, beginning of year 1,042,376 1,541,692 1,611,174
Granted 43,520 15,534 447,778
Canceled (6,430) (37.446) (54.,650)
Exchanged for stock without restrictions {407,510) (477,404) {462,610)
Balance, end of year 671,956 1,042,376 1,541,692

At November 30, 2006, there were 671,956 shares of restricted
stock outstanding, The fair value of the 407,510 shares of restricted stock
that became freely tradable in 2006 was approximately $28 million.

SFAS 123(R)

SEAS 123(R) generally requires share-based awards granted to
retirement-eligible employees to be expensed imunediately. For share-
based awards granted prior ta our adoption of SFAS 123(R), compensa-

tion cost related to awards made to retirement-eligible employees and

those with non-substantive non-compete agreements was recognized

over the service periods specified in the award; we accelerated the rec-
ognition of compensation cost if and when a retirment-eligible
employee or an employee subject to a non-substantive non-compete
agreement terminated employment.

The following table sets forth the pro forma compensation cost
that would have been reported for the years ended November 30, 2006,
2005 and 2004 if share-based awards granted to retirement-¢ligible
employees, and those with non-substantive non-compete agreements

had been expensed immediately as required by SFAS 123(R):

PRO FORMA COMPENSATION COSY

IN MILLIONS
YEAR ENDED WOVEMBER 30 2006 2005 2004
Compensation and benefits, as reported $8,669 $7.213 45,730
Effect of immediately expensing share-based awards

granted to retirement-eligible employees™ (656) 438 308
Pro forma compensation and benefit costs $8,013 $7.651 : $6,038

“Summary of Significant Accounting Policies—Accounting and Regulatory Developments.”

 The 2006 pro forma impact represents the presumed benefit as if we had amortized pre-2006 awards granted o retirement eligible employees and those with non-substantive non-
compete agreements immediately, as these awards would have been expensed as of the grant date. Compensation and benefits, as reported for 2006, includes amortization associated
with these pre-2006 awards. The adoption of SFAS 123(R) did not have a material effect an compensation and benefits expense for the year ended November 30, 2006. See Note 1,

STOCK REPURCHASE PROGRAM

We maintain a stock repurchase program to manage our equity
capital. Our stock repurchase program is effected through regular open-
market purchases, as well as through employee transactions where employ-
ecs tender shares of common stock to pay for the exercise price of stock
options and the required tax withholding obligations upon option exer-

cises and conversion of RSUs to freely-tradable common stock. In January

2007, our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase, subject to market

conditions, of up to 100 million shares of Holdings common stack for the
management of our equity capital, including offsetting dilution due to
employee stock awards. This authorization supersedes the stock repurchase
program authorized in 2006, During 2006, we repurchased approximately
38.9 million of our common stock through open-market purchases at an
agpregate cost of $2.7 billion, or $68.80 per share. In addition, we withheld
approximately 14.0 million shares of common stock from employees at an
equivalent cost of approximately $1.0 billion.
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NOTE 16 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

We provide both funded and unfunded noncontributory defined | health care and life insurance, to eligible employees. We use a November
benefit pension plans for the majority of our employees worldwide. [n | 30 measurement date for the majority of our plans. The following tables

addition, we provide certain other postretirement benefits, primarily | summmarize these plans:

DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS
DTHER
PENSION BENEFITS POSTRETIREMENT
1§ NHLLIDNS ; 0.5 NON-U.S, BENEFITS
NOVEMBER 30 2008 2005 2006 2005 ' 2006 2005
CHANGE 1N BENEFIT OBLIGATION
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $1,017 $ 947 5 3 $ 377 $ 60 $ &9
Service cost ) 47 40 ‘ 8 8 . 1
Interest cost 61 5% 20 19 3
Plan amendment ' 3 5 . — — — _
Actuarial loss (gain) 69 o . 37 41 2 . )
Benefits paid . 29 (2% o Q! &) (5
Foreign currency exchange rate changes - — ) 57 (39} — —
Benefit obligation at end of year 1,168 1.017 ! 514 399 61 60
CHANGE IN PLAN ASSETS : ‘ '
Fair value of plan asscts at beginning of year T 1,030 887 378 37 - —
Acrual return on plan assews, net of expenses 926 72 43 59 — —
Employer contribution 50 100 : 26 5 5 5
Benefits paid . 29) 29 ) @ (5) (5)
Foreign currency exchange rate changes . — —_ i 53 (36) —_— —
Fair value of plan assets at end of year . 1,147 1.030 o 38 _ —
Funded (underfunded) status 7 ; (21 ' 13 (20) @y . (61) (60)
Unrecognized net actuarial loss (gain) 455 438 | 161 133 @) . (11)
Unrecognized prior service cost (benefit) ' 30 31 i 1 1 (1) } 2
Prepaid (accrued) benefit cost $ 464 | 5482 | $ 142 | $13 1 s (7| § @3
Accumulated benefit obligation—funded plans $1.020 § 899 i § 490 i $ 375
Accumulated benefit obligation——unfunded plan® . 76 | 63 - | 7
A liabHity is recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition for the unfunded plan.
WEIGHTED-AYERAGE ASSUMPTHINS USED TO DETERMINE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS AT NOVEMBER 30 _
Discount rate | 5.73%. 598% | 4.82%, 480% | 5.70% | 5:83%
Rate of compensation increase . 5.00%  500% . 430% ]  4.30% {
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COMPONENTS OF NET PERIODIC COST

PENSIDON BEREFITS POSTRETIREMENT

(% MILLIOKS LS. NON-US. BENEFS

YEAR EXDED NOVEMBER 30 008 2005 2004 2008 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004
Service cost $49 $42 $34 $8 $7 $6 $2 $2 $2
Interest cost 61 56 50 20 19 16 3 3 4
Expected return on plan assets (76) (74) (69) {26} (24) (22) — — —
Amortization of net actuarial loss 30 33 3 10 11 7 —_ —_ —_
Amortization of prior service cost 4 3 3 1 1 1 (1) 1 (1)
Net periodic cost $68 360 Y $13 $14 $8 $4 $4 $5

WEIGHTED-AVERAGE ASSUMPTIONS USED TO CETERMINE NET PERIODIC COST FOR THE YEARS ENDED NOVEMBER 30

Discount rate 5.98% 5.90%  6.15% 4.82% 4.80% 5.21% 5.70% 5.90% 6.15%
Expected retuen on plan assers 7.50% 8.50%  8.50% 6.57%  6.96% 6.94%

Rate of compensation increase 5.00% 5000 4.90% 4,30% - 4.30% 4.28%

RETURN DN PLAN ASSETS committee reviews the asset allocation quarterly and, with the approval

U.S. and non—U.S. Plans  Establishing the expected rate of return
on pension assets requires judgment. We consider the following factors
in determining this assumption:

@ The types of investment classes in which pension plan assets are
invested and the expected compounded return we can reasonably
expect the portfolio to earn over appropriate time periods. The
expected return reflects forward-looking economic assumptions.

@ The investment returns we can reasonably expect our active invest-
ment management program te achieve in excess of the returns
expected if investments were made strictly in indexed funds.

B [nvestment related expenses.

We review the expected long-term rate of return annually and

revise it as appropriate. Also, we periodically commission detailed asset/

. liability studies to be performed by third-party professional investment

advisors and actuaries. These studies project stated future returns on
plan assets. The studies performed in the past support the reasonableness
of our assumptions based on the targeted allocation investment classes
and market conditions at the time the assumptions were established.

PLAN ASSETS

Pension plan assets are invested with the objective of meetng current
and funure benefit payment needs, while minimizing future contributions.

U.S. Plan  Plan assets are invested with several investment manag-
ers. Assets are diversified among U.S. and international equity securities,
U.S. fixed income securities, real estate and cash. The plan employs a
mix of active and passive investment management programs. The stra-
tegic target of plan asset allocation is approximately 65% equities and

35% ULS. fixed income. The investment sub-comunittee of our pension

of the pension committee, determines when and how to rebalance the
portfolio, The plan does not have a dedicated allocation to Lehman
Brothers common stock, although the plan may hold a minimal invest-
ment in Lehman Brothers common stock as a result of investment
decisions made by various investment managers,

Non-U.5. Plans Non—U.S. pension plan assets are invested with
several investment managers across a range of different asset classes. The
strategic target of plan asset allocation is approximately 75% equities,
20% fixed income and 5% real estate.

Weighted-average plan asset allocadons were as follows:

PENSION PLAN ASSETS

U.S. PLANS NOM-U.S. PLANS

NOVEMBER 30 2006 2005 2006 2005
Equity securities 7% 64% 2%  75%

Fixed income securites 23 24 14 16

Reeal estate — 2 5 5

Cash 3 10 g 4
100%  100% 100%  100%

EXPECTED CONTRIBUTIONS FOR THE

FISCAL YEAR ENDING NOVEMBER 30, 2007

We do not expect it to be necessary to contribute to our US.
pension plans in the fiscal year ending November 30, 2007. We expect
to contribute approximately $25 million to our non—U.S. pension plans
int the fiscal year ending November 30, 2007,
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ESTIMATED FUTURE BENEFIT PAYMENTS

The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid:

ESTIMATED FUTURE BENEFIT PAYMENTS

PENSION

N MILLIONS us. NOM-U.5. POSTRETIREMENT
Fiscal 2007 $ 34 § 10 $ 6
Fiscal 2008 37 4 6
Fiscal 2009 40 4 6
Fiscal 2010 42 5 6
Fiscal 2011 45 5 R
Fiscal 2012—2(016 284 40 26
POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS
Assurned health care cost trend rates were as follows:

POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS
NOYEMBER 30 2086 2005
Health: care cost trend rate assumed for next year 9V o
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to decline {the ultimate tend rate) 5% 5%
Year the rate reaches the ultmate trend rate 2011 2010

A one-percentage-point change in assumed health care cost trend rates would be immaterial to our other postretirement plans.

Lehman Brothers 2006
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NOTE 17 INCOME TAXES

We file a consolidated ULS. federal income tax return reflecung the income of Holdings and its subsidiaries. The provision for income

taxes consists of the following:

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES
IN HILLIONS
YEAR ENDED NOYEMBER 30 2006 2005 2004
CURRENT:
Federal $1,024 $1,037 $ 471
State o 265 143
Foreign 890 769 585
2,005 2,071 1,199
DEFERRED:
Federal {80) (634) 3
State 22) {59 39
Foreign 42 191 {116)
(60} (502) 74)
Provision for income taxes $1,945 31,569 $1,125

Income before taxes included $2,667 million, $!,880 mullion and
$733 million that also were subject to income taxes of foreign jurisdic-
tions for 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

The income tax provision differs from that computed by using the

statutory federal income tax rate for the reasons shown below:

RECONCILIATION OF PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES TO FEDERAL INCOME TAXES AT STATUTDRY RATE

1N MILLIDNS

YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30 2006 2005 2004
Federal income taxes at statutory rate $2,068 $1,690 $1,231

State and lacal taxes ' ‘ 45 134 Co19

Tax-exempt income (125) (135) (135}
Foreign operations an . (113) {66}
Other, net 26y ) 24
Provision for income tixes $1,945 $1,569 $1,125

The provision for income taxes resulted in effective tax rates of 32.9%,
32.5% and 32.0% for 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The increases in
the effective tax rates in 2006 and 2005 compared with the prior years were
primarily due to an increase in level of pretax carnings which minimizes
the impact of certain tax benefit items, and in 2006 2 net reduction in
certain benefits from foreign operations, partially offset by a reduction in
state and local taxes due to favorable audit settlements in 2006 and 2005.

Income tax benefits related to employee stock compensation plans
of approximately $836 million, $1,005 million and $468 million in 2006,
2005 and 2004, respectively, were allocated to Additional paid-in capital.

In 2006 and 2005, we recorded income tax charges of $2 million
and $1 million, respectively, and an income tax benefit in 2004 of $2
million from the translation of foreign currencies, which was recorded
directly in Accumulated other comprehensive income.

Deferred income taxes 'm: provided for the differences between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their reported amounts in the
Consolidated Financial Statements. These temporary differences will
result in future income or deductions for income tax purposes and are
measured using the enacted tax rates that will be in effect when such

items are expected to reverse.
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At November 30, 2006 and 2005, deferred tax assets and liabilities consisted of the following:

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

IN MILLIONS : )
NOYEMBER 30 2006 ) 2005
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS:
Liabilides and other accruals not currently deductible $ 415 $ 377
Deferred compensation ' 1,657 1,218 .
Unrealized investment activity : 51 453
Foreign tax credits including carryforwards 214 | 214
Foreign eperations (net of associated tax credits) 709 - 760
Net operating loss carryforwards 64 53
Other 7 251
Total deferred tax assets , 3,401 3,326
Less: valuation allowance N i [E) . (5
Total deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance 3,39 3,321
DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES: . S
Excess tax over financial depreciation, net (103) ' (57
Acquired intangibles (384) {404)
Pension and retirement costs {192) (2186)
Other “n ©on
Total deferred tax liabilities (726) . (704) -
Net deferred tax asscts $2,670 1

$2,617

Net deferred tax assets are included in Other assets in the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition.

We have permanently reinvested earnings in certain foreign sub-
sidiaries. At November 30, 2006, $2.4 billion of accumulated earnings
were permanently retnvested. At current (ax rates, additonal Pederal
income taxes {net of available tax credits) of approximately $500 million
would become payable if such income were to be repatriated.

We have approximately $182 million of Federal net operating loss
carryforwards that are subject to separate company limitations,
Substantially all of these net operating loss carryforwards begin to
expire between 2023 and 2026. At November 30, 2006, the $5 million
deferred tax asset valuation allowance relates to federal net operating
loss carryforwards of an acquired entity that is subject to separate com-
pany limitations. If future circumstances permit the recognition of the
acquired tax benefit, goodwill will be reduced.

We are under continuous examination by the Internal Revenue
Service (“IRS™), and other tax authorities in major operating jurisdic-
tions such as the United Kingdom and Japan, and in various states in

which the Company has significant operations, such as New York. The

Lehman Brothers 2006
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCEAL STATEMENTS

Company regularly assesses the likelihood of additional assessments in
each tax jurisdiction and the impact on the Consolidated Financial
Statements. Tax reserves have been established, wﬁich we believe to be
adequate with regards to the potential for additional exposure. Once
established, reserves are adjusted only when additional information is
obtained or an event requiring a change to the reserve occurs.
Management belicves the resolution of these uncertain tax positions
will not have a material impact on the financial condition of the
Company; however resolution could have an impact on our effective
tax rate in any one particular period.

During 2006, the IRS completed its 1997 through 2000 federal
income tax examination, which resulted in unresolved issues asserted by
the [RS that challenge certan of our ‘tax positions {the “proposed
adjustments”)_We believe our positions comply with the applicable tax
law and intend to vigorously dispute the proposed adjustments through
the judicial procedures, as appropriate. We believe that we have adequate
tax reserves in relation to these unresolved issues. However, it Is possible
that amounts greater than our reserves could be incurred, which we
estimate would not exceed $100 million.




NOTE 18 REAL ESTATE RECONFIGURATION CHARGE

In connection with the Company’s decision in 2002 to reconfig-
ure certain of our global real estate facilities, we established a liability for
the expected losses from subleasing such facilities, principally our
downtown New York City offices after the events of September 11,
2001 and our prior London office facilities at Broadgate given our deci-

sion to move to a new facility just outside the city of London. In March

2004, we reached an agreement to exit virtually all of our remaining
leased space at our downtown New York City location, which clarified
the loss on the locadon and resulted in the $19 million charge ($11
million after rax}).

During the years ended November 30, 2006 and 2005, changes in

the liability related to these charges were as follows:

REAL ESTATE RECONFIGURATION CHARGE

BEGINNINE REAL ESTATE ENDING

N MILLIONS BALANCE RECCNFIGURATIEN USED BALANCE

_ Year ended November 30, 2005 3146 $ — 7N $75
75 —_ {30) 45

Year ended November 30, 2006

NOTE 19 BUSINESS SEGMENTS AND GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

We operate in three business segments: Capital Markets, Investment
Bankiﬁg and Investment Management.

The Capital Markets business segment includes institutional client-
flow activities, prime brokerage, research, mortgage origination and secu-
ritization, and secondary-trading and financing activities in fixed income
and equity products. These products include a wide range of cash, deriva-
tive, secured financing and structured instruments and invesuments. We are
a leading global market-maker in numerous equity and fixed income
products including U.S., European and Asian equities, government and
agency securities, money market products, corporate high grade, high
yield and emerging market securities, mortgage- and asset-backed securi-
ties, preferred stock, municipal securities, bank loans, foreign exchange,
financing and ‘derivative products. We are one of the largest investment
banks in terms of U.S. and Pan-European listed equities trading volume,
and we maintain a major presence in over-the-counter {“OTC”} US.
stocks, major Asian large capitalization stocks, warrants, convertible deben-
tures and preferred issues. In addition, the Capital Markets Prime Services
business manages our equity and fixed income muatched book actvities,
supplies secured financing to institutional clients, and provides secured
funding for our inventory of equity and fixed income products. The
Capital Markers segment alio includes proprietary acuvities as well as
principal investing in real estate and private equity.

The Investment Banking business segment is made up of Advisory
Services and Global Finance activities that serve our corporate and gov-
ernment clients. The segment is organized into global industry groups—
Communications, Consumner/Retailing, Financial Institutions, Financial
Sponsors, Healthcare, Hedge Funds, Industrial, Insurance Solutions, Media,
Natural Resources, Pension Solutions, Power, R eal Estate and Technology—
that include bankers who deliver industry knowledge and expertise to

meet clients’ objectives. Specialized product groups within Advisory
Services include M&A and restructuring. Global Finance serves our cli-
ents’ capital raising needs through underwriting, private placentents, lever-
aged finance and other activities associated with debt and equity products.
Product groups are partnered with relationship managers in the global
industry groups to provide comprehensive financial solutions for clients.
The Investment Management business segment consists of the Asset
Management and Private Investment Management businesses. Asset
Management generates fee-based revenues from customized investment
management services for high-net-worth clients, as well as fees from
mutual funds and other small and middle market institutional investors.
Asset Management also generates management and incentive fees from
our role as general partner for private equity and other alternative invest-

ment partnerships. Private Investment Management provides comprehen-

sive investment, wealth advisory and capital markets execution services to ’

high-net-worth and institutional clients.
Qur business segment information for the yeats ended November
30, 2006, 2005 and 2004 is prepared using the following methodologies:
B Revenues and expenses direcily associated with each business seg-
ment are included in determining income before taxes.
® Revenues and expenses not directly associated with specific business
segments are allocated based on the most relevant measures applicable,
including each segment’s revenues, headcount and other factors.
W Net revenues include allocations of interest revenue and interest
expense to securities and other positions in relation to the cash gen-
erated by, or funding requirements of, the underlying positions.
B Business segment assets include an allocation of indirect corporate
assets that have been fully allocated to our segments, generally based
on each segment’ respective headcount figures.
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BUSINESS SEGMENTS

CAPITAL INVESTMENT INVESTMENT

IN MILLIONS MARKETS BANKING MANABEMENT T0TAL
AT AKD FOR THE YEAR ENDED NOYEMBER 30, 2005

Gross revenues $41,074 $ 3,160 $ 2,475 $46,709
Interest expense 29,068 — 58 29,126
Net revenues 12,006 3,160 2,417 17,583
Depreciation and amortization expense m 42 95 514
Other expenses 6,909 2,458 1,797 11,164
Income before taxes and cumulative effect of accounting change $ 4,720 $ 660 $ 525 $ 5,905
Segment assets (in billions) $ 4935 $ 13 $ 87 $ 503.5
AT AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED NOYEMBER 30, 2005

Gross revenues $27 545 $ 2,394 $ 1,981 $32,420
Interest expense 17,738 — 52 17,790
Net revenues 9,807 2,894 1,929 14,630
Depreciation and amortization expense 308 36 82 426
Other expenses 5,927 2,003 1,445 9,375
Income before taxes $ 3,572 $ 855 $ 402 $ 4,829
Segment assets (in billions) $ 4019 $ 12 $ 70 $ 4101
AT AKD FOR THE YEAR ENDEC NOVEMBER 30, 2004

Gross revenucs $17.336 $ 2,188 $ 1,726 $21,250
Interest expense 9,642 —_ 32 9,674
Net revenues 7,694 2,188 1,694 11,576
Depreciation and amortization expense 302 41 85 428
Other expenses 4,866 1,560 1,185 7,611
Income before taxes™® $ 2,526 $ 587 $ 424 $ 3,537
Segment assets (in billtons) $ 3499 $ 11 $ 62 $ 3572

W Before dividends on preferred securities.
@ Excludes real estate reconfiguration charge of $19 milfion.

NET REVENUES BY GEOGRAPHIC REGION

Net revenues are recorded in the geographic region of the loca-
tion of the seniot coverage banker or investment advisor in the case of
Investment Banking or Asset Management, respectively, or where the
position was risk managed within Capital Markets and Private
Investment Management, In addition, certain revenues associated with
domestic products and services that result from relationships with
international clients have been classified as international revenues using

an allocation consistent with our internal reporting.
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NET REVENUES BY GEOGRAPHIC REGION

IN MILLIONS _
YEAR ENDED KOYEMBER 30 ' 2006 005 2004
Europe $ 4,536 $ 3,601 $ 2,104
. Asia Pacific and other 1,931 1,759 1,247
Total non—U.S, 6,467 5,360 3,351
us. 11,116 9,270 8,225
Net revenues $17,583 $14,630 $11,576




NOTE 20 QUARTERLY INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)

The following table presents unaudited quarterly results of opera- | agement, necessary for 2 fair presentation of the resuits. Revenues and
tions for 2006 and 2005. Certain amounts reflect reclassifications to | net income can vary significantly from quarter to quarter due to the
conform to the current period’s presentation. These quarterly results | nature of our business activities.

reflect all normal recurring adjustments that are, in the opinion of man-

QUARTERLY INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)

IN MILLIQNS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA ' 2006 2005
QUARTER EXDED . KIva AUG 3 WAY 31 FEB 20 NOV 30 AUS 3 HAY 31 FEB 28
Total revenues ; $13,160  $11,727 $11,515  $10,307 % 9.055 $ 8,639 $7,335  §7.39
[nterest expense i 8,627 7,549 7,104 5,846 - 5365 4,787 4,057 3,581
Net revenues 4,533 4,178 4,411 4,461 3,690 3,852 3,278 3,810
MNon-interest expenses:

Compensation 2nd benefits 2,235 2,060 2,175 2,199 1,798 1,906 1,623 1,886

Non-personnel expenses 809 751 738 i 675 653 642 618
Total non-interest expenses V3,044 2,811 2,913 2910 | 2,473 2,559 2,265 2,504
Income before taxes and cumulative

effect of accounting change 1,489 1,367 1,498 1,551 1,217 1,293 1,013 1,306
Provision for income taxes 485 451 496 513 394 414 330 431
Cumulative effect of accounting change _ —_ _ 47 — . — —
Net income . $ 1,004 § 916 $ 1,002 § 1,085 $ 823 $ 879 $ 683 $ 875
Net income applicable to common stock $ 987 5 899 $ 986 5 1,069 § 807 $ 864 § 664 $ 856
Earnings per share

Basic $ 183 5 166 $ 1Bl % 1.9 § 146 $ 155 $ 119§ 154

Diluted $ 172 8 157 $ 169 5 1.8 § 138 $ 147 $ 113 $ 146
Weighted-average shares

Basic 539.2 540.9 545.1 546.2 551.8 557.3 559.1 557.1

Diluted 573.1 5733 582.8 584.2 585.2 587.4 588.0 588.0
Dividends per common share $ 012 8 012 $ 012 § 0.12 $ 010 $ 0.10 $ 010 % 0.0
Book value per common share (at period end)  $ 33.87  § 32.16 $ 31.08 § 30.01 $ 2875 $ 2746 $ 26.64 $ 25.88
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The following table summarizes certain consolidated financial information.

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

IN BILLIONS, EXCEPT PER COMMON SHARE AND
SELECTED DATA AND FINANCIAL RATIOS
YEAR ENDER NOVEMBER 30 2008 : 2008 2004 2603 007

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME

Total revenues $ 46,709 $ 32,420 $ 21,250 ¥ 17,287 ¥ 16,781
Interest expense 29,126 ! 17,790 9,674 8,640 10,626
Net mvenues 17,583 14,630 11,576 8,647 6,155
Non-interest expenscs:
Compensation and benefits 8,669 7,213 5,730 4,318 3,139
Non-personne! expenses™ 3,009 2,588 2,309 1,7t6 1,517
Reeal estate reconfiguration charge — — 19 77 128
September 11th related recoveries, net — —_ —_ — {108}
Regulatory settlement - . — — — 80
Total non-interest expenses 11,678 9,801 8,058 6,111 4,756
Income before taxes and curnulative effect of accounting change 5,905 4,829 3,518 2,536 1,399
Provision fot income taxes 1,%45 1,569 1,125 765 368
Dividends on trust preferred securities® _ — 24 72 56
Income before cumulative effect of accounting change ) 3,960 3,260 2,369 1,699 975
Cumulative effect of accounting change 47 — — — —
Net income $ 4,007 $ 3,260 $ 2,369 $ 1,699 $ 975
Net income applicable to common stock $ 3,941 $ 3191 $ 2297 $ 1,049 $ 906

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINAKCIAL CONDITION (AT NOYEMBER 30)

Total assets $503,545 $410,063 $357,168 $312,061 $260,336
Net assers™ 268,936 211,424 175,221 163,182 140,488
Long-term borrowings?™ 81,178 53,899 49,365 35,885 30,707
Preferred securities subject to mandatory redemption® —_ - —— 1,310 710
Tout stockhoelders’ equity 19,191 16,794 14,520 13,174 8,942
Tangible equity capital® 18,567 15,564 12,636 10,681 9,439
Total Jong-term capital® 169,369 70,693 64,285 50,369 40,359
PER COMMON SHARE DATA®

Net income (basic) $ 7.26 $ 574 $ 418 $ 336 $ 185
Net income (difuted) $ 6.81 $ 543 3 295 $ 307 § 173
Weighted average common shares (basic) (in muillions) 543.0 556.3 549.4 4913 490.7
Weighted average common shares {diluted) (in millions) 578.4 587.2 581.5 519.7 522.3
Dividends $ 048 $ 040 3 032 $ 024 $ 018
Book value (at November 30)® $ 3387 $ 2875 $ 2466 3 2.0 $ 17.07

SELECTED DATA (AT NOVEMBER 30)

Leverage ratio® 26.2x 24.4x 23.9x 23.7x 29.1x
Net leverage rado®™® 14.5x 13.6x 13.9x 15.3x 14.9x
Employees 25,936 22,919 19,579 16,188 12,343
Asgets under management {in biilions} § 225 $ 175 $ 137 $ 120 $ 9
FINANCIAL RATIOS (%)

Compensation and benefits/net reverues 49.3 49.3 49.5 49.9 51.0
Pre-tax margin 13.6 33.0 30.4 293 227
Reeturn on average common stockholders’ equity™ 234 21.6 17.9 18.2 11.2
Return on average tangible common stockholders’ equity™ 29.1 27.8 24.7 19.2 11.5
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@ Non-personnel expenses exclude the following items:
1) rea estate reconfiguration charges of $13 million,
$77 mitlion and $128 million for the years ended
November 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively; and
2) September 11th related recoveries, net of ${108)
million, and a regulatory settlement of $80 millian for
the year ended November 30, 2002.

@ We adopted FIN 46(R) effective February 29, 2004,
which required us to deconsolidate the trusts that
issued the preferred securities. Accordingly, at and
subsequent to February 29, 2004, preferred securities
subject ta mandatory redemption were reclagsified to
Junior Subordinated notes, a compenent of long-term
borrowings. Dividends on prefemed securities subject
to mandatory redemption, which were presented
as Dividends on trust preferred securilies in the
Consolidated Statement of Income through February
29, 2004, are included in Interest expense in periods
subsequent to February 29, 2004.

® Net assets represent total assets excluding: 1) cash
and securities segregated and on deposit for regulatory
and other purposes, 2) securities received as
collateral, 3) securities purchased under agreements
to resell, 4) securities borrowed and 5) identifiable
intangible assets and goodwill. We believe net assets
are a measure more usefud to investors than total
assets when comparing companies in the securities
industry because it excludes certain low-risk non-
inventory assets and identifiable intangible assets and
goodwill. Net assets as presented are not necessaiily
comparable to simifarfy-titled measures provided by
olher companies in the securities industry because of
different methods of presentation, @

]

Long-term barrowings esclude borrowings with
remaining contractual maturities within one year of
the financial statement date.

NOTES TD SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

@ Tangible equity capital represents total stockholders'
equity plus junior subordinated nates {and at November
30, 2003 and 2002, prefeed securities subject to
mandatory redemption), less identifiable intangible
assets and goodwill ¥ See “MDEA-—Liquidity, Funding
and Capital Resources—Balance Sheet and Financial
Leverage” for additional information about tangible equity
capital, We belicve total stockholders' equity plus junior
subordinated notes to be a mom meaningful measure
of our equity because the junior subordinated notes are
equity-like due to their, subordinated, long-term nature
and interest deferral features. In addition, a leading
rating agency views these securities as equity capital for
purposes of calculating net leverage. Further, we do not
view the amount of equity used to support identifiable
intangible assets and poodwill as available to support
our remaining net assets. Tangible equity capital as
presented is not necessarily comparable to simifady-titled
measures provided by other companies in the securities
industry because of ditferent methods of presentation.

[

Total long-term capital includes long-term borrowings
{exchuding any borrowings with remaining maturities
within one year of the financial statement date} and
fotal stockholders' equity and, at November 30, 2003
and prior year ends, preferred securities subject to
mandatory redemption. We believe total long-term
capital is useful to investors as a measure of our
financial strength.

™ Gommon share and per share amounts have been
retraspectively adjusted to give effect for the 2-for-1
common stock split, effected in the form of 2 100%
stock dividend, which became effective April 28, 2006.

® The book value per commen share calculation includes
amortized restricted stock units granted under
employee stock award programs, which have been
included in total stockholders’ equity.

™ Leverage ratio is defined as total assets divided by
total stockholders’ equity.

U0 Net leverage ratio is defined as net assels (see note 3
above) divided by tangible equity capital {see note 5
above). We believe net leverage is a more meaningful
measure of leverage to evaluate companies in the
securities industry. In addition, many of our creditors
and a leading rating agency use the same definitian
of net leverage. Net leverage as presented is not
necessarily comparable to similarly-titled measures
provided by other companies in the securities industry
because of ditferent methods of presentation.

% Return on average common stockholders’ equity is
computed by dividing net income applicable to common
stock for the perfod by average comman stockhotders’
equity. Average common stockholders' equity for the
years ended November 30, 2006, 2005, 2004, 2003
and 2002 was $16.9 billion, $14.7 billion, $12.8
billion, $9.1 billion, and $8.1 billion, respectively.

"3 Return an average tangible common steckholders’
equity is computed by dividing net income applicable
to common stock for the pesiod hy average tangible
common stockholders’ equity. Average tangibie
common stockholders' equity equals average total
commen stockholders’ equity less average identifiable
intangible assets and goodwill. Average identifiable
intangible assets and goodwill for the years ended
November 30, 2006, 2005, 2004, 2003, and 2002 was
$3.3 billion, $3.3 billion, $3.5 billion, $471 million
and $191 million, respectively. Management believes
tangible common stockhelders equity is @ meaningful
measure because it reflects the commen stockholders”
equity deployed in our businesses.

W Net assets:
November 30 {in millions} 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
Total assets $ 503,545 $ 410,063 $ 357,168 $ 312,061 $ 260,336
Cash and securities segregated and on deposid for regulatory ang other purposes (6,091) (5,744) {4,085 {3,100 (2,803)
Securities received a5 collateral {6,095} (4.975) {4,749 {3,406) (1,994}
Securities purchased under agreement to resell {117,490} {106,209) {95,535) {87,416} (94,341)
Securities borrowed (101,567 (78.455) {74.294) {51,396} (20497
Identifiable intangible assets and goodwall {3,362 {3,296) (3.284) {3.561) 213
Met assets $ 268,936 $ 11,424 § 175,221 $163,182 § 140,488

& Jangible equity capital:
November 30 (in millians) 2606 2005 2004 2603 2002
Total stockholders” equity $19,191 $16,794 $14,920 $13,174 $ 8942
Junior subordirated notes {subject to limitation) ® 2,738 2,026 1,000 1,068 710
Identifiable intangible assets and goodwill (3,362} (3,256) [3,284) (3,361 213}
Tangible equity capital $18,567 $15,564 $12,636 $10,681 $ 943

W Preferred securities subject to mandatory redemption at November 30, 2003 and 2002,
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OTHER STOCKHOLDER INFORMATION

COMMON STOCK

TICKER SYMBOL: LEH The common stock of Lehman
Brothers Holdings Inc., par value $0.10 per share, is listed on the New
York Stock Exchange. As of January 31, 2007, there were 526,088,102
shares of the Company’s common stock outstanding and approximately
22,580 holders of record. On January 31, 2007, the last reported sales
price of Lehman Brothers’ common stock was $82.24.

Lehman Brothers Holdings currently is authorized to issue up
to 1,200,000,000 shares of common stock. Each holder of common
stock is entitled to one vote per share for the election of directors
and all other matters to be voted on by stockholders. Holders of
common stock may not cumulate their votes in the election of
directors. They are entitled to share equally in the dividends that may
be declared by the Board of Directors, after payment of dividends on
preferred stock. Upon voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissols-
tion or winding up of the Company, holders of common stock will
share ratably in the assets remaining after payments to creditors and
provision for the preference of any preferred stock. There are no
preemptive or other subscription rights, “poison pills,” conversion
rights or redemption or scheduled installment payment provisions
relating to the Company's common stock.

PREFERRED STOCK

Lehman Brothers Holdings currently is authorized to issue up to
24,999,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $1.00 per share. Lehman
Brothers' Board of Directors may authorize the issuance of classes or
series of preferred stock from time to tme, each with the voting rights,
preferences and other special rights and qualifications, limitations or
restrictions specified by the Board. A series of preferred stock may rank
as senior, equal or subordinate to another series of preferred stock. Each
series of preferred stock will rank prior to the common stock as to
dividends and distributions of assets,

As of January 31, 2007, Lehman Brothers has issued and out-
standing 798,000 shares of preferred stock in four series (each repre-
sented by depositary shares) with differing rights and privileges. The
outstanding preferred stock does not have voting rights, except in
certain very limited circumstances involving the Company's failure to
pay dividends thereon and certain matters affecting the specific rights
of the preferred stockholders.

ANNUAL MEETING

Lehman Brothers’ annual meeting of stockholders will be held on
Thursday, April 12, 2007 at 10:30 a.m. at its global headquarters at 745
Seventh Avenue, New York, New York 10019 in the Allan S. Kaplan
Auditorium on the Concourse Level.

DIVIDENDS

Effective January 2007, Lechman Brothers' Board of Directors
increased the fiscal 2007 dividend rate to $0.60 per common share
from an annual dividend rate of $0.48 per share in fiscal 2006.
Dividends on the Company’s common stock are generally payable,
following declaration by the Board of Directors, in February, May,
August and November,
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REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER AGENT FOR COMMON STOCK

Questions  regarding  dividends, transfer requirements, lost
certificates, changes of address, direct deposit of dividends, the Direct
Purchase and Dividend Reinvestment Plan, or other inquiries should
be directed to:

The Bartk of New York Telephone: (800) 824-5707 (US)
Sharcholders Services Department {212) 815-3700 (non-US)
PO. Box 11258 E-mail: sharcowners@bankofny.com

Church Street Sation
New York, New York 10286-1258

DIRECT PURCHASE AND DIVIDEND REINVESTMENT PLAN

Lehman Brothers’ Direct Purchase and Dividend Reinvestment
Plan provides both existtng stockholders and first-time investors with
an alternative means of purchasing the Company’s stock. The plan has
no minimum stock ownership requirements for eligibility and enroll-
ment. Plan participants may reinvest all or a portion of cash dividends
and/or make optional cash purchases up to a maximum of $175,000 per
year without incurring commissions or service charges. Additional
information and enrollment forms can be obtained from the Company's
Transfer Agent listed above.

ANNUAL REPORT AND FORM 10-K .

Lehman Brothers wili make available upon request, without
charge, copies of this Annual Report and the 2006 Annual Report on
Form 10-K as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
Requests may be directed to:

Web site: http://wwnwistockbriy.com

Jeffrey A, Welikson, Corporate Secretary
Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc.

1301 Avenue of the Americas

New York, New York 10019

Telephone: (212) 526-0858

INDEPENDENT REGISTERED
PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
Ernst & Young LLP

5 Times Square

New York, New York 10036
Telephone: (212) 773-3000

WEB SITE ADDRESS

hetp:/ /wwwlehman.com

INVESTOR RELATIONS
(212) 526-3267

MEDIA RELATIONS
(212) 526-4382

PRICE RANGE OF COMMON STOCK

THREE MOKTHS

ENDED 2006 NOV. 30 AlE. 31 MAY 31 FEB. 28
High $78.89 $69.48 $78.85 $74.79
Low $63.04 $58.37 $62.82 $62.14
THREE MONTHS

ENDEB 2005 KOV, 30 AUg. 31 MAY 31 FEB. 29
High $66.58 $54.60 $48.47 $47.35
Low $51.86 $45.53 $42.96 $41.63
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Lehman Brothers continues to be committed to industry best
practices with respect to corporate governance. In April 2006, the
Company amended its certificate of incorporation to provide for the
annual election of all Directors commencing with the 2007 annual
meeting of stockholders; previously, the Company’s Board of Directors
was classified and Directors were divided into three classes, each serv-
ing a three-year term. In December 2006, the Company amended its
by-laws to adopt a majority vote standard in uncontested elections of
Directors, replacing the plurality vote standard.

The Company's Board of Directors currently consists of ten mem-
bers. The Board of Directors has determined that, with the exception
of Mr. Fuld, all of the Company’s directors are independent, and the
Audit, Nominating and Corporate Governance, Finance and Risk, and
Compensation and Benefits Committees are composed exclusively of
independent directors. The Audit Committee includes a financial
expert as defined in the SEC’s rules.

The Board of Directors holds regularly scheduled executive ses-
sions in which non-management directors meet independently of
management. The Board and the Audit, Nominating and Corporate
Governance, and Compensation and Benefits Comumittees each con-
duct a self-evaluation at least annually. :

The current committees of the Board of Directors and their
members are set forth on page 118. During fiscal 2006, the Board of
Directors held 8 meetings, the Audit Committee held 10 meetings, the
Compensation and Benefits Committee held 8 meetings, the Finance
and Risk Committee held 2 meetings and the Nominating and
Corporate Governance Committee held 6 meetings. Overall director
attendance at Board and committee meetings was 100%.

The Company has established an orientation program for new
directors to familiarize them with the Company’s operations, strategic
plans, Code of Ethics, management and independent registered public
accounting firm.

The Company's Corporate Governance Guidelines also contem-
plate continuing director education arranged by the Company.
Directors receive presentations from senior management on different
aspects of the Company's business and from Finance, Legal, Compliance,
Internal Audit, Risk Management and other disciplines at Beard meet-
ings throughout the year.

Descriptions of the director nomination process, the compensa-
tion received by directors for their service and certain transactions and
agreements between the Company and its directors may be found in
the Company’s 2007 Proxy Statement.

The Board of Directors recognizes that legal requirements and
governance practices will continue o ¢volve, and the Board will con-
tinue to reevaluate its practices in light of these changes.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE DOCUMENRTS AND WEB SITE

The corporate governance documents that have been adopted by
the Firm reflect the listing standards adopted by the New York Stock
Exchange, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and other legal and regulatory
requirements. The following documents can be found on the Corporate
Governance page of the Company’s Web site at wwwlehman.com/
shareholder/corpgov:

8 Corporate Governance Guidelines

8 Code of Ethics

& Audit Committee Charter

8 Compensation and Benefits Committee Charter

8 Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee Charter

COMMUNICATING WITH THE BOARD OF BIRECTORS

Information on how to contact the non-management members of
the Board of Directors, and how to contact the Audit Committee
regarding complaints about accounting, internal accounting controls or
auditing matters, can be found on the Corpotate Governance page of
the Company’s Web site at www tehman.com/shareholder/corpgov.

CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION AND BY-LAWS

Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc. is incorporated under the laws of the
State of Delaware. Copies of the Company’s certificate of incorporation
and by-laws are filed with the SEC as exhibits to the Companys 2006
Annual Report on Form 10-K. Sec “ Available Information” in the Form
10-K. An amendment to the certificate of incorporation requires a major-
ity vote of stockholders, voting together as a single class, unless the amend-
ment would affect certain rights of preferred stockholdets, in which case
the consent of two-thirds of such preferred stockholders is required. The
by-laws may be amended or repealed or new by-taws may be adopted by
a majority vote of stockholders or by a majority of the entire Board of
Directors then in office, provided that notice thereof is contained in the
notice of the meetng of stockholders or of the Board, as the case may be.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND COMMITTEES

The Company’s Board of Directors currently consists of ten direc-
tors, The number of directors is established from time to time by the
Board of Directors, although there must be at least six and not more
than twenty-four directors. In addition, under certain circumstances
involving Lehman Brothers' failure to pay dividends on preferred stock,
preferred stockholders may be entitled to elect additional directors.

Directors (other than any that may be elected by preferred stock-
holders as described above) are elected by a majority of the votes cast
by the holders of the Company’s common stock represented in person
or by proxy at the Annual Meeting, except in the event of a contested
election in which a plurality vote standard is retained. A director may
be removed by a majority vote of stockholders. Directors are elected
annually for 2 one-year term expiring at the annual meeting of stock-
holders in the following year.

Vacancies in the Board of Directors and newly created directorships
resulting from an increase in the size of the Board may be filled by a
majority of the remaining directors, although less than a quorum, or by a
sole remaining directot, and the directors so elected will hold office until
the next annual election. No decrease in the number of directors const-
tuting the Board will shorten the term of any incumbent director.

A majority of the entire Board, or of any committee, is necessary
to constitute 2 quorum for the transaction of business, and the vote of
a majority of the directors present at a meeting at which a quorum is
present constitutes the act of the Board or committee. Actions may be
taken without a meeting if all members of the Board or of the commit-
tee consent in writing.

CEQ AND CFO CERTIFIGATIONS

The Company has filed with the SEC as exhibits to its 2006
Annual Report on Form 10-K the certifications of the Company’s
Chief Executive Officer and its Chief Financial Officer required under
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and SEC Rules 13a-14(a) and
15d-14(a) regarding the Company’s financial statements, disclosure
controls and procedures and other matters. In addition, following its
2006 annual meeting of stockholders, the Company submitted to the
NYSE the annual certification of the Company’s Chief Executive
Officer required under Section 303A.12(2) of the NYSE Listed
Company Manual, that he was not aware of any violation by the
Company of the NYSE’s corporate governance listing standards.
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BOARD OF BIRECTORS

Richard S. Fuld, Jr.
Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer
Committees: Executive
(Chairman)

Director since 1930

Michael L. Ainslie
Private Investor and
Former President and
Chief Executive Officer
of Sotheby’s Holdings
Committees: Audit
Director since 1996

John E Akers
Retired Chairman of
International Business
Machines Corporation
Committees: Compensation
and Benefits (Chairman);
Finance and Risk
Director since 1996

Roger S. Berlind
Theatrical Producer
Committees: Audit;
Finance and Risk
Director since 1985

Thomas H. Cruikshank
Retired Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer
of Halliburton Company
Committees: Audic
{Chairman); Nominating
and Corporate Governance
Director since 1996

Marsha Johnson Evans
Reear Admiral,
U.S. Navy (Retired)
Committees: Compensation
and Benefits; Finance and
Risk; Nominating and
Corporate Governance
{Chairmany)
Director since 2004

Sir Christopher Gent
Non-Executive Chairman
of GlaxoSmithKline ple
Committees: Audit;
Compensation and Benefits
Director since 2003
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" Roland A. Hernandez
Retired Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer
of Telemundo Group, Inc.
Committees: Finance
and Risk
Director since 2005

Dr. Henry Kaufiman
President of Henry
Kaufman & Company, Inc.
Committees: Finance
and Risk (Chairman)
Director since 1995

John D. Macomber
Principal of JDM
Investment Group
Committees: Compensation
and Benefits; Executive;
Nominating and
Corporate Governance
Director since 1994

SENIOR MANABEMENT

Richard S. Fuld, Jr.
Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer

Jasjit S. Bhattal
Chief Executive Officer,
Asia

Scott ]. Freidheim
Co-Chief Administrative
Officer

Michael Gelband
Global Head of Capital
Markets/Fixed Income

Dave Goldfarb
Global Head of Strategic
Partnerships, Principal
Investing and Risk

Joseph M. Gregory
President and Chief
Operating Officer

Jeremy M. Isaacs
Chief Executive Officer,
Europe & Asia

Theodore P. Janulis
Global Head of Mortgage
Capital

Stephen M. Lessing
Head of Client
Relationship Management

Ian T. Lowitt
Co-Chief Administrative
Officer

Herbert H. McDade I
Global Head of Capital
Markets/Equities

Hugh E. McGee III
Global Head of Investment
Banking

Roger B. Nagioff
Chief Operating Officer,
Europe

Christopher M. O’Meara
Chief Financial Officer

Thomas A. Russo
Vice Chairman
Lehman Brothers Inc. and
Chief Legal Officer

George H. Walker
Global Head of
Investment Management

OTHER OFFICERS

Barbara M. Byrne
Vice Chairman
Lehman Brothers Inc.

Francesco Caio
Vice Chairman
Lehman Brothers Inc.

Howard L. Clark, Jr.
Vice Chairman and
Member of Board
of Directors
Lehman Brothers Inc.

Leslie J. Fabuss
Vice Chairman
Lehman Brothers Inc.

J. Stuart Francis
Vice Chairman
Lehman Brothers Inc.

Frederick Frank
Vice Chairman and
Member of Board
of Directors
Lehman Brothers Inc.

Joseph D. Gatto
Vice Chairman

Lehman Brothers Inc.

Jeffrey B. Lane
Vice Chairman
Lehman Brothers Inc.

Office of the Chairman

Ruggero F Magnoni
Vice Chairman
Lehman Brothers Inc.
and Lehman Brothers
International (Europe)

Vittorio Pignatti Morano
Vice Chairman
Lehman Brothers [nc.

Grant A. Porter
Vice Chairman
Lehman Brothers Inc.

Robert D. Redmond
Vice Chairman
Lehman Brothers Inc.

Marvin C. Schwartz
Vice Chairman

Lehman Brothers Inc.

Andrew R. Taussig
Vice Chairman
Lehman Brothers Inc.
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